

Benjun Ji

Molecular determinants of excitability of hindlimb motoneurons after complete spinal cord transection and BDNF overexpression

PhD thesis Completed in the Group of Restorative Neurobiology Nencki Institute of Experimental Biology Polish Academy of Sciences

SUPERVISOR: Prof. dr hab. Małgorzata Skup

Warsaw, 2022

Acknowledgements:

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my supervisor of the doctoral dissertation - Professor Małgorzata Skup. I am very grateful to Professor Małgorzata Skup for giving me the opportunity to work in Poland. Professor Małgorzata Skup is so kind and provide me with great supports on my research work and my daily life, therefore, my doctoral dissertation would not have been created without the support of her. In past years, Professor Małgorzata Skup showed great patience and commitment on my research work, and encouraged me to explore more, work better, expand my knowledge and apply various research techniques, which significantly strengthens my scientific career.

I would also like to express my sincere thanks to Professor Julita Czarkowska-Bauch, who helped me expand my knowledge in the electrophysiological field and taught me how to carry out animal locomotion analysis. Professor Julita Czarkowska-Bauch always provided comprehensive guide and experimental assistance.

I would also like to thank:

Dr. Olga Gajewska-Woźniak, Dr. Kamil Grycz and M.Sc. Anna Głowacka, who are my colleagues and also my closest friends, for teaching me various research techniques and supporting me greatly during my living in Poland;

Prof. Wojciech Kozłowski and Dr. Szczepan Cierniak at the Military Medical Institute, Warsaw, for providing me the opportunity and assistance to use Leica Laser Microdissection System;

Natalia Nowak, Małgorzata Całka-Kresa and Artur Wolny, employees of the Confocal Microscopy Laboratory at the Nencki Institute, for substantive and technical assistance in microscopic imaging;

Dr. Bartosz Wojtaś, at the Sequencing Core Facility at the Nencki Institute, for the correlation analysis of qPCR results.

Financing:

The research work presented in the dissertation was co-financed by the funds of the following research

projects:

- 1. Bio4Med Research Projects, funded by European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie COFUND grant agreement No 665735 (Principal Investigator).
- 2. PRELUDIUM grant No 2018/31/N/NZ4/02773. National Science Center, Poland (Principal Investigator).
- 3. OPUS grant No UMO-2013/09/B/NZ4/03306. National Science Center, Poland (Investigator).
- 4. OPUS grant No UMO-2018/09/B/NZ4/02789. National Science Center, Poland (Investigator).
- 5. Funds allocated to the implementation of statutory tasks of the Nencki Institute (Theme 400.1).



Some results included in the PhD dissertation were published in the following articles:

- 1. Wieckowska, A., Gajewska-Woźniak, O., Głowacka, A., Ji, B., Grycz, K., Czarkowska-Bauch, J. and Skup, M. (2018). Spinalization and locomotor training differentially affect muscarinic acetylcholine receptor type 2 abutting on α -motoneurons innervating the ankle extensor and flexor muscles. J. Neurochem., 147: 361-379. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.14567
- Grycz K.*, Głowacka A.*, Ji B.*, Czarkowska-Bauch J., Gajewska-Woźniak O. and Skup M. 2. (2019). Early pre- and postsynaptic decrease in glutamatergic and cholinergic signaling after spinalization is not modified when stimulating proprioceptive input to the ankle extensor α motoneurons: anatomical and neurochemical study. PLOS ONE 14(9): e0222849. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222849
- 3. Grycz K., Głowacka A.*, Ji B.*, Krzywdzińska K., Charzyńska A., Czarkowska-Bauch J., Gajewska-Woźniak O. and Skup M. (2022). Regulation of perineuronal net components in the synaptic bouton vicinity on lumbar α -motoneurons in the rat after spinalization and locomotor training: New insights from spatio-temporal changes in gene, protein expression and WFA labeling. Exp. Neurol. 354, 114098, ISSN 0014-4886, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol. 2022.114098

^{*} these authors equally contributed to the work

Contents

1. Abstract	7
Streszczenie	9
2. List of abbreviations	11
3. Introduction	13
3.1. Spinal cord injury	13
3.2. Alterations of Motoneuron Excitability by Spinal Cord Injury	16
3.2.1. Functions of MNs during motor activity	16
3.2.2 Modulation of the excitability of MNs after SCI	17
3.2.2.1. Excitatory glutamatergic signaling	20
3.2.2.1.1. AMPAR and NMDAR Properties and Function	22
3.2.2.1.2. The roles of AMPAR and NMDAR in SCI	24
3.2.2.2. Inhibitory glycinergic and GABAergic signaling	27
3.2.2.3. Neuromodulatory signaling	
3.2.2.3.1. Serotonergic signaling	29
3.2.2.3.2. Noradrenergic signaling	31
3.2.2.3.3. Dopaminergic signaling	32
3.2.2.3.4. Cholinergic signaling	34
3.3. Treatment of spinal cord injury	35
3.3.1. Locomotor training	
3.3.2. Electrical stimulation	
3.3.3. Pharmacological, cell- and biomolecule-based therapies	
3.4. Does BDNF Treatment Modulate Excitability of Spinal Cord Motoneuron?	40
3.4.1. BDNF properties	40
3.4.2. BDNF in the treatment of SCI	41
3.4.3. BDNF regulates MN excitability in the locomotion recovery after SCI	43
4. Assumptions and Aims of the thesis	45
5. Materials and Methods	46
5.1. Basic Materials, Experimental Apparatus, Animals	46
5.2. Methods	49
5.2.1. Retrograde tracing of motoneurons	49
5.2.2. Spinal cord transection	50
5.2.3. AAV-BDNF and PBS intraspinal injections	51
5.2.4. Evaluation of treadmill locomotion by the use of the modified BBB scale	52

5.2.5. Tissue preparation and Laser Microdissection (LMD)	53
5.2.6. RNA isolation from microdissected MNs and qPCR	55
5.2.7. Immunofluorescence	58
5.2.8. Subcellular fractionation and Western Blot	61
5.2.9. Statistical analysis	65
6. Results	66
6.1. Molecular identification of pro-excitogenic receptor and channel phenotypes in the lumbar MN in after SCT ϵ	Ns 66
6.1.1. SCT at low thoracic level does not cause degeneration of MNs at lumbar 3-6 segments 6	66
6.1.2. Transcription rate of receptor and ion channel subunits in GL and TA MNs of the intact ra	ıts 67
6.1.3. SCT differentially alters transcript level of subunits of glutamatergic AMPA, NMDA ar mGluRs receptors	nd 68
6.1.4. SCT downregulates transcript level of GABAergic and Gly receptor subunits and of KC transporters similarly in GL and TA MNs	С 70
6.1.5. SCT downregulates transcript level of Nav1.6, KCa1.1(BK), and SK2 channels similarly GL and TA MNs	in 72
6.1.6. SCT alters transcript levels of 5-HT receptors but not NA receptors	73
6.1.7. Correlation analyses of gene expression in GL and TA MNs after SCT	74
6.2. Overexpression of BDNF leads to locomotor recovery and pro-excitogenic phenotype in the lumbar MNs after SCT	he 77
6.2.1 Evaluation of treadmill locomotion of PBS-treated and BDNF-treated rats with mBBB sca	ıle 77
6.2.2 Molecular identification of changes in MN neurotransmitter receptor and channel phenotype after AAV-BDNF treatment	es 82
6.2.2.1. PBS or BDNF intraspinal injection to SCT rats did not alter morphology of MNs lumbar 3-6 segments	in 82
6.2.2.2. AAV-BDNF intraspinal injection to SCT rats causes BDNF overexpression in GL ar TA MNs	nd 83
6.2.2.3. BDNF overexpression modulates gene expression of molecules of pro-excitogen potential in GL and TA MNs	nic 84
6.2.2.4. Correlation analyses of gene expression in GL and TA MNs after SCT and AAV-BDN treatment	√F 87
6.2.2.5. BDNF overexpression effects on the molecular changes in the whole lumbar segmen after SCT	nts 89
7. Discussion	92

7.1. SCT tends to increase the excitability of MNs innervating ankle extensor GL and flexor TA

muscles
7.1.1. Functional implications of early changes in gene expression of glutamatergic receptors after SCT
7.1.2 Functional implications of downregulation of gene expression of GABAergic and glycinergic receptors, KCC2 and ion channels after SCT
7.1.3. SCT affects gene expression of ion channels and modulatory receptors
7.2. Overexpression of BDNF leads to locomotor recovery and promotes pro-excitogenic phenotype of lumbar MNs after SCT
7.2.1. BDNF and glutamatergic signaling
7.2.2. Multitarget impact of BDNF on inhibitory signaling: GABAergic/glycinergic receptors 99
7.2.3. Selectivity of BDNF- upregulating effects on monoaminergic receptors: 5-HT2ARs 102
7.2.4. How does BDNF overexpression change the protein level of the receptors? 103
8. Summary and Conclusions
9. References

1. Abstract

Spinal cord injury (SCI) causes severe neuronal impairment, resulting in a loss of muscle function and sensation below the injury site. In consequence, the most profound symptom of patients with SCI is the loss of motor ability leading to paraplegia or tetraplegia, depending on the level of injury. Due to the loss of descending supraspinal pathways and to segmental changes in local circuits, the excitability of α -motoneurons (MNs), which is an intrinsic ability of neurons to generate action potentials determined by function and abundance of neurotransmitter receptors and ion channels, is altered. This alteration significantly contributes to the pathology of SCI and the recovery of impaired locomotion. MNs undergo a transition from hypoexcitability during spinal shock at the acute phase to hyperexcitability in the chronic phase of SCI. The hyperexcitability of MNs is considered to be the main reason of a development of muscle spasticity, a common complication of SCI. Understanding of its molecular background might create a possibility of modulation of MN intrinsic excitability which is key to recovery.

Studies using SCI models have investigated the molecular changes in neurotransmission-related molecules in MNs mostly at the late postlesion phase, when hyperexcitability is well established. In experimental SCI in rodents the onset of spasticity can be seen as early as one-week postinjury. However, the pattern and relation of expression level of genes coding for membrane proteins instrumental for excitatory vs inhibitory neurotransmission in the subacute phase of SCI when excitability starts to restore, is not clear.

The first aim of my work was to clarify the direction and extent of transcriptional regulation of receptors mediating excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission and of functionally associated membrane channels in hindlimb MNs of adult rats, at the second week postinjury, when excitability restores. I hypothesized that after the acute phase, fast molecular changes of lumbar MNs develop in response to the loss of inputs. These responses may disturb the balance of excitatory and inhibitory receptors and related ion channels in MNs. Since the activity of MNs innervating the ankle extensor and flexor muscles is differently affected by SCT, I examined separately gene expression in pools of MNs innervating ankle extensor (Gastrocnemius lateralis; GL) and flexor (Tibialis anterior; TA) muscles.

A promising way to treat SCI is through enrichment of the injured spinal cord with brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Our previous study showed that BDNF overexpression induced with AAV-BDNF injection caudal to the lesion site improves locomotor abilities, accompanied by upregulation of transcript levels of glutamatergic and GABAergic markers in the interneurons, presynaptic to MNs. While the study demonstrated beneficial role of BDNF in adapting the spinal network to increased activity, undesirable behavioral effects suggesting overexcitability were observed in time. That observation set my second aim, to characterize the effect of spinal AAV-BDNF administration on gene expression of selected proteins studied in the first part of my project, and identify target molecules of pro-excitogenic potential. Limited number of animal studies reported that increased BDNF/TrkB signaling can modulate the excitability of MNs by altering the expression of glutamatergic AMPA and NMDA receptors and of KCC2 chloride ions extruder, responsible for maintaining an inwardly directed driving force for chloride ions, which is a prerequisite for hyperpolarizing GABA-mediated inhibitory neurotransmission. However, a more comprehensive view on the pattern of molecular changes in MNs after BDNF treatment is lacking.

Prior to complete spinal cord transection (SCT) performed at the thoracic Th11 level, fluorescence retrograde tracers were injected to the respective muscles to identify MNs. After SCT, PBS or AAV-BDNF was injected bilaterally to the lumbar L1/2 segment. Non-lesioned rats with injected tracers

served as controls. At two weeks postlesion, locomotor performance of spinal rats was evaluated on a running treadmill. After animal perfusion, GL and TA MNs were isolated from longitudinal spinal sections by laser-assisted microdissection, mRNA was isolated and reverse-transcribed into cDNA. Transcript levels of selected neurotransmitter receptors, ion channels and Cl⁻ transporters were assayed using quantitative PCR. Immunohistochemical localization and identification of selected receptors was carried out.

BDNF treatment significantly improved locomotor performance of spinal rats on a running treadmill, increasing the mean mBBB score from 0.36 in SCT-PBS rats to 12.19 in SCT-BDNF rats. Quantitative analysis of mRNA levels carried out at 13 days in SCT-PBS group and at peak of locomotor performance in SCT-BDNF group (13-16 days postlesion) revealed that SCT alone increased levels of mRNA coding for AMPAR GluA1 and mGluRs subunits, and down-regulated mRNA coding for GABAAR, GlyR subunits, KCC2, NMDAR, Nav1.6, KCa1.1 and SK2. The level of transcripts of 5-HT_{2B} receptors which become constitutively active after injury and contribute to recovery of MN function and emergence of spasms was markedly up-regulated. BDNF overexpression: (1) tended to rebalance AMPAR and NMDAR subunit mRNA levels, with a trend to decrease AMPAR and increase NMDAR, and (2) further reduced mRNA levels of GABAAR and GlyR subunits. BDNF overexpression also caused a profound increase of mRNA level of 5-HT_{2A} receptors, which augment glutamatergic signaling, acting on timing and amplitude of muscle activity. This set of results suggest that BDNF effects on receptor expression promote pro-excitatory phenotype in MNs, which develops after SCT. Moreover, the degree of downregulation of KCC2 expression postinjury, which was maintained after BDNF treatment, lets infer on a concomitant accumulation of Cl⁻ inside MNs, rendering GABA aberrantly "exciting" which would result in decreased GABAergic inhibition.

In conclusion, the experiments led to identification of prominent down-regulation of transcripts coding for molecules controlling inhibition, and of up-regulation of 5HT receptors controlling muscle activity. Correlation analysis of gene expression data revealed profound changes in their patterns, which suggests that in MNs a large set of genes coding for neurotransmission-related membrane proteins undergoes differential regulation postlesion. My results provide new insight into the mechanisms of MN excitability developing in the subacute phase after SCT and demonstrate that both MN groups similarly adapt to a more excitable state, which may increase the occurrence of extensor and flexor spasms already at this stage. The reliable reconstruction of the net effects of BDNF on the excitatory state of MNs requires further studies.

Streszczenie

Uraz rdzenia kręgowego powoduje uszkodzenia dróg nerwowych i dysfunkcję neuronów, prowadząc do osłabienia czynności mięśni i czucia poniżej miejsca urazu. Najpoważniejszym objawem u pacjentów po urazie rdzenia jest utrata zdolności motorycznych, prowadząca do paraliżu kończyn. Ze względu na odcięcie wpływów ze zstępujących szlaków nadrdzeniowych i na segmentalne zmiany w lokalnych obwodach neuronalnych, zmienia się pobudliwość α-motoneuronów (MN). Pobudliwość, która jest zdolnością neuronów do generowania potencjałów czynnościowych, zależy od funkcji i gęstości występowania receptorów neuroprzekaźników oraz kanałów i transporterów jonowych w błonie komórki. Jej zmiana znacząco wpływa na przewodzenie i przywracanie funkcji ruchowych. MN przechodzą w stan obniżonej pobudliwości w ostrej fazie po uszkodzeniu, podczas wstrząsu rdzeniowego, po którym rozwija się nadpobudliwość. Za główną przyczynę rozwoju spastyczności mięśni, która jest częstym powikłaniem SCI, uważa się nadpobudliwość MN w obwodzie neuronalnym odruchu na rozciąganie mięśnia. Zrozumienie podłoża molekularnego spastyczności może pomóc w planowaniu terapii uszkodzeń rdzenia.

W badaniach z wykorzystaniem modeli zwierzęcych opisano zmiany molekularne w MN związane z neuroprzekaźnictwem. Dostępne dane pochodza z badań późnej fazy po uszkodzeniu, kiedy nadpobudliwość MN jest dobrze ugruntowana. Jednak w doświadczalnym uszkodzeniu rdzenia kręgowego u gryzoni początek spastyczności tylnych kończyn można zaobserwować już po tygodniu od urazu. Zmiany i wzór ekspresji genów kodujacych białka błonowe, które odgrywaja role w neuroprzekaźnictwie w podostrej fazie SCI w której powraca pobudliwość MN, nie sa jasne. Pierwszym celem mojej pracy stało się więc wyjaśnienie kierunku i zakresu zmian poziomu transkryptów receptorów pośredniczących w neuroprzekaźnictwie pobudzającym i hamującym oraz funkcjonalnie powiązanych kanałów i transporterów błonowych w MN unerwiających mięśnie stawu skokowego dorosłych szczurów. Zmiany badałem w drugim tygodniu po całkowitym przecięciu rdzenia kręgowego (SCT). Postawiłem hipoteze, że w podostrej fazie w MN rozwijaja się szybkie odpowiedzi molekularne na skutek osłabienia dopływu bodźców, związanego z utratą części połączeń nerwowych. Odpowiedzi te mogą zaburzać dynamiczną równowagę pomiędzy receptorami pobudzającymi i hamującymi oraz powiązanymi kanałami jonowymi. Ponieważ aktywność MN unerwiających mieśnie prostowniki i zginacze stawu skokowego zostaje w różnym stopniu zmieniona po SCT, zbadałem ekspresję genów oddzielnie w wyizolowanych grupach MN unerwiających prostownik (Gastrocnemius lateralis; GL; boczna głowa mięśnia brzuchatego łydki) i zginacz (Tibialis Anterior; TA; mięsień piszczelowy przedni) tego stawu.

Drugi cel mojej pracy wynikał z obserwacji, że obiecującym sposobem leczenia uszkodzeń i modulowania pobudliwości MN zmienionej po urazie jest wzbogacenie uszkodzonego rdzenia kręgowego w czynnik neurotroficzny pochodzenia mózgowego (BDNF). Nasze poprzednie badanie wykazało, że nadekspresja BDNF w segmentach położonych doogonowo od miejsca uszkodzenia poprawia zdolności lokomocyjne, czemu towarzyszy wyraźna regulacja w górę (up-regulation) poziomu transkryptów markerów glutaminianergicznych i GABAergicznych w interneuronach rdzenia, presynaptycznych względem MN. Podczas gdy badanie wykazało korzystną rolę BDNF w zwiększeniu aktywności sieci rdzeniowej, z czasem zaobserwowano niepożądane efekty behawioralne, sugerujące nadpobudliwość. Dlatego za cel moich badań obrałem scharakteryzowanie wpływu dordzeniowego podania AAV-BDNF na ekspresję wybranych genów, zbadanych w pierwszej części pracy oraz zidentyfikowanie cząsteczek o potencjale pobudzającym, które ulegają znaczącym zmianom. Wiadomo, że zwiększona sygnalizacja BDNF/TrkB może modulować pobudliwość MN poprzez zmianę ekspresji

receptorów glutaminianu typu NMDA i AMPA oraz transportera jonów chlorkowych KCC2. Ten transporter odpowiada za utrzymywanie skierowanej do wewnątrz "siły napędowej" dla jonów chlorkowych, co jest warunkiem hiperpolaryzacji i hamowania aktywności komórek za pośrednictwem GABA. Brakuje jednak bardziej kompleksowego obrazu wzorca zmian molekularnych w MN po uszkodzeniu rdzenia kręgowego i wywołaniu nadekspresji BDNF.

Przed wykonaniem SCT na poziomie segmentów piersiowych Th11/12, które prowadzi do porażenia kończyn dolnych, wstrzykiwano do odpowiednich mięśni znaczniki fluorescencyjne, umożliwiające identyfikację MN GL i TA. Po SCT podawano do odcinka lędźwiowego L1/2 obustronnie PBS (operowana grupa kontrolna SCT-PBS) lub AAV-BDNF (grupa SCT-BDNF). Szczury z wstrzykniętymi znacznikami ale bez uszkodzeń służyły jako kontrole. Po dwóch tygodniach od uszkodzenia oceniano sprawność lokomotoryczną zwierząt na ruchomej bieżni. Po sperfundowaniu zwierząt i wypreparowaniu MN GL i TA metodą mikrodysekcji laserowej, izolowano mRNA i przeprowadzano odwrotną transkrypcję do cDNA. Z użyciem ilościowej metody qPCR mierzono poziomy transkryptów wybranych receptorów neuroprzekaźników, kanałów jonowych oraz transporterów jonów chlorkowych. Przeprowadzono lokalizację immunohistochemiczną i identyfikację wybranych receptorów.

Wzbogacenie rdzenia kręgowego w BDNF znacząco poprawiło sprawność ruchową szczurów, zwiększając średni wynik oceniany w skali mBBB z 0,36 w grupie SCT-PBS do 12,19 u szczurów SCT-BDNF. Ilościowa analiza poziomu transkryptów, przeprowadzona grupie SCT-PBS po 13 dniach od uszkodzenia, wykazała wielokrotny wzrost ekspresji mRNA podjednostek AMPAR GluA1 i mGluRs oraz spadek poziomu mRNA GABAAR, GlyR, KCC2, ale też NMDAR, Nav1.6, KCa1.1 i SK2. Poziom transkryptów receptorów 5-HT_{2B}, których konstytutywną aktywność po urazie wiązaną z rozwojem spastyczności opisano w literaturze, uległ znacznemu podwyższeniu po SCT. Nadekspresja BDNF, badana w punkcie czasowym, w którym sprawność szczurów SCT-BDNF osiągnęła maksimum (13-16 dni po uszkodzeniu), spowodowała (1) tendencję do przywracania równowagi poziomów mRNA podjednostek AMPAR i NMDAR oraz (2) dalsze zmniejszenie poziomu ekspresji mRNA podjednostek GABAAR i GlyR. Wykryto również znaczny wzrost poziomu mRNA receptora 5-HT_{2A}, który wzmacnia sygnalizację pobudzającą MN, wpływając na czas i amplitudę aktywności mięśni. Ten zbiór wyników sugeruje, że wpływ BDNF na ekspresję receptorów promuje fenotyp pro-pobudzeniowy w MN, który rozwija się po SCT. Co więcej, stopień osłabienia ekspresji KCC2 po urazie, który utrzymywał się po podaniu AAV-BDNF, pozwala wnioskować o współzachodzącej akumulacji jonów chlorkowych w MN. Ten stan może odwrócić skutek lokalnego działania GABA na receptory z hamującego na pobudzający, co prowadzi do zmniejszenia hamowania neuronów.

Wyniki doświadczeń przedstawione w niniejszej dysertacji doprowadziły do zidentyfikowania: (1) spadku poziomu transkryptów kodujących białka kontrolujące hamowanie MN oraz (2) zwiększenia ekspresji receptorów 5HT kontrolujących aktywność mięśni. Analiza korelacyjna danych ujawniła głębokie zmiany we wzorcach ekspresji genów, co sugeruje, że w MN duży zestaw genów kodujących białka błonowe związane z neuroprzekaźnictwem podlega zróżnicowanej regulacji już w drugim tygodniu po uszkodzeniu. Uzyskane wyniki dostarczają wglądu w mechanizmy pobudliwości MN rozwijające się w fazie podostrej poniżej miejsca uszkodzenia. Wskazują, że w obu grupach MN dochodzi do zbliżonych zmian w kierunku stanu bardziej pobudliwego, co może zwiększać występowanie skurczów prostowników i zginaczy już we wczesnej fazie po urazie rdzenia. Pełne zrekonstruowanie wpływu BDNF na stan pobudzenia MN po urazach rdzenia kręgowego wymaga dalszych badań.

2. List of abbreviations

5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine
5-HTRs	5-HT receptors
AADC	aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase
AAV	adeno-associated virus
ACh	acetylcholine
AChE	acetylcholinesterase
AMPAR	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor
APs	action potentials
ARs	adrenergic receptors
BDNF	brain derived neurotrophic factor
BSA	bovine serum albumin
C boutons	large cholinergic synaptic terminals apposing a-motoneurons
cAMP	cyclic adenosine mononhosphate
cDNA	complementary DNA
ChAT	choline acetyltransferase
Chrm?	muscarinic recentor gene
CNS	central nervous system
CDCa	contral nettorn generators
	denomine
	aopanine ethelene dieminetetres setie seid
EDIA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGFP	enhanced green fluorescent protein
ELISA	enzyme linked-immunosorbent assay
EMG	electromyography
EPSPs	excitatory postsynaptic potentials
ES	electrical stimulation
FB	fast blue retrograde tracer
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GABA _A Rs	γ-aminobutyric acid type A receptors
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde 3–phosphate dehydrogenase
GL	gastrocnemius lateralis muscle
GLT-1	glutamate transporter 1
Glu	glutamic acid; here used to abbreviate glutamate
GlyRs	glycine receptors
IF	immunofluorescence
iGluRs	ionotropic glutamate receptors
IPSPs	inhibitory postsynaptic potentials
KCC2	K-Cl co-transporter
LMD	laser microdissection
LTD	long-term depression
LTP	long-term potentiation
M2	muscarinic receptor subtype 2
mAChR	muscarinic acetylcholine receptor
mAHP	medium afterhyperpolarization
mBBB	modified Basso-Beattie-Bresnahan scale
mGluR	metabotronic glutamate recentor
MN	motoneuron
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NΔ	noradrenaline
nAChR	nicotinic acetylcholine recentor
	N methyl D accortate recentor
	nombate buffered caling
100	phosphate-bulleted same

PBST	phosphate-buffered saline + 0.1% Triton
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PICs	persistent inward currents
RT	room temperature
RT-qPCR	real-time quantitative PCR
SCI	spinal cord injury
SCT	spinal cord transection*
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SD	standard deviation
SEM	standard error of the mean
Sol	soleus muscle
SP	spinal rats
TA	tibialis anterior muscle
Th	thoracic
TH	tyrosine hydroxylase
TrkB	tropomyosin-related kinase B receptor
VAChT	vesicular acetylcholine transporter
VGLUT1	vesicular glutamate transporter 1
VGLUT2	vesicular glutamate transporter 2

*here used to abbreviate "complete spinal cord transection" term

3. Introduction

3.1. Spinal cord injury

According to WHO International Perspectives on spinal cord injury, between 250 000 and 500 000 people suffer a spinal cord injury (SCI) every year around the world. Among the SCI cases, up to 90% of SCI are traumatic, caused by a sudden, traumatic impact on the spine that dislocates, fractures, crushes or compresses one or more vertebrae (Ahuja et al., 2017; Alizadeh et al., 2019). As shown in **Figure 3.1**, traumatic SCI primarily results from motor vehicle accidents (38%), slips or falls (30.5%), violence (13.5%), sports related injuries (9%) and medical or surgical injuries (5%) (National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, 2016). Pathologically, traumatic SCI causes a severe temporary or permanent neuronal dysfunction including sensory loss and motor paralysis below the level of the injury, dysfunctions of autonomic nervous system, chronic pain and spasticity (Hubli et al., 2011; Binder, 2013). People with spinal cord injury are two to five times more likely to die prematurely.



30.50%

Figure 3.1. Causes of Traumatic Spinal Cord Injury. Image has been modified from (National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center, 2016) (http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10790268.2016.1210925).

Othe

Based on the pathophysiological outcomes, traumatic SCI can be divided into primary and secondary injuries. The primary injury is caused by the initial mechanical fracture and dislocation of vertebrae, and is followed by the secondary injury inducing continuous cellular and molecular damage to the spinal cord, which includes vascular damage, cavitation, ionic imbalance, excitotoxicity, calcium influx, inflammation, and may lead to cell death (Ahuja et al., 2017; Alizadeh et al., 2019). Necrosis is the prominent cell death mechanism in the cavity of the lesion and is almost immediately initiated following injury. Apoptosis, the most extensively studied mechanism of cell death after SCI, is a time-limited mechanism which expands from the epicenter of the injury site to distal regions as far as 8 mm

along the spinal cord in rats (Hassannejad et al., 2018) (**Figure 3.2**). It initiates at about one hour postinjury up to two weeks, with apoptotic cell deaths of neurons and oligodendroglial cells reported in decreasing numbers as late as 3 weeks after SCI in animals (Hassannejad et al., 2018) and, similarly, in humans (Emery et al., 1998).



Figure 3.2. Spatio-temporal course of apoptosis after SCI in rats. Apoptosis expands from the epicenter of the injury site to distal regions as far as 8 mm along spinal cord initiating about one hour postinjury and occurring up to two weeks. There are two peaks of apoptosis during this process: the first one is at 4-8 hours postinjury at the lesion epicenter; the second one is at 3 days postinjury about 7-8 mm caudal and rostral to the lesion epicenter (Hassannejad et al., 2018). Schematic is modified from Hassannejad et al., 2018.

To study SCI, a series of experimental models using distinct species have been developed (reviewed in (Ahuja et al., 2017; Sharif-Alhoseini et al., 2017; Minakov et al., 2018)). Depending on the severity of SCI, they can be clearly classified as models of complete and incomplete injury (Kirshblum et al., 2011) (**Figure 3.3**). Obviously, the major difference between the two types of SCI is the degree of the disconnection of spinal cord neuronal network in segments located below the injury site from the supraspinal centers. In physiological conditions, the cerebral command systems, consisting of forebrain motor cortex, basal ganglia, midbrain and brainstem, control the muscle contraction and body movements through the descending tracts to the spinal cord and receive the sensory feedback through ascending tracts from the spinal cord to the brain (Jordan and Sławińska, 2014; Grillner and El Manira, 2020). After incomplete SCI, only part of the descending and ascending tracts in the region of injury is destroyed. Therefore, some neuronal signals can be conveyed by the preserved pathways to the areas caudal to the injury site enabling impaired regulation of the sensory and motor processing, and providing

the possibility of faster and more remarkable degree of recovery compared to complete SCI (Raineteau and Schwab, 2001). In contrast, complete SCI causes a total loss of sensation and muscle function



Figure 3.3. Incomplete and complete SCI. Under physiological conditions, the supraspinal systems (motor cortex, basal ganglia, midbrain and brain stem) control body movements including locomotion through the descending tracts to the spinal cord, and ascending tracts from the spinal cord to the brain. Intrinsic neural circuits of the spinal cord can function independently without influences from higher motor centers and allow for the alternating and rhythmic locomotor movements. Activated motoneurons (MNs) (green: flexor MNs; red: extensor MNs) are responsible for contraction of the effector muscles in the periphery; they transmit signals to neuromuscular junctions where stimulation of respective, functionally different muscles to contract occurs. Sensory signals from the muscle are transmitted to the spinal cord by sensory nerve fibers (in violet). The signals transmitted to MNs reach them directly or through interneurons. MNs execute locomotion by contracting flexor (in light red) and extensor (in dark red) muscles. Incomplete SCI destroys part of these tracts; some signals are still able to reach areas caudal to the injury. Complete SCI causes a total loss of sensation and muscle function because no transmission from the higher locomotor centers occurs. Despite that, the intraspinal neural circuits remain intact and maintain some potential to activate MNs.

below the lesion site due to the aforementioned loss of signaling from descending tracts, including loss of a feedback from ascending tracts (Waters et al., 1991; Dietz et al., 2009). Based on the mechanism leading to primary injury, transection models (imitating laceration), contusion and compression (with their combinations: impact plus persistent compression; impact alone with transient compression) and distraction models are in use (Cheriyan et al., 2014; Kjell and Olson, 2016; Ahuja et al., 2017; Sharif-Alhoseini et al., 2017; Alizadeh et al., 2019). Although the compression and contusion models are

considered to be the most relevant to human SCI and suitable for the study of pathophysiological changes in the injured spinal cord, transection models have been particularly used to investigate, whether and to which extent neuronal regeneration and compensation such as axonal sprouting can occur, and whether its support by bioengineered scaffolds or bioactive molecules can elicit functional recovery (Gao et al., 2013; Cheriyan et al., 2014; Medalha et al., 2014; Ziemlińska et al., 2014; Han et al., 2015; Lukovic et al., 2015; Alizadeh et al., 2019; Płatek et al., 2020). Transection models can be further divided into complete and partial transection, including dorsal or lateral hemisection and unilateral transection (Cheriyan et al., 2014). Among these models, complete transection (SCT) is the only type of SCI with separation of connections and loss of communication with the motor centers above the lesion site. Therefore, that model is suitable for the investigation of a potential and properties of the intrinsic spinal neural circuit in locomotion recovery in conditions excluding any direct influence from higher motor centers (Cheriyan et al., 2014; Alizadeh et al., 2019).

3.2. Alterations of Motoneuron Excitability by Spinal Cord Injury

3.2.1. Functions of MNs during motor activity

Motor activity such as walking and swimming is a recurrent and well patterned rhythmic behavior, which requires the reciprocal actions of the antagonist groups of flexor and extensor muscles at different limb joints (Sherrington, 1906; Sherrington, 1908; Kiehn and Dougherty, 2013; Britz et al., 2015). The rhythm and pattern of locomotion is generated by the Central Pattern Generators (CPGs), consisting of spinal interneurons located within the cervical and lumbar regions of the spinal cord (Cazalets et al., 1995; Marcoux and Rossignol, 2000; Ballion et al., 2001; Barthélemy et al., 2007; Kiehn and Dougherty, 2013; Ramirez-Jarquin and Tapia, 2018), and acting on motoneuronal populations that innervate axial and limb muscles, according to specific gait pattern requirements. These CPG circuits are under direct control of supraspinal centers (from the cortex to brainstem) that are involved in the decision making and planning for movement initiation, motivational aspect of locomotor behavior, direction change and speed of the underlying motor output programs (Armstrong, 1986; Rossignol, 1996; Jordan et al., 2008; Heckman and Enoka, 2012).

Spinal cord motoneurons (MNs) are classified as lower MNs; they receive inputs from supraspinal locomotor centers, spinal interneurons and peripheral sensory pathways (**Figure 3.3**). During locomotion, the extensor and flexor MNs, whose perikarya are located in the ventral horn of the spinal

cord, are activated in a precise rhythmic alternating pattern coordinated by signals from different groups of excitatory and inhibitory interneurons in the CPGs; these MNs transmit the signals along their axons to the muscle, acting by releasing the neurotransmitter acetylcholine at the neuromuscular junctions, where the proper rhythm and alternation of muscle contraction is generated (**Figure 3.4**) (Britz et al., 2015; Kiehn, 2016; Arber, 2017; Ramirez-Jarquin and Tapia, 2018). MNs not only serve as final motor executor after the convergence of the signals from CPG networks, but also are able to shape the final motor output with its intrinsic and conditional membrane properties, including excitability (Kiehn et al., 2000). MNs act as the key players that integrate signals from the brain and peripheral sensory pathways and shape the output to the muscles, organs and glands which execute motor function.



Figure 3.4. Schematic representation of the spinal neuronal network in which flexor (fMN) and extensor (eMN) MNs converge the signals from several types of interneurons (INs) in CPGs. These INs include excitatory V2a, $V0_V$ and $V0_C$, inhibitory $V0_D$, Renshaw cell (RC; inhibitory) and Ia inhibitory neurons. Dorsal horn upper laminae are cut off for simplicity. The schematic is modified from (Ramirez-Jarquin and Tapia, 2018).

3.2.2 Modulation of the excitability of MNs after SCI

As a result of SCT, impairment or loss of motor ability below the injury site occurs (**Figure 3.5**) due to the pathological perturbations in spinal motor circuits (Hubli et al., 2011; Binder, 2013). Among factors which contribute to impairment of motor network, a key contributor is an altered excitability. That intrinsic property of each neuron is an ability to generate action potentials (APs) in response to the stimulus, that determines appropriate function. APs generated by MNs are responsible for the contraction and relaxation of limb muscles that produce movements and complex behaviors. There are data indicating that SCI affects the excitability of MNs, which in turn contributes to development of pathological symptoms. By using the Hoffman reflex (H-reflex), which is an electrical analogue of spinal stretch reflex allowing to estimate alpha-MN excitability, MN excitability was shown to be changed.



Figure 3.5. The rat with a complete spinal cord transection at low thoracic level displays a total loss of motor ability of hindlimbs. A. The animal is assisted by the experimenter, who secures proper position of the trunk on the treadmill platform, by holding the animal's body. B. Unassisted animal moves in an open field. In both cases the hindlimbs are dragged on the ground with the feet on their dorsum. Photos taken by Benjun Ji; graphic processing done by Anna Głowacka.

What is a sequence of changes in electrical properties of MNs postlesion? Immediately after SCI, depression of spinal reflexes and hyperexcitability of MNs was described caudal to the injury site due to a sudden loss of supraspinal excitatory inputs; it contributes to a clinically defined spinal shock (Leis et al., 1996; Hiersemenzel et al., 2000; Singhal and Aggarwal, 2016). Subsequently, spontaneous recovery of locomotion can occur owing to the restoration of the excitability of MNs and spinal sensorimotor circuits (Onifer et al., 2011; D'Amico et al., 2014a). However, at the chronic phase of SCI, the progressive development of exaggerated reflexes (hyperreflexia) and hyperexcitability of MNs located below the injury site at weeks or months after injury tends to result in maladaptive changes, such as spasticity. Spasticity is a common SCI complication, which exacerbates locomotion deficits and worsens the life quality of individuals (Adams and Hicks, 2005; Brashear, 2005; Edgerton and Roy, 2010). Recent studies have shown that reduction of chronic, SCI-induced hyperexcitability of MNs, not only alleviates spasticity but also improves the locomotion recovery below the level of injury (Chen et al., 2018; Bilchak et al., 2021; Gong et al., 2021). Therefore, manipulating excitability of MNs to achieve its functionally relevant level is a promising approach to treat SCI and improve motor functions.

In normal subjects, the excitatory [mainly glutamatergic], inhibitory [GABAergic and glycinergic] and modulatory (serotoninergic [5-HT], noradrenergic [NA], dopaminergic [DA] and cholinergic [ACh]) signaling to MNs were shown to contribute to MN excitability, which is determined by a pre- and postsynaptic abundance, distribution and functional properties of the neurotransmitter receptors, ion channels and transporters (reviewed by (Rekling et al., 2000)). In subsequent years several studies

demonstrated that SCI results in specific changes in density of synaptic inputs to MNs (Kitzman, 2006; Ichiyama et al., 2008; Macias et al., 2009; Skup et al., 2012), and in gene expression, protein translation and biophysical properties of some neurotransmitter receptors in MNs (Li et al., 2004; Boulenguez et al., 2010; Ryge et al., 2010; Garcia et al., 2018); these alter the threshold and the probability of generation of APs, and subsequently change the excitability of MNs. Based on these data, one of the research goals of my study was to characterize motoneuronal expression of the neurotransmitter receptor and ion channel molecules, which contribute to excitability of lumbar MNs, in the early postlesion phase when excitability recovers.

Although severe SCI eliminates majority or all the descending supraspinal inputs to MNs located below (in the quadrupeds caudal to) the injury site, MNs remain under control of peripheral sensory inputs and intersegmental interneurons within the intact spinal sensorimotor circuitry (**Figure 3.6**). The principal inputs from these circuits to MNs consist of excitatory, inhibitory and cholinergic modulatory afferents (**Figure 3.6**).

The signaling to MNs is mediated by excitatory glutamatergic ionotropic receptors (AMPAR and NMDAR) and inhibitory GABAergic and glycinergic ionotropic receptors (GABAR and GlyR), generating excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs) and inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSPs), respectively (Hendry, 2016). Important to their proper function is the aforementioned 5-HT, NA, and DA modulatory signaling, which is cut-off after severe SCI, and cholinergic signaling, which is largely maintained (Skup et al., 2012). These inputs contribute to MN activation by amplifying the excitatory and inhibitory effects on them, and by modulating ion channels which conduct persistent inward currents (PICs), which are particularly strong in spinal MNs (Heckman et al., 2005; Heckman et al., 2009). Similar to the descending 5-HT system, DA system may serve as a potential target to promote recovery of locomotor function following SCI (Sharples et al., 2014). These neuromodulators contribute to network flexibility. Altered density and strength of synaptic inputs on MNs after SCI result in changes of threshold potential, resting membrane potential and afterhyperpolarization which determine the excitability of MNs (Lamas et al., 2009; Sanchez et al., 2011; Power et al., 2012). At the molecular level, the corresponding adaptive or maladaptive changes of postsynaptic receptors, ion channels and transporters in MN plasmalemma contribute to abnormal excitability of MNs (Rekling et al., 2000; Li et al., 2004; Boulenguez et al., 2010; Ryge et al., 2010; Garcia et al., 2018).



Figure 3.6. Stimuli from the periphery are transmitted to spinal cord MNs by sensory nerve fibers, directly or through interneurons. The left panel shows that intrinsic spinal sensorimotor circuitry remains morphologically preserved after SCI. In these conditions MNs maintain the potential to transmit signals contracting different groups muscles (e.g., the flexor and extensor muscles). The right schematic shows that the MNs are equipped with synaptic neurotransmitter receptors which consist of three categories: excitatory, inhibitory and modulatory.

In the following chapters, I describe the current knowledge on the molecular basis and contribution of excitatory, inhibitory and modulatory signaling to MNs properties, which underly changes of their excitability after SCI.

3.2.2.1. Excitatory glutamatergic signaling

In the spinal cord, glutamate (Glu) neurotransmission is critical for setting the speed and rhythm of locomotor movements, which is controlled by neurons located in the midbrain and hindbrain nuclei (Hagglund et al., 2010; Talpalar and Kiehn, 2010; Ryczko et al., 2017; Caggiano et al., 2018). MNs receive excitatory inputs from Ia primary afferents (M-type boutons) and from afferents of supraspinal origin, either directly or via interneurons (S-type boutons) (Carp and Wolpaw, 2010). Intrinsic properties of MNs determine how these inputs are transformed into a sequence of action potentials that elicit muscle contraction. As already mentioned, Glu neurotransmission is initiated by activation of ionotropic glutamate receptors (iGluRs) and modulated by metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) after Glu binding; the process is dependent on Glu concentration in the synapse and in peri-synaptic regions, which is controlled by neurons and astrocytes (Reiner and Levitz, 2018).

So far there is evidence that the density of glutamatergic inputs on lumbar MNs after thoracic SCT is decreased, which in rats transected as neonates concerns mostly S-type boutons (Ichiyama et al., 2011),

while in rats transected as adults includes also M-type boutons (Kitzman, 2006; Ichiyama et al., 2008; Macias et al., 2009; Skup et al., 2012). A postsynaptic response to spinal injury includes transcriptional regulation of AMPA, NMDA and mGlu receptor subtypes as well as Glu transporters expression, which has been described so far for other than lumbar MNs (Grossman et al., 1999, 2000; Ryge et al., 2010; Wienecke et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2011; Mantilla et al., 2012; Gransee et al., 2017). The net outcome of these effects is an abnormal excitation state of MNs (Cregg et al., 2017; Mantilla et al., 2017). Although the effects of spinal injury on MNs and their inputs have been extensively studied, the view of identified alterations remains inconsistent.

After SCT a development of neuronal dysfunction below the lesion site is progressive. While the peripheral input to spinal cord remains, it is affected and reorganized. This and other aforementioned types of excitatory inputs to lumbar MNs, which use different vesicular glutamatergic transporters: VGLUT1 (M-type boutons) and VGLUT2 (S-type boutons), decrease significantly also after less severe injuries. A loss of Glu boutons was reported at one day after a thoracic compression injury in neonatal mice, recovering quickly by 6 days postinjury (Chawla et al., 2017), and in the subacute phase (1 week), being restored to control level late postlesion (9 weeks) in adult rats with a staggered thoracic hemisection (Beauparlant et al., 2013). In contrast, after SCT of adult rats or mice, the number of VGLUT1- and VGLUT2-positive synaptic boutons which abut lumbar MNs decreases markedly in the subacute phase (Grycz et al., 2019) and remains decreased between 11 weeks and 3 months postinjury (Khalki et al., 2018; Yokota et al., 2019). These data reflect different potential for recovery, dependent on the severity of spinal cord damage.

Of note is that, although the density or number of Glu boutons is decreased after SCT, their efficiency may increase. That finds explanation in the increased proportion of primary sensory Ia afferent terminals (VGLUT1-positive, M-type) devoid of GABAergic P boutons responsible for presynaptic inhibition on GL and TA MNs, indicating that a decrease of Ia afferent inhibition occurs, which has been shown to contribute to enhance spinal reflexes and the development of spasticity (Calancie et al., 1993; Khalki et al., 2018; Caron et al., 2020).

In target neurons, NMDA and non-NMDA (AMPA and kainate) receptor subtypes mediating Glu neurotransmission respond differentially to the lesion (Hartmann et al., 2004; Anggono and Huganir, 2012).

3.2.2.1.1. AMPAR and NMDAR Properties and Function

Glutamatergic receptors are primarily expressed on postsynaptic membranes, where they modulate synaptic transmission and plasticity (Choi, 1994b; Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994; Petralia et al., 1994; Dingledine et al., 1999). As mentioned earlier, these receptors consist of two main families: ionotropic and metabotropic receptors. For the purpose of this thesis, I describe briefly the function of ionotropic receptors (iGluRs) only.

IGluRs are ligand-gated ion channels, allowing the Na⁺ and K⁺, and Ca²⁺ in and out the neurons after Glu binding. Changes in their activation and abundance contribute to basal excitatory synaptic transmission and, importantly, several forms of synaptic plasticity including long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) (Tocco et al., 1992; Maren et al., 1993; Asztely and Gustafsson, 1996). AMPAR and NMDAR are two most important members of iGluR family.

AMPAR are mainly tetramers of four distinct subunits: GluA1, GluA2, GluA3, and GluA4 (Figure 3.7 A,B) (Keinanen et al., 1990; Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994), mediating fast excitatory neurotransmission and synaptic plasticity in the brain and spinal cord [(Hartmann et al., 2004), for reviews, see (Collingridge et al., 2004; Anggono and Huganir, 2012)]. A large portion of AMPARs in the CNS comprises of heteromers containing GluA1 and GluA2 subunits (Wenthold et al., 1996; Sans et al., 2003; Lu et al., 2009). One of the most important features of AMPAR is controllable Ca2+permeability which depends on whether the GluA2 subunit is present within the tetramer. A genetic manipulation at the transcript level, RNA editing, alters a codon encoding glutamine (Q) to a codon encoding arginine (R) in the GluR2 mRNA (Sommer et al., 1991; Puchalski et al., 1994). The additional positive charge of arginine (R) residue in the pore of AMPAR tetramer prevents the influx of Ca^{2+} into the cells [(Burnashev et al., 1992), see review in (Jonas and Burnashev, 1995; Isaac et al., 2007)]. Therefore, Q-R edited GluA2 renders the GluA2-containing AMPAR impermeable to Ca⁺ (Sommer et al., 1991; Puchalski et al., 1994; Greger et al., 2003). Consequently, the differential subunit composition between GluA2-containing AMPAR, and GluA2-lacking AMPAR at synapses, confer distinct biophysical and molecular properties to AMPARs, and mediate the dynamics of this fast-excitatory signaling (Gan et al., 2015; Compans et al., 2016). A change in AMPAR composition is considered crucial in diseases, such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), postulated to be caused by overactivation of AMPAR (Vandenberghe et al., 2000; Liu and Zukin, 2007; Buckingham et al., 2008;

Wright and Vissel, 2012). Therefore, in my study, I decided to search for changes in expression level and abundance of GluA1 and GluA2 subunits in MNs after SCT and BDNF treatment.



Figure 3.7. Subunit compositions of AMPAR and NMDAR. A: AMPAR and NMDAR structure in plasma membrane. B. Possible combination of subunits and the resulting changes in the receptor properties. Schematics adapted from (Greger et al., 2017) (AMPAR) and (Pham and Gardier, 2019) (NMDAR).

NMDARs are also tetrameric, consisting of three subunit families: GluN1, GluN2 and GluN3 (**Figure 3.7**) (Moriyoshi et al., 1991; Ikeda et al., 1992; Monyer et al., 1992; Ishii et al., 1993; Ciabarra et al., 1995; Mori and Mishina, 1995; Laube et al., 1998). GluN1 subunit is obligatory in the NMDAR tetramers to regulate the trafficking of GluN2 or GluN3 subunits to assemble functional NMDAR complexes (Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994; Garcia-Gallo et al., 2001; Fukaya et al., 2003). GluN2 subunits are encoded by four different genes GluN2A, GluN2B, GluN2C and GluN2D (Ikeda et al., 1992; Monyer et al., 1992), in which GluN2A and GluN2B have been the most extensively studied and believed to play important roles in synaptic plasticity; different GluN2A-D subunits endow NMDAR with distinct electrophysiological and pharmacological properties (Traynelis et al., 2010; Paoletti, 2011; Wyllie et al., 2013). The switched expression profile of GluN2A/ GluN2B during development modifies synaptic strength and controls the LTD/LTP threshold by controlling Ca²⁺ entry and intracellular

signaling cascades [reviewed in (Yashiro and Philpot, 2008)]. Since great majority of functional NMDARs in the CNS are GluN1/ GluN2 assemblies (Traynelis et al., 2010; Hansen et al., 2014), our research focused on the regulation of GluN1 and GluN2 subunit expression in MNs.

3.2.2.1.2. The roles of AMPAR and NMDAR in SCI

Altered function of the two kinds of receptors was reported to be involved in many neurological disorders and cell death (Van Damme et al., 2003; Liu and Zukin, 2007; Bezprozvanny and Mattson, 2008; Mota et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2016b). In the spinal cord, the normal expression pattern of AMPAR and NMDAR has been evaluated in the number of studies (Furuyama et al., 1993; Tolle et al., 1993; Jakowec et al., 1995b; Jakowec et al., 1995a; Petralia et al., 1997; Rigby et al., 2002; Polgar et al., 2008). The well documented roles of AMPAR and NMDAR in spinal LTP and LTD concern their contribution to pain transmission and chronic pain in the dorsal horn neurons [reviewed in (Larsson and Broman, 2011; Zhuo, 2017)]. However, how the AMPAR and NMDAR are regulated in lumbar MNs, needs to be explored more.

In incomplete SCI models, including spinal cord contusion (Grossman et al., 1999, 2000; Brown et al., 2004), in MN disorders (Mennini et al., 2002; Bigini et al., 2006) and after peripheral nerve injury (Virgo et al., 2000; Doolen et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2013), AMPAR and NMDAR expression patterns are altered. In the early, acute phase after SCI, at the injury site, where extracellular Glu is increased dramatically albeit transiently (Panter et al., 1990; Liu et al., 1991; Farooque et al., 1996) the level of expression and activation time of NMDAR and AMPAR subtypes change. These events result in neuronal injury through an excitotoxic cascade which is initiated by excessive Na^+ and Ca^{2+} influx through AMPAR and NMDAR (Choi, 1994b, a; Liu et al., 1997; Grossman et al., 1999). Using spinal cord microdialysis in the rat, Corona and Tapia revealed that activation of GluA2-lacking, Ca²⁺permeable AMPAR, and not the accumulation of extracellular Glu in the lumbar segments per se is associated with permanent hindlimb paralysis and a remarkable loss of MNs (Corona and Tapia, 2004, 2007). Accordingly, administration of antagonists of NMDAR and AMPAR at the injury site reduced neuronal damage and loss (Liu et al., 1997; Li and Tator, 2000; Corona and Tapia, 2007, 2008). Thus overactivation of AMPAR and NMDAR largely determines MN vulnerability in the spinal cord at the injury site and raises the question on the degree and time of their activation in more distant segments of the spinal cord after injury.

Using partial SCI models, it was shown that postsynaptic localization of GluA2-lacking, Ca²⁺ permeable AMPAR on MNs is increased (Ferguson et al., 2008). Furthermore, Huie and coworkers revealed changes of composition and phosphorylation state of GluA1 and GluA2 subunits on MNs located below site of SCT and showed their relation to the maladaptive plasticity (Huie et al., 2015). Blocking the Ca²⁺ permeable AMPARs restored adaptive motor responses in a sensorimotor spinal training task. These data and results demonstrating that AMPAR activity impacts motor training, including instrumental learning, suggest potential for dynamic modulation of AMPAR composition and function in spinal cord motor systems (Joynes et al., 2004; Hoy et al., 2013). Changes in NMDAR expression were also associated with functional recovery after spinal cord injury (Joynes et al., 2004; Ferguson et al., 2012; Huie et al., 2015). In a contusive model of thoracic SCI in rats, gene expression of NMDAR subunits was upregulated in distant lumbar MNs at 24 hours and 1 month postinjury (the latter correlating with the recovery of hindlimb motor function) (Grossman et al., 2000), while AMPAR GluA2 subunit transcript level was downregulated (Grossman et al., 1999). Similar effects were also observed in cervical (C), phrenic (PMNs) and sacral MNs at 2-3 weeks postinjury: hemisection at C2 led to upregulation of NMDAR transcript level but a decrease of AMPAR level in PMNs below the lesion site, at C3-5 (Mantilla et al., 2012; Gransee et al., 2017). Importantly, blockade of NMDAR was shown to reduce diaphragm EMG amplitude and suppress spontaneous PMN bursting (Cregg et al., 2017; Mantilla et al., 2017), indicating that NMDAR-mediated neurotransmission was crucial for rhythmic diaphragm activity (Cregg et al., 2017; Mantilla et al., 2017). In rats with SCT at the sacral S2 level, MNs innervating tail muscles located in S3-S4 also showed increased expression of genes encoding NMDAR subunits at 3 weeks and 2 months postinjury; that response was interpreted as contributor to the hyperexcitability of MNs and tail spasticity (Ryge et al., 2010; Wienecke et al., 2010). So far, only one study on NMDAR and AMPAR subunit expression in lumbar MNs after thoracic SCT, done in mice, showed no difference from control levels when measured at 3 months (Yokota et al., 2019). Thus most of the data available speak for a change of MN phenotype after SCI towards enrichment in NMDAR and impoverishment in AMPAR, with not clear demonstration of the changes in balance between Ca²⁺ permeable and impermeable receptor forms, at certain stage after SCI. The shift in receptor abundance from AMPAR to NMDAR was suggested to increase MN excitability through prolonging excitatory postsynaptic currents and slowing receptor desensitization (Rekling et al., 2000; Mantilla et al., 2012). With this respect, the studies aimed to characterize abundance and responses of AMPARs and NMDARs to the SCT in functionally different MN pools, which control extensor and flexor muscles are especially important to understand the postlesion motor dysfunction. Such data are lacking.

The last major aspect of Glu neurotransmission is its availability in the synaptic cleft. In the acute phase after SCI, at the injury site and in its proximity, extracellular Glu concentration increases dramatically (although transiently), being sufficient to evoke excitotoxicity. It results in primary and secondary neuronal damage and death through a cascade of molecular events initiated by excessive Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ influx through prolonged action of Glu receptors (Panter et al., 1990; Liu et al., 1991; Choi, 1992, 1994b; Farooque et al., 1996; Liu et al., 1997; Grossman et al., 1999). That significant elevation of extracellular Glu is detected during the first 30 mins postinjury and returns to basal levels after 1-2 hours (Panter et al., 1990; Liu et al., 1991). Glu concentration is the highest at the injury zone and declines steeply with a distance from the injury epicenter, becoming undetectable several millimeters away (McAdoo et al., 1999). The "safety valve" is a Glu transporter 1 (GLT-1), which is responsible for the vast majority of Glu uptake, preventing excitotoxicity in CNS (Rimmele and Rosenberg, 2016). In the spinal cord, GLT1 deletion causes MNs loss and motor deficits, indicating that GLT1 is a crucial contributor to the mechanisms removing Glu from the synaptic cleft and supporting survival of spinal MNs postlesion (Sugiyama and Tanaka, 2018). In the rat, after contusive SCI, GLT-1 was reported to be increased in the acute phase (within 24 hours) at the lesion epicenter and several millimeters rostral and caudal to it (Vera-Portocarrero et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2011). Later on, the expression of GLT-1 significantly decreases below control level in the subacute phase (7 days and 14 days) and intermediate phase (4, 6 and 8 weeks), as shown in a crush SCI, leading to reduced Glu removal and to excitotoxic neuronal damage (Olsen et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2011; Li et al., 2014b). Consistently, transplantation of glial progenitors that overexpress GLT1 into the injury site preserves diaphragm function after cervical contusion SCI ((Li et al., 2015), but see (Li et al., 2014b)).

At the lumbar region of my interest, after low thoracic contusion SCI, GLT-1 protein level was reported to slightly decrease for the first 3 days and then return to control levels up to 8 weeks (Kim et al., 2011), indicating that GLT1 is less affected in regions distant from injury epicenter,. Earlier study and that by Kim and coworkers showed that other Glu transporters, glial GLAST and neuronal EAAC1, are also increased in the acute phase (within 24 hours) at the injury epicenter but subsequently decreased below control level up to 8 weeks (Vera-Portocarrero et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2011). Interestingly, in

contrast to GLT1, GLAST was significantly increased far from the lesion site, in L4-5 region, from the first days to 8 weeks after SCI (Kim et al., 2011). These data indicate that SCI temporally and spatially affects the expression of the Glu transporters, which modulate Glu level in the synaptic cleft and further Glu neurotransmission.

3.2.2.2. Inhibitory glycinergic and GABAergic signaling

In the spinal cord, inhibitory neurotransmission is mediated by postsynaptic glycinergic receptors (GlyRs) and GABA receptors (GABARs), when activated by binding glycine or GABA, respectively, released from presynaptic terminal. On the lumbar MNs of adult intact rats, glycinergic axon terminals are four times more frequent than GABAergic axon terminals, suggesting that glycinergic system is the major contributor to MNs inhibition in adulthood (Khalki et al., 2018; Sadlaoud et al., 2020b; Bras and Liabeuf, 2021; Mazzone et al., 2021). Despite that, both glycinergic and GABAergic inhibitory mechanisms were indicated as regulatory for the excitability of MNs and spinal network.

Ionotropic GlyR and GABA_AR are ligand-gated chloride (Cl⁻) channels whose activation leads to the influx of chloride ions, membrane hyperpolarization and decreased neuronal firing. The ability of MNs to transmit inhibitory signals is impaired after SCI. The group of Kjehn, exploring tail spasticity model after SCT, reported that at 3 weeks and 2 months after SCT in adult rats, transcript levels of GlyR subunits were changed, with Glra1 upregulated, but Glra2 downregulated; the study from Vinay group showed that the protein abundance of GlyR and GABA_AR at the membranes of lumbar MNs was changing reversibly in time; GlyR was decreased at 3 weeks, restored to control level at 8 weeks, but decreased below control level when analyzed at 16 weeks after SCT (Ryge et al., 2010; Wienecke et al., 2010; Sadlaoud et al., 2020b).

Importantly, the degree of spasticity, determined by rate-dependent depression (RDD) of the H reflex, was shown to be correlated with the time course of changes in GlyR protein expression in lumbar MNs following SCT, indicating that spasticity development was significantly influenced by glycinergic signaling in MNs (Sadlaoud et al., 2020b). In line with these observations, administration of glycine aimed to activate GlyRs results in reduced spasticity; pharmacological blockade of GlyRs enhanced spasticity in animals with SCI (Simpson et al., 1995).

In addition to the abundance of GlyR and GABAAR/GABABR on MNs, another crucial factor

which determines a processing of inhibition is intraneuronal Cl⁻ homeostasis. That is primarily regulated by K⁺-Cl⁻ co-transporter KCC2 and Na⁺-K⁺-Cl⁻ cotransporter NKCC1 (Côté, 2020). In mature neurons these transporters, the major Cl⁻ extruder (KCC2) and importer (NKCC1), significantly affect the polarity and efficacy of the GABA_AR and GlyR- mediated synaptic transmission (Chamma et al., 2012; Côté, 2020). In normal adult animals, KCC2 and NKKC1 maintain a low-level of intracellular Cl-, and in these conditions the activated GABA_AR and GlyR allow influx of Cl⁻, generating a hyperpolarization effect. The group of Vinay and ours showed that spinal cord transection at thoracic segments in adult rats downregulates the KCC2 protein expression in plasma membranes of lumbar MNs (Boulenguez et al., 2010; Ziemlińska et al., 2014; Khalki et al., 2018). The data on response of NKCC1 are inconsistent; although increased NKCC1 protein level, identified by western blot, was observed in the lumbar enlargement after SCT ((Cote et al., 2014; Mekhael et al., 2019), but see (Boulenguez et al., 2010)), immunostaining for NKCC1 in the ventral horn failed to show any changes (Cote et al., 2014). Further studies are needed to further characterize the response and identify cell populations which display changes of NKCC1 after SCI. What is relatively clear at a current stage of the studies, is that a decrease of KCC2 in MNs leads to accumulation of high concentrations of Cl⁻ in MNs, evoking in consequence a depolarizing effect instead of inhibitory response after GABA_AR and GlyR activation, to contribute to hyperexcitability of MNs and spasticity (Boulenguez et al., 2010; Cote et al., 2014; Côté, 2020). In line with this description are the data showing that physical exercise, which restored the levels of KCC2 and NKCC1 towards control levels in the lumbar spinal cord, also led to reduced spasticity and promoted functional recovery (Cote et al., 2014; Khalki et al., 2018). Consistently, pharmacologically enhancing KCC2 activity or blocking NKCC1 mirrored the effects of exercise, decreasing spasticity and improving functional recovery of hindlimbs after chronic SCI (Cote et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2018; Mekhael et al., 2019; Bilchak et al., 2021). These data indicate that KCC2 and NKCC1 are potential pharmacological targets to treat spasticity and improve locomotor network following SCI. To sum up, SCI downregulating KCC2 and GlyR/GABAAR neurotransmission and upregulating NKCC1 may lead to disinhibition of MNs and cause an increase the excitability of MNs.

3.2.2.3. Neuromodulatory signaling

Different from ionotropic signaling, neuromodulatory signaling is mediated by metabotropic receptors, acting through a signaling cascade triggering G-proteins and changing the concentration of

intracellular second messengers (Heckman et al., 2009). The major neuromodulators acting on MNs are 5-HT, NA, DA and ACh. Among them, 5-HT, NA and DA derive mostly from the brain and are released in spinal cord from descending tracts, while ACh is released by cholinergic $V0_C$ interneurons located in the spinal cord. All they were shown to profoundly modulate MNs excitability through modulating the actions of ion channels and pumps on MNs (Miles and Sillar, 2011).

3.2.2.3.1. Serotonergic signaling

In the mammalian spinal cord, 5-HT is mainly released by the descending projections which originate in the raphe nuclei of the brainstem (Dahlstroem and Fuxe, 1964; Fuxe, 1965; Steinbusch, 1981). Via binding to 5-HT receptors (5-HTRs), 5-HT elicits signaling which affect sensory and motor function and neuronal plasticity within the spinal cord. 5-HTR family consist of seven types (5-HTR1 - 5-HTR7) and fourteen subtypes, majority of which have been detected in the spinal cord neurons (Perrier et al., 2013; Zhang, 2016). In MNs, 5-HTR1 (A, B, D), 5-HTR2 (A, B, C), 5-HTR3, 5-HTR5A and 5-HTR7 are expressed and play roles in modulating excitability of MNs through a range of ion channels mediating K⁺, Ca²⁺, and Na⁺ conductance [reviewed in (Perrier et al., 2013; Zhang, 2016).

SCI results in a 5-HT fiber loss around MNs caudal to the injury site (Anden et al., 1964; Magnusson, 1973; Zhang, 2016; Yokota et al., 2019). In consequence, an increased expression and activity of 5-HTRs was reported using different animal models, and interpreted as a compensatory response (Fuller et al., 2005; Hayashi et al., 2010; Kong et al., 2010; Kong et al., 2011; Mantilla et al., 2012; Perrier et al., 2013; Ren et al., 2013; Zhang, 2016; Mantilla et al., 2017; Garcia et al., 2018). In addition, after SCI, some subtypes of 5-HTRs turn into a constitutively active state; because their activation does not depend on 5-HT availability, signaling through them may contribute to hyperexcitability of MNs and hyperreflexia (Murray et al., 2010; Murray et al., 2011a; D'Amico et al., 2013b).

There remains 2-15% of the normal levels of 5-HT in spinal cord caudal to the lesion site (Magnusson, 1973; Newton and Hamill, 1988; Schmidt and Jordan, 2000), proposed to be released from intraspinal 5-HT neurons (Newton et al., 1986; Newton and Hamill, 1988) and cells containing aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) (Li et al., 2014c; Wienecke et al., 2014). Since the number of intraspinal 5-HT neurons is negligible (3-9 cells/spinal cord was reported) (Newton et al., 1986; Newton and Hamill, 1988), AADC cells may play major role in 5-HT residual supply. Because SCI increases the

ability of AADC cells to synthesize 5-HT from 5-HTP (Li et al., 2014c; Wienecke et al., 2014) the upregulated 5-HTRs postinjury could be activated by 5-HT from these remaining sources (Zhang, 2016; Huang et al., 2021a).

Activation of 5-HTR2 subtype on MNs facilitates generation of voltage dependent Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ persistent inward currents (PICs) through modifying the gating behavior of the Ca²⁺ channels (low-threshold L-type calcium channels CaV1.3) and Na⁺ channels (Heckman et al., 2003; Perrier and Delgado-Lezama, 2005; Harvey et al., 2006b; Li et al., 2007; Heckman et al., 2009). PICs increase MN excitability through amplifying subsequent synaptic inputs and generating plateau potentials on MNs (Heckman et al., 2003; Heckman et al., 2008). After acute SCI, the immediate loss of the descending inputs from supraspinal pathways results in disappearance of PICs, which further leads to hyperpolarization of MNs and clinically generates hyporeflexia of spinal shock (Ditunno et al., 2004). At the chronic phase of SCI, upregulated 5-HTR2 was reported to facilitate the reappearance of PICs which produce a sustained depolarization of MNs to develop MN hyperexcitability and muscle spasticity which can last for weeks to months after SCI (Ditunno et al., 2004; Heckman et al., 2009; D'Amico et al., 2014b). Consistently, application of antagonists of 5-HTR2 decreases the occurrence of PICs and impairs the firing of MNs (Harvey et al., 2006b, c; Li et al., 2007).

Recently, the ability of 5-HTRs to form complexes with NMDAR to affect NMDA-induced MN depolarization has been discovered; probably through forming a macromolecular complex containing 5-HTR2B and NMDAR GluN1 subunit (Benhadda et al., 2021). 5-HTR2B activation potentiates NMDAR-induced depolarization of rat spinal cord dorsal horn neurons in a neuropathic pain model and also frog spinal cord MNs (Holohean and Hackman, 2004; Aira et al., 2013). Similarly, 5HTR2C was shown to form a protein complex with NMDAR GluN2A subunit and to enhance NMDAR MN depolarization through phosphorylation of Src tyrosine kinase in the frog spinal cord (Bigford et al., 2012). Therefore, it is reasonable to speculate that altered activity of 5-HTRs after SCI may modulate MN excitability through affecting NMDAR-induced depolarization.

However, activation of 5-HTRs does not always display excitatory effect on the MN output. For instance, in addition to 5-HTR2A-mediated direct excitatory effect on MNs, activation of 5-HT2A receptors also increases cell membrane expression and function of KCC2 on MNs and reduces SCI-induced spasticity (Bos et al., 2013; Sanchez-Brualla et al., 2018). Another dimension of serotonergic

modulation of MN function is activation of presynaptic 5-HTR1 (1B, 1D or 1F) located on sensory afferent terminals and excitatory interneurons, which can be evoked by receptor agonists. Such treatment inhibits polysynaptic EPSPs on MNs, therefore reducing CaPIC activation and alleviating muscle spasms after SCI (Yoshimura and Furue, 2006; Murray et al., 2011b; D'Amico et al., 2013a).

In the injured spinal cord, administration of 5-HT or increasing endogenous 5-HT levels by inhibiting its reuptake result in the net effect of increasing MN excitability (Slawinska et al., 2013; Leech et al., 2014; Nardone et al., 2015; Perrier, 2016; Perrin and Noristani, 2019).

3.2.2.3.2. Noradrenergic signaling

Descending noradrenergic (NA) projections to the spinal cord are mainly derived from brainstem Locus Coeruleus (A6 cell group), the region around the superior olivary nuclei (A5 cell group) and subcoeruleus/medial parabrachial systems (A7 cell group) (Pickel et al., 1974; Hancock and Fougerousse, 1976; Amaral and Sinnamon, 1977; Nygren and Olson, 1977; Westlund et al., 1982, 1983). NA binds to three G-protein coupled noradrenergic receptors: $\alpha 1$ -, $\alpha 2$ - and β -adrenergic receptors (ARs), which are divided into 9 subclasses: $\alpha 1A$, $\alpha 1B$, and $\alpha 1D$; $\alpha 2A$, $\alpha 2B$, and $\alpha 2C$; $\beta 1$, $\beta 2$, and $\beta 3$ subtypes (Bylund, 1992; Graham et al., 1996). In the spinal cord high levels of $\alpha 1$ -ARs were found in the MN region of the ventral horn lamina IX (Day et al., 1997; Giroux et al., 1999) with $\alpha 2$ -ARs relatively sparsely distributed in that region (Young and Kuhar, 1980; Roudet et al., 1994; Stone et al., 1998; Giroux et al., 1999). Noteworthy, immunochemical labeling has shown that lumbar MNs express $\alpha 1A$, $\alpha 2A$ - and $\beta 1$ -ARs at early postnatal periods (Tartas et al., 2010). β -ARs were also detected in the ventral horn by histochemical fluorescence (Melamed et al., 1976; Mizukami, 2004; Arora et al., 2021) and ligand binding autoradiography (Patterson and Hanley, 1987).

In the neonatal rat-isolated spinal cord preparation, bath-applied NA enhanced the excitability of spinal lumbar MNs by hyperpolarizing the threshold for action potential production and increasing the input membrane resistance (Elliott and Wallis, 1992; Sqalli-Houssaini and Cazalets, 2000; Fedirchuk and Dai, 2004). Consistently, activation of postsynaptic α 1- and β -ARs by agonists enhances the excitability of ventral MNs by inducing PICs and increasing the firing frequency of APs in MNs of not only neonatal rats (Tartas et al., 2010; Shoji et al., 2019) but also adult animals (Lee and Heckman, 1998, 1999; Harvey et al., 2006c). These results indicate that descending noradrenergic projections also modulate the excitability of MNs.

Spinal cord transection dramatically but not completely decrease NA concentration in the spinal below the lesion site (Anden et al., 1964; Magnusson, 1973; Commissiong et al., 1978; McNicholas et al., 1980). After SCT, about 2-5% of the normal level of NA is still detected (Magnusson, 1973; Roudet et al., 1993; Roudet et al., 1994), which is suggested to be released from the intraspinal neurons or sympathetic fibers (McNicholas et al., 1980; Nozaki et al., 1980; Cassam et al., 1997; Takeoka et al., 2010). This residual release of NA was proposed to facilitate activation of CaPIC in MNs, contributing to increased MN excitability and muscle spasms after SCI, owing to denervation supersensitivity developing after SCI (Rank et al., 2007). Accordingly, SCT at low thoracic level was reported to upregulate densities of α 1- and α 2-ARs in the lumbar segments at 2 weeks and one month postinjury, but they were normalized in longer survival times (>2 months) (Roudet et al., 1993; Roudet et al., 1994; Giroux et al., 1999). Importantly for the functional outcome, the time course of AR upregulation corresponds to recovery period of hindlimb locomotion after spinal lesion (Barbeau and Rossignol, 1987; Harnie et al., 2019). Administration of ARs agonist to SCI subjects modulates spinal neuronal excitability and improves locomotor recovery (Forssberg and Grillner, 1973; Maynard, 1986; Barbeau et al., 1987; Chau et al., 1998; Gao et al., 2019). Sustained activation of specific ARs during SCI contributes to the development of muscle spasticity. Similarly to 5-HT receptors, α 1-ARs, in particular α 1A-ARs subtype, became constitutively active after SCI; in consequence AR signaling contributes to hyperexcitability of MNs and facilitates muscle spasms by activating PICs on MNs both in animal models (Harvey et al., 2006c; Rank et al., 2011) and human patients (D'Amico et al., 2013b). On the contrary, α 2-ARs which do not respond with constitutive activity to SCI, mediate an inhibitory effect of residual NA on MN excitability and muscle spasms by reducing long polysynaptic EPSP that triggers PICs (Tremblay and Bedard, 1986; Rank et al., 2011).

3.2.2.3.3. Dopaminergic signaling

In mammals, DA descending tracts to spinal cord originate from hypothalamic A11 neurons (Björklund and Skagerberg, 1979; Skagerberg and Lindvall, 1985; Barreiro-Iglesias et al., 2008; Tay et al., 2011; Koblinger et al., 2014; Ozawa et al., 2017), acting as the primary supplier of DA in the spinal cord to modulate spinal motor circuits. In line with that, lesions of A11 nuclei or spinal cord transection in rodents result in a significant decrease of DA concentrations in the caudal spinal cord (Magnusson, 1973; Commissiong et al., 1978; Zhao et al., 2007). DA exerts its actions via five functionally distinct

G-protein-coupled receptors that are classified as two subgroups: excitatory D1-like (D1 and D5) and inhibitory D2-like (D2, D3, and D4) (reviewed in (Beaulieu and Gainetdinov, 2011; Beaulieu et al., 2015)), all of which are identified in spinal cord MNs (Zhu et al., 2007).

DA inputs on spinal MNs diversely modulate their excitability across species, developmental stage and DA concentration (Picton and Sillar, 2016; Jha and Thirumalai, 2020). In rodents DA displays the concentration-dependent excitatory (through D1-like receptors) and inhibitory (through D2-like receptors) effects on the output of spinal network (Barriere et al., 2004; Sharples et al., 2015; Sharples et al., 2020). DA can directly trigger skeletal muscle tone (Schwarz and Peever, 2011) and enhance excitability of MNs by decreasing both the first spike latency and mAHP amplitude and by potentiating AMPAR mediated neurotransmission, shown in mice (Han et al., 2007). That process is mediated via activating D1-like receptors but not D2-like receptors on MNs (Han and Whelan, 2009). Another line of evidence in mice demonstrated that D1 receptor can form heteromers with adenosine A1 receptor on MNs to control their excitability; through their interaction adenosine tonically inhibits D1R-mediated excitatory signaling (Rivera-Oliver et al., 2019).

SCI results in a marked reduction of DA concentrations in the spinal cord below the lesion site, due to the interruption of descending tracts from A11 neurons (Magnusson, 1973; Commissiong et al., 1978). However, similarly to studies on 5-HT and NA intrinsic sources in the spinal cord, recent studies have shown that a population of ADDC positive and/or TH positive neurons residing in the rat spinal cord might be the potential source of DA (Hou et al., 2016; Ren et al., 2016; Ren et al., 2017; Qiao et al., 2021). It has been suggested that the ability of these cells to produce DA is repressed by DA descending tracts in physiological conditions (Ren et al., 2016; Hou et al., 2021). SCI would cause removal of suppression and allow these cells to regain the ability to synthesize DA (Hou et al., 2016; Ren et al., 2016; Hou et al., 2016; Hou et al., 2016; Hou et al., 2016; Ren et al., 20

Data on the effects of SCI on the expression or distribution of DARs are relatively sparse. After a SCT at T10 level of adult rats, mRNA levels of TH and D2R were reported to be downregulated in the caudal spinal cord L1 segment at both the subacute (3 weeks) and chronic stages (8 weeks), while the level of D1R mRNA was unaltered (Zhao et al., 2021). Since available analysis of gene expression concerned segmental characteristics only, precise patterns of expression and distribution of the DARs on MNs needs to be disclosed in further studies.

3.2.2.3.4. Cholinergic signaling

Unlike the aforementioned monoaminergic pathways, the cholinergic signaling in the spinal cord is intrinsic; all cholinergic neurons that connect to spinal sensorimotor networks are located within the spinal cord (Mille et al., 2021). MNs receive cholinergic inputs from premotor INs that release ACh to modulate the excitability of these MNs and motor output (Nascimento et al., 2020).

The excitability of spinal MNs is modulated by ACh via the activation of mAChRs muscarinic receptors, particularly M2 type mAChRs which is the predominant subtype expressed in the spinal cord neurons including MN (Wieckowska et al., 2018). M2 receptor cluster on the postsynaptic membrane in and around the C boutons synapses of large cholinergic inputs abutting on somata and proximal dendrites of MNs. They derive from Pitx2- and Dbx1-expressing V0c cholinergic INs located lateral to the central canal (lamina X and medial lamina VII) and play crucial roles in MN firing, recruitment and motor outputs during locomotion ((Miles et al., 2007; Zagoraiou et al., 2009; Nascimento et al., 2020), for review (Witts et al., 2014)). Except M2 type mAChRs, SK type channels, Kv2.1 channels, TMEM16F, sigma 1 (S1R) and neuroligin 1 receptors have also been characterized in C bouton complex, providing a molecular basis of modulation of MN excitability by cholinergic IN (Deardorff et al., 2014; Witts et al., 2014; Mille et al., 2021). In rodents, turtles and salamanders, activation of M2 mAChRs was shown to increase the excitability of spinal MNs by reducing spike afterhyperpolarization (AHP) mediated by SK channels or reducing spike half-width though Kv2.1 channels ((Chevallier et al., 2006; Miles et al., 2007; Nascimento et al., 2020), for review (Mille et al., 2020), for review (Mille et al., 2020), for review (Mille et al., 2020).

A loss of cholinergic inputs has been observed on lumbar MNs at 6 weeks after thoracic SCT (Apostolova et al., 2006; Jakovcevski et al., 2007; Mehanna et al., 2010; Skup et al., 2012), and also on sacral MNs at 1-12 weeks after sacral SCT in rats, the latter accompanied by a coinstantaneous shrinkage of the cholinergic INs perikarya located around the central canal (Kitzman, 2006; Kapitza et al., 2012). The increased number of inputs on lumbar MNs in mice at 3 months after thoracic SCT has been also reported (Yokota et al., 2019). The loss of cholinergic inputs correlates with impaired locomotor performance (Jakovcevski et al., 2007), confirming that cholinergic inputs are crucial during locomotion.

Postsynaptically, at the second week after SCT, the transcript level of M2 receptor was downregulated in the L3-6 segments (Wieckowska et al., 2018). At the chronic phase (6 weeks postinjury) SCT selectively increased synaptic distribution of M2R protein as compared to extrasynaptic M2R density on plasma membrane of TA MNs (Wieckowska et al., 2018). The enhanced synaptic accumulation of M2R after SCT was proposed to be a compensatory mechanism in response to reduced cholinergic inputs and contribute to generation of clonic movements observed in chronic spinal rats (Wieckowska et al., 2018). Such response of mAChR may support a development of hyper-cholinergic state that enhances MN output in paraplegic animals (Jordan et al., 2014).

3.3. Treatment of spinal cord injury

In research and clinical studies, the attempts to evoke and improve the motor recovery focus on two main directions to: (1) regain the neural connectivity across the lesion; (2) modulate the spinal cord network preserved below the injury site. After incomplete SCI, the sensation and muscle contractions are partially retained owing to spared descending and ascending tracts (Raineteau and Schwab, 2001). Over time, spontaneous sprouting and regeneration of corticospinal and rubrospinal neurons can lead to formation of synaptic connections (Ghosh et al., 2009; O'Shea et al., 2017). By manipulating these two processes of sprouting and regeneration of groups of fibers which may bypass the site of incomplete injury, improvement of motor abilities can be achieved (Raineteau and Schwab, 2001). In rare cases of SCT in humans, modelled in animal studies (also by our Group), sprouting of axons across the lesioned area is extremely limited because glial scar and lesion cavity, as well as non-permissive environment of inhibitory molecules obstructs axonal growth from neurons surviving above the lesion (Jakeman et al., 1998; Boyce et al., 2007; Ollivier-Lanvin et al., 2015; Krupka et al., 2017; Gaudet and Fonken, 2018; Sofroniew, 2018; Marchionne et al., 2020) (Figure 3.8). Although many attempts have been made to reconnect the two parts after experimental SCT, the effectiveness of these approaches is not very satisfying. Regardless, some breakthroughs are achieved in recent years. Lu and coworkers, taking advantage of combinatorial therapy consisting of cAMP injection into the brainstem, cell grafts in the

lesion site, and brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression within and below the lesion site, successfully provoked axonal regeneration across the lesion site in rats with SCT (Lu et al., 2012). Anderson and coworkers also utilizing combined treatment addressing three essential growth-conditioning factors (neuron intrinsic growth capacity, growth-supportive substrate, chemoattraction), successfully stimulated propriospinal axon regeneration across astrocyte scar borders and lesion core in spinalized mice and rats (Anderson et al., 2018). Although the improvement of locomotor function was

not obvious in those studies, a proof was obtained that neural connectivity recuperation across anatomically complete SCI lesions is achievable.



Astrocyte scar borde

Figure 3.8. Complete SCI at low thoracic 11/12 level. Formation of astrocyte scar blocks regeneration of the transected fibers, leading to permanently disrupted connections between supraspinal motor centers and spinal cord motor network located below the injury site. In effect complete loss of motor functions occurs. Black neurons designate interneurons; red and green MNs designate neurons which innervate Gastrocnemius lateralis (GL) and Tibialis Anterior (TA) muscles, respectively. GL and TA were selected for the current study.

Caudal to the injury site (Figure 3.8), the intrinsic spinal locomotor circuitries controlling locomotion remain intact. Although spared circuitries are usually functionally dormant at the pathological state postinjury, its preservation provides a promising possibility that by reactivating these circuits an improvement of motor function is achievable (Gao et al., 2021). In the circuitry, sensory proprioceptive Ia or cutaneous feedbacks from the muscles, joints and skin are integrated in the Central Pattern Generator (CPG) networks and transmit signals to MNs that innervate skeletal muscles (Rossignol et al., 2006; Rossignol and Frigon, 2011; Grillner and El Manira, 2020). Assuming that they receive adequate excitatory and inhibitory drives, the circuitries can be recruited into operation mode. Therefore, to regain locomotor abilities after SCI, the main task is to alter electrical and synaptic properties of spinal locomotor circuitries to achieve a functional state. That was proposed either by manipulating the peripheral sensory afferent feedback or by directly activating local locomotor pattern generators within the spinal cord (Rossignol and Frigon, 2011). Treadmill locomotor training, electrical stimulation, pharmacological or cell based therapy of subjects with the injured spinal cord are the main approaches which has been shown to be capable of transforming nonfunctional spinal circuits into functional and adaptive states to regain hindlimb locomotion (Courtine et al., 2009; Rossignol and
Frigon, 2011). The aim of these approaches is to elicit especially long-lasting improvement in locomotor function through engaging the learning ability of spinal cord.

3.3.1. Locomotor training

Locomotor training is a classic sensorimotor rehabilitation approach to improve locomotor performance of individuals with SCI. Early studies in cats showed that subjects with complete transection of the spinal cord at thoracic level recovered full weight-bearing locomotion of hindlimbs after a few weeks' daily training on a treadmill (Lovely et al., 1986; Barbeau and Rossignol, 1987; de Leon et al., 1999). Less advanced recovery applies also to spinal rodents. In our and others' studies, daily locomotor training was shown to gradually improve hindlimb movements in spinalized rats and mice (Macias et al., 2009; Skup et al., 2012; Hubli and Dietz, 2013; Smith and Knikou, 2016). After appropriate training and treatment, the animals with SCI can regain hindlimb stepping with alternation, plantar foot placement and body weight support, indicating that intrinsic locomotor network is reactivated. Compared to subjects with incomplete SCI, SCT subjects need to be assisted manually or by a robotic device during the whole treadmill training period due to total loss of voluntary motor control (Hubli and Dietz, 2013). Even so, motor learning during training improves the coordination of bilateral muscle activation, which is essential for locomotion (Hubli and Dietz, 2013). The major drive to reactivate and reorganize the intraspinal locomotor network after training is a reinforcement of activitydependent sensory feedback from muscular and cutaneous receptors, and modulation of neuronal excitability (Smith and Knikou, 2016). Electrophysiological experiments revealed that treadmill stepping-evoked recovery in SCT rats transected as neonates or young adults, was associated with significant changes in cellular properties of spinal hindlimb MNs, such as a reduction in action potential afterhyperpolarization (AHP) and change in synaptic inputs to MNs comparing with spinalized rats without training (Petruska et al., 2007). AHP is an important parameter determining neuron excitability; it tends to limit high-frequency burst firing of neurons, and its amplitude is decreased in spinal MNs during fictive locomotion in the cat (Brownstone et al., 1992; Brumberg et al., 2000). At the molecular level, locomotor training elevates levels of both glutamate and glycine in the spinal cord lumbar region of rats with neonatal, thoracic spinal cord transection (Cantoria et al., 2011), and normalizes a balance of excitatory and inhibitory signaling on MNs (Tillakaratne et al., 2002; Ichiyama et al., 2011; Wieckowska et al., 2018), which is essential for proper activity of MNs. Taken together, the repetitive

activation of the preserved spinal network by locomotor training is effective in modulation of sensorimotor circuitries to achieve appropriate excitability level, and leads to some recovery of a weightbearing locomotor capacity of animals with SCI (Edgerton et al., 2008). Outcomes of locomotor training also support the concept that learning is not exclusive to the brain, since spinal cord also can learn from training without commands from supraspinal motor centers (Grau et al., 2020).

3.3.2. Electrical stimulation

Electrical stimulation (ES) is another efficient approach to treat SCI. Basic and clinical research have applied epidural or transcutaneous ES on injured spinal cord to restore rhythmic motor ability after incomplete or complete SCI (Lu et al., 2016; James et al., 2018; Bonizzato et al., 2021; Malone et al., 2021; Sharif et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021). ES is capable of reactivating the dormant network and restore its excitability allowing motor-pattern generation based on proprioceptive input processing from muscles, bones and skin to MNs (Angeli et al., 2014; Hofstoetter et al., 2015; Formento et al., 2018; Audet and Lecomte, 2021). This is consistent with the fundamental roles of proprioceptive inputs in reorganization of sensorimotor circuits during recovery (Takeoka and Arber, 2019; Takeoka, 2020). In rats with SCT, ES enhances excitability of spinal circuitry and improves gait quality and weight-bearing stepping (Wenger et al., 2016). However, in human SCI patients, the requirements of ES frequencies and amplitudes are more restricted and the enhancing effects can be exploited just in a narrow range of ES parameters; that is due to antidromic collisions during ES causing that large amount of proprioceptive input is blocked (Formento et al., 2018). The loss of proprioceptive afferents reduces the effectiveness of ES in boosting recovery after SCI, confirming that preserved proprioception within sensorimotor circuits is highly necessary to promote motor recovery with ES.

3.3.3. Pharmacological, cell- and biomolecule-based therapies

Distinct from locomotor training and electrical stimulation that stimulate the entirety of the spinal cord or segmental networks, pharmacological or cell-based manipulation can be more targeted to modulate defined motor circuitries. The pharmacological agents include a variety of receptor agonists/antagonists (Teng et al., 2003; Baastrup and Finnerup, 2008; Hama and Sagen, 2012; Chen et al., 2017; Gotoh et al., 2020; Simmons et al., 2021), ion channels blockers (Liu et al., 2011; O'Hare Doig et al., 2017; O'Hare Doig et al., 2020), antioxidants and anti-inflammatory drugs (Bains and Hall, 2012; Fakhri et al., 2018; Hayta and Elden, 2018; Vilchis-Villa et al., 2019; Lambrechts and Cook, 2021) and

neurotrophic factors (e.g. BDNF, NT3, NGF, FGF) (Hollis and Tuszynski, 2011; Awad et al., 2015), which trigger a series of signaling pathways facilitating neuroprotection, structural plasticity and functional recovery. Cell-based therapies use transplantation of specific types of cells into the SCI microenvironment to provide trophic support for neuroprotection, axonal remyelination and regeneration, angiogenesis, immunomodulation and inter-neuron communication ((Hesp et al., 2018; Kobashi et al., 2020; Gong et al., 2021; Olmsted et al., 2021), for review (Ashammakhi et al., 2019; Ahuja et al., 2020)). Cell types are multitudinous, including neural stem cells, oligodendrocyte progenitor cells, mesenchymal stem cells, Schwann cells, olfactory ensheathing cells or genetically modified cells that can express specific proteins (e.g., growth factors) (for review (Ahuja et al., 2020)). Biomaterial scaffolds have also been used to create bridges across the irreversible lesions, improve efficiency of delivery of therapeutic agents or drugs and enhance neuronal survival (Tran et al., 2020; Shultz and Zhong, 2021; Xu et al., 2021), for review (Shen et al., 2021)).

The ultimate goal of all these approaches is to reactivate impaired spinal neuronal network and restore motor ability after SCI. Administration of agonists/antagonists or channel blockers of neurotransmitter receptors and ion channels exerts modulatory effects on the excitability of MNs. For instance, administration of monoaminergic agonists that activate serotoninergic and adrenergic receptors in spinalized animals can restore MN excitability (Heckman et al., 2009). On the other hand, CLP257, a KCC2 enhancer, increases KCC2 membrane expression and function in lumbar MNs, ameliorating symptoms of spasticity in a rat model of SCT (Bilchak et al., 2021). Nimodipine, an L-type calcium channel blocker, also prevents spasticity after SCI (Marcantoni et al., 2020). Recent study on transplantation of human spinal GABAergic neurons into injured rat spinal cord revealed a reduced MN hyperexcitability, alleviated spasticity and improvement of locomotion after impacted SCI, by reorganizing inputs to MNs after the grafted GABA neurons integrate into the local neural circuit (Gong et al., 2021). These examples show that MNs, a final motor output of the spinal network, is a promising target for treatment of SCI.

3.4. Does BDNF Treatment Modulate Excitability of Spinal Cord Motoneuron?

3.4.1. BDNF properties

BDNF is a member of the neurotrophin family widely expressed in numerous groups of neurons in the central and peripheral nervous system; BDNF signaling is crucial for neuronal survival, growth, differentiation and regeneration (Hofer and Barde, 1988; Lipsky and Marini, 2007; Macias et al., 2007; Macias et al., 2009; Colucci-D'Amato et al., 2020). Three isoforms are translated from the *bdnf* gene, including pro-domain of BDNF, pro-BDNF and mature BDNF (Foltran and Diaz, 2016; Kowianski et al., 2018) (**Figure 3.9**). Except that the mature form of BDNF protein elicits cellular responses via binding to tropomyosin receptor kinase B (TrkB) receptor, both the pro-domain of BDNF and pro-BDNF have also been identified as independent signaling molecules, which regulate distinct cellular processes through binding to specific receptors.



Figure 3.9. BDNF isoforms and their binding receptors. Three isoforms including pro-domain of BDNF, pro-BDNF and mature BDNF are produced after intra- or extracellular cleavage. The pro-domain of BDNF binds preferentially to the sortilin receptor, while pro-BDNF exhibits a high affinity to p75 receptor. The mature BDNF displays highest affinity to the TrkB receptor. A schematic is adapted from (Kowianski et al., 2018).

The pro-domain of BDNF binds to a Vps10p domain protein, sortilin, while pro-BDNF exhibits a high affinity to p75 receptor (containing the death domain which mediates pro-apoptotic signaling) and lower affinity to TrkB receptor (Chen et al., 2005; Anastasia et al., 2013; Zanin et al., 2017). In contrast to pro-BDNF, mature BDNF binds to TrkB with high affinity, and with lower affinity to the p75 receptor (Reichardt, 2006). The different receptor binding properties endows the three BDNF isoforms distinct roles. Although the exact functions of the pro-domain of BDNF are unclear, it was shown to function as an independent ligand to negatively modulate neuronal architecture and morphology, causing growth cone retraction (Dieni et al., 2012; Anastasia et al., 2013) and reduction of dendritic spine density (Guo

et al., 2016). Pro-domain of BDNF was shown to facilitate hippocampal long-term depression (LTD) (Mizui et al., 2015) and its activity was also linked to Alzheimer's disease (Lim et al., 2015). Compared with pro-domain of BDNF, pro-BDNF displays distinct functions. Pro-BDNF binding to p75 receptor can regulate neuronal survival and give rise to retraction of neurite growth cones and reduction of dendritic spine density via triggering signaling cascades including JNK, caspase 3, Ras and NF-kB (Teng et al., 2005; Sun et al., 2012; Arango-Lievano et al., 2015). Application of pro-BDNF also facilitated NMDAR- dependent LTD in hippocampal slices following low frequency stimulation (Pang et al., 2004).

The mature BDNF is the most extensively studied isoform, displaying opposite functions to pro-BDNF. The properties of mature BDNF, such as promoting dendritic growth, axonal branching, formation and maturation of synapses (Cohen-Cory and Fraser, 1995; Martínez et al., 1998; McAllister et al., 1999), underlines the crucial roles of mature BDNF in the development of both central and peripheral nervous system (McAllister et al., 1999; Bibel and Barde, 2000). Signaling of mature BDNF via TrkB receptor is also a major regulator of synaptic plasticity in the mammalian CNS, triggering long term potentiation (LTP) and mediating activity-dependent changes in structure and function of synapses through mitogen activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase (MAPK/ERK), phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and phospholipase C γ (PLC γ) pathways (Numakawa et al., 2010; Leal et al., 2015; Kowianski et al., 2018). My dissertation is with emphasis on regulatory roles of the mature BDNF. Therefore the "BDNF" in the remainder of the text refers to mature BDNF.

3.4.2. BDNF in the treatment of SCI

Our and other studies have shown that in the spinal cord, BDNF is expressed in numerous groups of neurons including MNs, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, microglia and macrophages, regulating the survival and function of these cells (Dougherty et al., 2000; Gómez-Pinilla et al., 2001; Ikeda et al., 2001; Skup et al., 2002; Macias et al., 2007; Macias et al., 2009). Although both increased and decreased levels of BDNF and TrkB have been detected after SCI (Dougherty et al., 2000; Hutchinson et al., 2004; Macias et al., 2009; Garraway and Huie, 2016) raising the discussions on its deficit or lack of deficit and availability in postlesion conditions, BDNF is regarded as a potential promoter of motor functions after SCI, owing to its crucial regulatory role in axonal regeneration, neuronal excitability and synaptic transmission (Seebach et al., 1999; Arvanian and Mendell, 2001). Early studies showed that BDNF rescues spinal MNs from injury-induced cell death (Yan et al., 1992; Clatterbuck et al., 1994; Novikov

et al., 1997). Locomotor training improved the recovery of locomotor function of hindlimbs in spinal animals, which is coinstantaneous with an upregulated BDNF expression in the lumbar spinal cord (Gómez-Pinilla et al., 2002; Gomez-Pinilla et al., 2007; Macias et al., 2009; Cote et al., 2011; Joseph et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2015). In agreement with these data, the locomotion recovery after treadmill training in rats with SCI can be inhibited by blocking of BDNF-TrkB signaling, indicating that the training-triggered upregulation of BDNF is essential for functional recovery after SCI (Li et al., 2019). Similarly, electrical stimulation is also able to increase BDNF levels in the spinal cord, documented in the rat contusion SCI model (Ghorbani et al., 2020) and peripheral nerve injury model (Al-Majed et al., 2000; Huang et al., 2013). Electrical stimulation was shown to act on BDNF levels through activating a Ca²⁺- and Erk-dependent signaling pathways (Wenjin et al., 2011). Given that locomotor training and electrical stimulation also lead to alteration of MN excitability, while preparing our project we speculated that the upregulated BDNF contributes in part to this changed MN excitability. The stimulation of BDNF content by these two approaches underlines the rationale for exogenous application of BDNF protein or its gene, which can be used as an independent intervention to promote recovery of locomotion of animals with SCI.

So far, approaches for exogenous application of BDNF to the injured spinal cord include grafts of tissues or cells expressing BDNF, injection of viral vectors to deliver BDNF gene, intrathecal infusion by minipump, biomaterial-based drug delivery system or 3D- printed scaffolds integrated with BDNF (Ziemlińska et al., 2014; Harvey et al., 2015; Hernandez-Torres et al., 2017; Ghosh et al., 2018; Charsar et al., 2019; Marchionne et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2021; Sieck et al., 2021). Purified or recombinant BDNF protein, mRNA of BDNF or tissues/cells secreting BDNF have been used for the application, which is rostral or caudal to the injury or targets the injury site (Harvey et al., 2015; Crowley et al., 2019). For instance, a graft with BDNF or NT3 neurotrophic factors into T12 spinal transection site promoted and enhanced locomotor recovery in untrained, spinalized cats, which was comparable with that in cats receiving a training instead (Boyce et al., 2007; Ollivier-Lanvin et al., 2015). By using a programmable and implantable mini-pump, BDNF was administered to the lumbar spinal cord in cats with thoracic SCT, which significantly improved the recovery of weight-bearing plantar stepping (Marchionne et al., 2020). Directly injected BDNF mRNA nano-micelles into the injured tissue was also shown to improve motor function recovery in mice with contusion SCI (Crowley et al., 2019). Importantly, our previous

study has shown that overexpression of BDNF in lumbar spinal segments caudal to the lesion site, achieved from the adeno-associated (AAV) viral vector carrying BDNF transgene, may lead to robust early locomotor recovery even in rats with complete spinal transection; rats did not require tactile stimulation of the tail to trigger treadmill walking and performed steps with plantar feet placement (Ziemlińska et al., 2014), what disclosed the potential of lumbar spinal circuits completely devoid of descending inputs to reorganize and trigger motor activity.

3.4.3. BDNF regulates MN excitability in the locomotion recovery after SCI

Despite that variety of studies demonstrate that BDNF can promote locomotor recovery of animals with SCI, the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying functional improvement are not fully elucidated. In our previous work, in spinal rats which received AAV-BDNF and were planned to receive 5 weeks of locomotor training, extensive myoclonus with multiple hindlimb jerks and tremor triggered by the training did not allow to continue the experiments in that schedule (E. Ziemlińska, unpublished observations). Animal behavior suggested generation of hyperexcitability within the spinal network, but no analysis of molecular changes could be done to identify response of MNs to that treatment.

In the spinal animals with partial lesion, BDNF was shown to promote sprouting and formation of connections between corticospinal neurons and the spared descending propriospinal interneurons; that allowed the signals from corticospinal tract to bypass the injury site and reach the distal network (Vavrek, 2006). However, in SCT animals treated with BDNF, the growth of axons is barely beyond the lesion cavity (Jakeman et al., 1998; Boyce et al., 2007; Ollivier-Lanvin et al., 2015; Krupka et al., 2017; Marchionne et al., 2020). Therefore, in these conditions BDNF- induced recovery of hindlimb locomotion was deemed to be unlikely associated with axonal regeneration across the lesion site into caudal spinal cord. Rather, BDNF transported anterogradely or retrogradely from the administration site to the lumbar spinal cord and subsequent BDNF/TrkB signaling was proposed to trigger activation of the local locomotor circuitry within the CPG to facilitate locomotion (Jakeman et al., 1998).

Of note, BDNF appears to impact the intrinsic excitability of the spinal MNs. Application of BDNF to the medial gastrocnemius muscle which led to retrograde transport of BDNF to MNs innervating the muscle, significantly increased an electrical excitability of the targeted MNs (Gonzalez and Collins, 1997). Administration of AAV-BDNF into injured spinal cord also increased excitability of ankle extensor MNs in the completely transected rat spinal cord, which was indicated by a reduced rheobase

(Boyce et al., 2012). These effects are most probably owing to the enhancement of excitatory synaptic transmission at Glu synapses (Carvalho et al., 2008; Shinoda et al., 2014; Rauti et al., 2020). So far, increased BDNF availability in the spinal cord was shown to modulate presynaptic components of inhibitory signaling and the potassium chloride co-transporter KCC2 expression in MNs (Rivera et al., 2004; Ziemlińska et al., 2014), as well as gating of ion channels including Na⁺, Ca²⁺ and K⁺ channels (Blum et al., 2002; Rose et al., 2004). Expanding the scope of investigation on changes affecting neurotransmitter receptors and channels in MNs to identify (1) potential molecular players in generating hyperexcitability in MNs and (2) BDNF role in this phenomenon, is ahead of us.

4. Assumptions and Aims of the thesis

In the spinal cord appropriate excitability of MNs is indispensable for the running of motor network. MN excitability shapes motor output and motor activity through directly innervated muscles (Rossi et al., 2012; Taylor et al., 2020). Injury to the spinal cord leads to dysfunction of motor network, in which MNs with altered excitability fail to properly drive skeletal muscle contractions. Hyperexcitability of MNs has been implicated in SCI-caused involuntary muscle contractions and generation of spasticity impeding the recovery of locomotion at late postlesion period (D'Amico et al., 2014b). Development of its molecular background requires identification, but in animal models changes in neurotransmission-related molecules in MNs were studied mostly at the late postlesion phase, when hyperexcitability is well established. Because in rodents the onset of spasticity can be seen as early as one week postinjury, I hypothesized that after the acute phase, fast molecular changes of lumbar MNs develop in response to the loss of inputs, which may disturb the balance of excitatory and inhibitory receptors and related ion channels and transporters in MNs.

It became the first aim of my work to clarify the direction and extent of transcriptional regulation of receptors mediating excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission and of functionally associated membrane channels and transporters in hindlimb MNs at the second week after SCT, when the excitability restores. Since the activity of MNs innervating the ankle extensor and flexor muscles is differently affected by SCT, I aimed to examine separately gene expression in pools of MNs innervating ankle extensor (Gastrocnemius lateralis; GL) and flexor (Tibialis anterior; TA) muscles.

There is a premise that brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) spinal overexpression promotes locomotion recovery in part through modulating the excitability of the spinal cord MNs, but may promote also undesirable hyperexcitability. I hypothesized that BDNF treatment may alter molecular changes in MNs caused by SCT.

Therefore, the second aim of my work was to characterize the effect of intraspinal AAV-BDNF administration on gene expression of the proteins studied in the first part of the study, and identify target molecules of pro-excitogenic potential at two weeks after treatment, when significant locomotion recovery is observed, but episodes of myoclonic jerks are also reported.

5. Materials and Methods

5.1. Basic Materials, Experimental Apparatus, Animals

Compound	Company
Acids: HCl, H ₃ PO ₄ , CH ₃ COOH	POCH, Gliwice, Poland
Acrylamide, bis-acrylamide	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Ammonium persulphate (APS)	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Benzamidine hydrochloride	SERVA Electrophoresis GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany
Bovine serum albumin (BSA)	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Coomasie® Brillant Blue R-250 (Blue G)	SERVA Electrophoresis GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany
DEPC (diethylpyrocarbonate)	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Glycerol	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Inorganic salts: NaH ₂ PO ₄ x H ₂ O, Na ₂ HPO ₄ , NaCl, KCl, MgCl ₂ , NaHCO ₃	POCH, Gliwice, Poland
Jung tissue-freezing medium	Leica, Nussloch, Germany
Polyvinyl alcohol - Mowiol (4-88)	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
NaOH	POCH, Gliwice, Poland
NP40	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Organic solvents: acetone, ethanol, heptane, methanol	POCH, Gliwice, Poland
Paraformaldehyde	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate (SDS)	SERVA Electrophoresis GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany
TEMED (N,N,N',N' -tetrametyloetylenodiamina)	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Thimerosal	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Tris-base	SERVA Electrophoresis GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany
Tris-EDTA (TE) buffer; pH 8.0	Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, US
Triton X-100	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Tween 20	MP Biomedicals, LLC, Santa Ana, CA, US
β-mercaptoethanol	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US

Table 5.2 Experimental Apparatus

Name	Company
Analytical balance AB204-S	Mettler-Toledo GmbH, Columbus, US
Autoclave 2100	Prestige Medical Ltd, Blackburn, United Kingdom
Centrifuge 5430 R	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany
Centrifuge MPW-60	MPW Med. Instruments, Warsaw, Poland
Eppendorf BioSpectrometer® basic	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany
Eppendorf Cuvette (50-2000µl)	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany
GeneAmp PCR System 2400	Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, US
Heidolph Rotamax 120 platform shaker	Heidolph Instruments GmbH, Schwabach, Germany
IKA Color squid red	IKA Werke GmbH & Co. KG, Staufen, Germany
IKA VXR Vibrax	IKA Werke GmbH & Co. KG, Staufen, Germany
Leica cryostat (CM1850)	Leica Biosystems GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany
Leica Laser Microdissection system LMD7000	Leica Microsystems GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany
LightCycler® 96 Instrument	Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany
Mini Protean III vertical electrophoresis apparatus	BioRad, Munich, Germany
Multi-Spin	Biosan, Riga, Latvia
Nikon Eclipse 80i fluorescence microscope, CCD Evolution VF digital camera	Nikon Corporation, Tokyo, Japan Media Cybernetics, Inc., Silver Spring, US
NV-GS400 video camera	Panasonic Corporation, Kadoma, Osaka, Japan
pH meter 430	Corning Incorporated, New York, US
Polytron homogenizer PT 1200E	Kinematica AG, Luzern, Switzerland
Thermo Shaker TS-100	Biosan, Riga, Latvia
Treadmill	Panlab S.L. Barcelona, Spain
Ultrasonic-0.5 cleaner	Polsonic Sp.zo.o. Warsaw, Poland
ULTRA-TURRAX mechanical homogenizer T8	IKA-Werke GmbH & Co. KG, Staufen, Germany
Vortex-Genie 2	Scientific Industries Inc, New York, US
Zeiss LSM780 confocal microscope	Carl Zeiss AG, Jena, Germany

Table 5.3. Experimental Kits

Name	Company
ZR RNA MiniPrep [™] isolation kit, No. R1065	Zymo research, Irvine, US
Arcturus PicoPure [™] RNA Isolation Kit No. KIT0204	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, US
QuantiTect® Whole Transcriptome kit, No.207043, 207045	Qiagen, Hilden, Germany
Quant-iT [™] PicoGreen [™] dsDNA Assay Kit, No. P7589	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, US
Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit, No. 04897030001	Roche Molecular Systems Inc, Pleasanton, US
LightCycler 480 probe master No. 04887301001	Roche Molecular Systems Inc, Pleasanton, US
ChemiKine [™] BDNF Sandwich ELISA Kit, No. CYT306	Merck Millipore, Burlington, MA, US

Animals

The study has been performed on 72 adult male Wistar rats weighing on arrival 230–350 g. Animals were outbred colony (International Laboratory Code Registry: Cmdb:Wi) of the Wistar rats (RRID_RGD_13508588) supplied by Medical University of Białystok, Poland. The animals were bred in the animal house of the Nencki Institute of Experimental Biology in Warsaw, with free access to water and pellet food, under standard humidity and temperature conditions, at a 12 h light-dark cycle. Rats were initially housed in groups of 4–6 and following surgery they were housed individually. Experimental protocols involving animals, their surgery and care were approved by the First Local Ethics Committee in Warsaw (no 535/2014 and 782/2015) and were in compliance with the guidelines of the European Community Council Directive 2010/63/UE of 22 September 2010 on protection of animals used for scientific purposes.

Analytical	Animal	Tracer IM	SCT	intraspina	al injection	Locomotor	WB	IF	LCM/
procedure	group	injection		PBS	AAV -BDNF	performance			qPCR
	Control	+							9
LCM	SCT	+	+						9
LCM	SCT-PBS	+	+	+		+			7
	SCT-BDNF	+	+		+	+			7
	Control						6		
Biochemistry	SCT-PBS		+	+			5		
	SCT-BDNF		+		+		5		
T	Control	+						8	
IMMUNO-	SCT-PBS	+	+	+		+		8	
mstochennstry	SCT-BDNF	+	+		+	+		8	

Table 5.4. Group of Rats and Experimental Procedures. Survival time: 13-16 days*

*Rats survived 13-16 days depending on their progress in locomotor performance

5.2. Methods

5.2.1. Retrograde tracing of motoneurons

The animals were given subcutaneous injection of Butomidor (butorfanolum, 1.5 mg/300 g b.w.; Richter Pharma, Wels, Austria) (Table 5.5) as an analgesic premedication and then were anesthetized with isoflurane (1–2.5% in oxygen; Baxter, Lessines, Belgium) via a facemask. This procedure is advised and generally accepted in this type of surgery by scientific and veterinary community. The skin overlaying selected muscles was shaved and disinfected with 3% hydrogen peroxide at the incision sites over the bellies of the GL, TA and Sol muscles. Cholera toxin conjugated with Alexa Fluor 555 (0.01% solution in phosphate buffered saline, Molecular Probes, US), cholera toxin conjugated with Alexa Fluor 488 (0.01% solution in phosphate buffered saline, Molecular Probes, US) and Fast Blue (2% aqueous solution, Dr. Illing Plastics GmbH, Germany) were injected bilaterally to GL, TA and Sol muscles respectively, to label MNs innervating GL, TA and Sol muscles 2 weeks before spinal cord transection. The position of the needle in the muscle belly was carefully inspected throughout with the use of magnifying glasses. Injection lasted around 10 mins; the needle was left in the muscle for at least 5 min after the injection was completed in order to avoid leakage of the tracer. The injection site was cleaned and the skin sutured. The analgesic Tolfedine (tolfenamic acid 4%, 4 mg/kg, s.c.; Vetoquinol, Lure Cedex, France) was given during five postoperative days; Baytril (Enrofloxacinum 5 mg/kg; Bayer GmbH, Leverkusen, Germany) was administered over five consecutive days to prevent infection.

Thereafter plastic collars (Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, Massachusetts, US) were put on each animal to protect their wounds from licking for two days, and rats were returned to individual cages with access to food and water ad libitum.

Name	Producer	Action	Dose	Administration
AErrane (Izofluran)	Baxter, Lessines, Belgium	General anesthesia	3-4% - introduction 1.5-3.5% maintaining	Inhalation, mixture with oxygen
Butomidor	Richter Pharma AG, Wels, Austria	Butorphanol, 10mg/ml – premedication	3.3 mg/kg	intraperitoneal
Heparin	WZF, Polfa S. A. Poland	5000 j.m./ml - anticoagulant	0.1 ml	intracardiac, during perfusion
Xylocaine	Astra Zeneca AB, Sweden	Lidocaini hydrochloridum 2%	0.4 ml	intracardiac, during perfusion
Vetbutal	Biowet Puławy, Poland	Sodium pentobarbital 50 mg / ml - terminal anesthesia	80 mg/kg	intraperitoneal
Tolfedine	Vetoquino, Lure Cedex, France	Tolfenamic acid 4% - non- steroidal antiinflammatory drug, analgesic	4 mg/kg	subcutaneous
Baytril	Bayer Animal Health GmbH, Leverkusen, Germany	Enrofloxacin 2.5% - antibiotic	5 mg/kg	subcutaneous
Sul-Tridin 24%	ScanVet Sp. z o.o., Gniezno, Poland	Sulfadiazine 200 mg / ml trimethoprim 40 mg / ml; prevents infections	30 mg/kg	subcutaneous
Vetaflunix	VET-AGRO Sp. z o. o., Lublin, Poland	Flunixin 50 mg / ml (as flunixin meglumine) anti-inflammatory, analgesic drug	2.5 mg/kg	subcutaneous

Table 5.5. Medicines and drugs for animal surgery, post-surgery care and perfusion

5.2.2. Spinal cord transection

Rats were spinalized at low thoracic segments under aseptic conditions (Figure 5.1). The caudal thoracic vertebrae were exposed by incision of the skin and muscles with a fine scalpel. The vertebrae

were stabilized by insertion of hooks into the connective tissue and muscles around the incision. A laminectomy was performed at the level of T9/10 vertebrae. The dura was opened and lignocainum hydrochloricum (2%; Astra Zeneca AB, Sodertalje, Sweden) was applied to the surface of the spinal cord. The spinal cord was then completely transected using surgical scissors and the gap between the rostral and caudal ends was enlarged by aspiration to approximately 1 mm, washed with warm 0.9% NaCl (approximately 36°C) and dried with absorbable cellulose. The tissue surrounding the lesion area was closed with surgical sutures and the skin over the wound was closed with stainless steel staples. The antibiotic Sultridin (30 mg/kg, Norbrook, Ireland) was administered during five consecutive days and an analgesic Vetaflunix (2.5 mg/kg, subcut., VET AGRO, Poland) for five postoperative days. Immediately after the surgery, the rats were placed individually in warm cages, and inspected until fully awaken. The animals were attended for general inspection, cleaning of their body and for manual bladder expression twice daily. The animals exhibited no significant health problems for weeks after spinalization except for occasional bladder bleeding during the initial post-surgery days. Spontaneous micturition returned in the second post-surgery week.



Figure 5.1. Experimental model 1: Complete spinal cord transection. Neurotracers were injected bilaterally into the ankle extensor (GL and Sol) and flexor (TA) muscles to label the respective MNs. Two weeks later, complete transection of the spinal cord was done at the spinal cord Th9-10 segments.

5.2.3. AAV-BDNF and PBS intraspinal injections

Surgical procedures (**Figure 5.2**) were performed as described (Macias et al., 2009) except that the animals were given a subcutaneous injection of butorphanol analgesic (Butomidor, Richter Pharma, Wels, Austria; 3.3 mg/kg) as a premedication and then anesthetized with Isoflurane (Baxter, Lessines, Belgium, 1–2.5% in oxygen) via facemask. The first laminectomy was performed at the thoracic (Th) 9–10 vertebrae, and the cord was completely transected at the Th9–10. The second laminectomy was

performed at the Th 11–12 vertebrae to expose the spinal cord for injections. After opening the dura and pia maters AAV-BDNF or PBS were injected via a fine glass capillary, inserted into the spinal cord bilaterally, about 0.7 mm from the midline, at 1 mm in depth. Surgical stereomicroscope Nikon SMZ 1000 was used to control positioning and movement of the capillary and avoid bending of the spinal cord. One µL of either a viral particle solution (3.6×10⁸ AAV particles) or PBS were injected at a speed of 0.1 mL per minute (sp 101i syringe pump, WPI, Sarasota, FL, US). Injections were given bilaterally within half an hour after spinal cord transection. Five minutes after injection, the capillary was removed, the cut tissues were sutured, the skin over the wound was closed with sterile stainless-steel staples, and 5 mL of 0.9% NaCl was injected SC. The antibiotic Sultridin (30 mg/kg, Norbrook, Ireland) and analgesic Vetaflunix (2.5 mg/kg, SC, VET AGRO, Poland) was administered during five consecutive days. The rats were inspected daily, and bladders were voided manually.



Figure 5.2. Experimental model 2: AAV-BDNF overexpression in spinal neurons. First, neurotracers were injected bilaterally into the extensor and flexor muscles. Two weeks later, complete transection of the spinal cord was done at Th9-10 segments, and AAV-BDNF or PBS was injected into L1-2 segment.

5.2.4. Evaluation of treadmill locomotion by the use of the modified BBB scale

Basso-Beattie-Bresnahan (BBB) scale for evaluation of quadrupedal locomotion, modified by Antri and co-workers (mBBB) (Antri et al., 2002) was used, as this allows for evaluation of hindlimb movements on a moving treadmill when assisted by the experimenter. Thirty-eight rats were subjected to intramuscular injections of tracers as described above. Among them, thirty animals were subjected to subsequent complete spinal cord transection together with intraspinal injections either of PBS (N=15, SP-PBS group) or the AAV-BDNF vector (N=15, SP-BDNF group) below the lesion site (see details in Table 1 and 2). The control group consisted of eight non-lesioned rats. The locomotion of the SP-PBS and SP-BDNF rats was examined on a running treadmill.

Five days before surgery, rats were accustomed to the treadmill walking twice daily, as described previously (Macias et al., 2009; Ziemlińska et al., 2014). Examination of locomotion of spinal animals started five days after surgery. Both forelimbs and rostral trunk were placed on a platform located 1 cm above the treadmill belt, while the hindlimbs were placed on the running treadmill. An experimenter limited lateral and vertical movements of the trunk and secured the proper position of the trunk and forelimbs during testing (Figure 3.4). All rats were examined to walk on the treadmill running with a speed of 0.05 m/s during two 2 min sessions with 1 min break in home cages. All treadmill walking sessions were recorded with a digital camera (Panasonic NV- GS400) at 25 frames/s. The camera was placed perpendicularly to the longitudinal axis of the rat's body, so that the side views of the left and right hindlimb (1 min each) were recorded during session. To monitor the timeline of motor recovery after BDNF or PBS treatments, locomotion of the rats was examined at the 5th, 8th, 11th, 13th days postlesion, and in the SP-BDNF group this examination was additionally performed at 14th, 15th, 16th, 17th days (Table 6.2). The locomotion sessions were followed by 1 min observation in the open-field. This timetable has been chosen as in our previous study it was shown that BDNF overexpression in the lumbar segments improved locomotor performance of spinalized rats on a running treadmill at early time point (~2 weeks) with slower but unstable improvement observed till 6-7 weeks. At this late time point, BDNF treated rats displayed increased frequency of clonic movements which attenuated the quality of locomotor movements (Ziemlińska et al., 2014). Testing days of each rat are specified in Table 2.

5.2.5. Tissue preparation and Laser Microdissection (LMD)

Rats were deeply anesthetized with a lethal dose of Morbital (pentobarbital 120 mg/kg, Biowet Puławy Ltd., Poland) and perfused transcardially with 250 ml ice-cold 0.01 M PBS ([in mM] 154 NaCl, 1.3 Na₂HPO₄, 2.5 NaH₂PO₄, pH 7.4). The vertebral column was excised, placed on ice. The spinal cord lumbar (L) 3-6 segments were rapidly dissected in a cold room, put immediately in dry ice-precooled tubes and stored in -80 °C until sectioning.

The frozen L3-6 segments were surrounded by Jung tissue-freezing medium (Leica, Nussloch, Germany, cat no 14020108926) and cut into 25 µm thick longitudinal sections on the cryostat (Leica

CM1850) at -20°C. The sections were mounted onto RNase-free PET-Membrane Frame Slides (Leica, No. 11505190), 4 sections/slide. Slides were put immediately to the dry ice precooled box and stored at -80 °C until processing for LMD. Prior to LMD, slides were dehydrated with ethanol in the following order: 70%, 80%, 90% and 100% ethanol, 30s each, followed by 100% ethanol (fresh) for 30s. After dehydration sections were cleared in 100% xylene washes (1x for 30s, 1x for 180s) and air dried for 3-5 mins. Leica Laser Microdissection system LMD7000 was used to isolate the MNs (**Figures 5.3, 5.4**).



Figure 5.3. Laser Microdissection (LMD) set-up. Stages of: selection of the area of interest, cell isolation and transfer are shown on the left.

For LMD the RNase-free caps of 0.2 ml tubes were put on the tube holder for sample collection and filled with 20 µl extraction buffer (from Arcturus[™] PicoPure[™] RNA Isolation Kit, KIT0204, Applied Biosystems). The air-dried slide was placed on the slide holder of the LMD 7000 system. Under LMD system microscope (objectives x10, 0.32 NA and x63, 0.7 NA) attached to the software unit, MNs were identified, selected and then cut with UV laser. After the collection was complete for one slide, the microfuge tube was removed from the holder. Collected MNs were lysed by incubating the sample in the buffer for 30 mins at 42 °C. The lysates were spinned down for 2 mins at 800 x g to collect them at the bottom of the tubes. The sample tubes were immediately frozen by placing them on dry ice and then stored at -80°C. To limit RNA degradation, samples were collected for up to 60 mins per slide.



Figure 5.4. Laser microdissection procedures. Upper panel: scheme of the spinal cord with the lesion site (marked in red) at the Th 11/12 segments, and lumbar segments under study; the distribution of GL MNs (red) and TA MNs (green) in L3-6 is shown on the diagram enlargement (middle panel). Lower panel: representative photomicrographs showing GL and TA MNs before LMD and the tissue section remaining after microdissection. The figure is modified from our study (Grycz et al., 2019).

5.2.6. RNA isolation from microdissected MNs and qPCR

The total RNA from the GL and TA MNs was extracted using Arcturus PicoPure[™] RNA Isolation Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, No. KIT0204) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was then pre-amplified and reverse-transcribed using a QuantiTect[®] Whole Transcriptome kit (Qiagen, No.207043, 207045). The final concentration of the cDNA was determined by utilizing Quant-iT[™] PicoGreen[™] dsDNA Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, No. P7589). RT-qPCR was used to analyze gene expression level with glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) as internal control gene. The RT-qPCR reactions were performed in a 20 µl reaction mixture containing 7.4 µl PCR grade H₂O, 10 µl LightCycler 480 Probes Master solution (Roche, cat no. 04887301001) master, 0.4 µl forward primer (20 µM) of target gene, 0.4 µl reverse primer (20 µM) of target gene, 0.4 µl probe (10 µM) of target gene, 0.1 µl forward primer (20 µM) of GAPDH gene, 0.1 µl reverse primer (20 µM) of GAPDH gene, 0.2 µl probe (10 µM) of GAPDH gene, 1 µl diluted cDNA sample. Probes and primers are listed in **Table 5.6**. Roche LightCycler 96 was used to run the reactions with the following thermal cycling profile: preincubation at 95°C for 10 minutes, 65 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 10 seconds, annealing at 60°C for 10 seconds, and extension at 72°C for 10 seconds. Data were analyzed by using the LightCycler software. The $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method was used for relative quantification of gene expression level based on the target and reference genes' Ct (cycle threshold) value, the cycle number at which the amplification curve reaches the threshold line.

Gene	Gene Name of coded		Roche	Forward primer	Reverse Primer	Amplicor
symbol	protein		UPL No.	(5'-3')	(5'-3')	length/nt
Grial	AMPAR GluA1	NM_031608.1	69	tcccttgaccataaccttgg	ctcatgaatggcttggagaa	61
Gria2	AMPAR GluA2	NM_017261.2; NM_001083811.1	67	ggaggtgattccaaggaaaag	cccccgacaaggatgtaga	77
Gria3	AMPAR GluA3	NM_032990.2; NM_001112742.1	94	ccaagaatgcaccactgaag	ctgcgggagacatccact	109
Gria4	AMPAR GluA4	NM_017263.2; NM_001113184.1; NM_001113185.1	25	ggetaccattatatcategeaaa	ggtgtattaaaatctaccaactggaat	110
Grinl	NMDAR GluN1	NM_001270602.1	95	cctacacagctggcttctacag	cgaaggaaactcaggtggat	94
Grin2a	NMDAR GluN2A	NM_012573.3	94	cgtcatggtctccaggagtaa	cactgaagggttcgaggaaa	62
Grin2b	NMDAR GluN2B	NM_012574.1	106	tcctgcagctgtttggagat	gctgctcatcacctcattctt	95
Grin2c	NMDAR GluN2c	NM_012575.3	94	ggcactcctgcaacttctg	gttctggcagatccctgaga	76
Grin2d	NMDAR GluN2d	NM_022797.1	25	acatggtgcgatacaaccag	tgaaggcgtccagtttcc	75
Gabral	GABA _A R α1	NM_183326.2	129	tgacagtcattctctcccaagtc	tcagaacggtcgtcactcc	87
Gabra2	GABA _A R α2	NM_001135779.2	94	gacagacttctggatggttaca	ggtcacatagatgttggtggag	87
Gabra3	GABA _A R α3	NM_017069.3	129	cctacttgccatgtatcatgact	ggtcatggtgagaacagtggtg	113
Gabrb3	GABA _A R β3	NM_017065.1	80	atcgagctcccacagttctc	tcaatgagagtcgagggtagg	91
Gabrg2	GABA _A R γ2	NM_183327.1	75	ttgaagtgggagacacaaggt	cggacataaccacatagtcacc	111
Glra1	GlyR α1	NM_013133.1	69	ccggcaacacaaggaact	tetecacecteateateett	69
Glrb	GlyR β	NM_053296.1	29	ggatctattcaagagacaacaatgg	gcttgagtctggggtcgtt	79
Slc12a4	KCC1	NM_019229.2	101	acagagcgggatcgagag	ctctggtccatgtcatctgg	130
Slc12a5	KCC2	NM_134363.1	75	ttctggacaaccaccctca	ggcagaagcccttcacct	84
Slc12a6	KCC3	NM_001109630.1	124	gcgtcttacctgggtagtgg	tggagatggcagttaacattgta	95
Scn1a	Nav1.1	NM_030875.2	67	agaaccaggccacattggag	gttctgatgctgttgctgcc	120
Scn3a	Nav1.3	NM_013119.2	80	acagcgagagcaggagaga	cgtttcagtggtggtaccgt	83

Table 5.6. List of probes and primers

Scn8a	Nav1.6	NM_019266.3	67	agagcaaaaagaggccgagt tcttcaatggcgtcttccga		120
Scn9a	Nav1.7	NM_133289.2	129	ggtcatggtgattgggaacc	ttgtttgcatcggtgtcttcc	111
Cacna1b	Cav2.2	NM_001195199.1 NM_147141.1	73	cggcactggagatcaagc	gcagattagcccacacagaag	96
Cacna1d	Cav1.3	NM_001389225.2	69	cccttatccaccctgcgatg	agattettegaggaegggga	98
Kcnn1	SK1 (K _{Ca} 2.1)	NM_019313.1	124	tcggaaacaccagcgtaagt	cttcacagtccggagcttct	64
Kcnn2	SK2 (K _{Ca} 2.2)	NM_001309404.1; NM_019314.2	113	gcgttttgttatgaagactttaatga	gtgacatcctgttgatcatggta	132
Kcnn3	SK3 (K _{Ca} 2.3)	NM_019315.2	69	ttcagggctcccaattca	atttagctggctgccttgc	72
Kcnma l	KCa1.1	NM_031828.1	56	cctcacacagccctttgc	gggtgaggatattgtcattgaag	95
Grm1a	mGluR1A	NM_017011.1	101	caccgaagaagatgaattgga	gaatceteaggggteagett	69
Grm5	mGluR5	NM_017012.1	82	tccagcagcctagtcaacct	gattttccgttggagcttagg	71
Chrm2	M2R	NM_031016.2	64	ccaccttcagactgtcaacaatta	catggagaaaacacctatgatgag	76
Htrla	5-HTR1A	NM_012585.1	113	gggcaactccaaagagcac	cgggggcataggagttagat	62
Htr2a	5-HTR2A	NM_017254.1	69	agcactcgagccaaactagc	tggaagagcttttctgatgaca	71
Htr2b	5-HTR2B	NM_017250.2	129	cgcggtaataatccccacca	ccaccgccaaggacattaga	110
Htr2c	5-HTR2C	NM_012765.3	69	aagaaggtgttcgttggcct	ccgtttctcgtctagctgcc	106
Htr3a	5-HTR3A	NM_024394.2	65	ggctaactacaagaagggagtgc	accatatgtaggtggtcagaacc	131
Adrala	NAα1A	NM_017191.2	50	gcgtctgggtgctttctttg	ggctcctcattgatctggca	100
Adra1b	NAα1B	NM_016991.2	129	ttggctccccttcttcatcg	gagcacgggtagatgatggg	135
Adra1d	NAα1D	NM_024483.2	129	tgtgctggttccccttcttc	agcgggttcacacagctatt	124
GAPDH	GAPDH	NM_017008.4	*	ctgcaccaccaactgcttag	tgatggcatggactgtgg	92

*sequence: tttggcatcgtg. Synthesized by Institute of Biochemistry and Biophysics, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland

5.2.7. Immunofluorescence

Obtaining the tissue material for immunofluorescence analysis

Rats were deeply anesthetized with a lethal dose of sodium pentobarbital administered intraperitoneally. After confirming that the rat was unresponsive to pain stimuli, the abdominal wall was cut, the chest opened and 0.5 ml of a mixture of heparin (anticoagulant) and xylocaine (4: 1) was injected intracardially. One minute later, the aorta was cannulated, the right atrium was incised and the animal was perfused with an IKA peristaltic pump (the protocol and solutions used are shown in **Table 5.7, 5.8**). Table 5.7. List of solutions used for perfusion and perfusion parameters

Type of solution	volume	Pumping speed	Perfusion time
Perfusion buffer	250ml	100 ml/min	2.5 min
4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) solution in 0.2M PB	150ml	100 ml/min	1.5 min
4% PFA in 0.2M PB	300ml	22 ml/min	15 min

Table 5.8. Chemical composition of solutions used for animal perfusion and tissue preparation

Name	Composition
0.2 M PB pH 7.4	(A) 0.2 M NaH ₂ PO ₄ x 2H2O
phosphate buffer (A+B)	(B) 0.2 M NaHPO ₄
0.01 M Descripto Duffered Soling (DDS) pH 7.4	10 mM PB pH 7.4
0.01 M Phosphate Burlered Same (PBS) pH 7.4	150 mM NaCl
	3.7 mM KCl
0.01 M Phosphate Buffered Saline with 0.2% Triton X-100	PBS, pH 7.4
(PBST) pH 7.4	0.2% Triton X-100
	10 mM PB pH 7.4
Solino solution in phosphate buffer for animal perfusion	140 mM NaCl
Same solution in phosphate burier for annual perfusion	4.8 mM KCl
	6 mM NaHCO ₃
Tissue enventoation solution	10, 20 and 30% sucrose in 0.1M PB
rissue cryoprotection solution	0.1% Thimerosal
	50 g sucrose
Antifreeze solution	100 ml glycerol
(for storing tissue sections in the freezer)	42 ml 0.2M PB
	125 ml H2O
	48 ml 0.2M Tris-HCl pH 8.5
Mowiol solution	24 g glycerol
(medium for sealing slides)	9.6 g Mowiol (4-88)
	24 ml dH2O

Primary antibodies (1°Ab)				
Antigen	Host	Dilution	Company	
Anti-GluA1	Rabbit	1:100	Abcam, Cambridge, UK (ab15303)	
Anti-GluA2	Goat	1:200	Santa Cruz Inc., Dallas, Texas, US (sc-7610)	
Anti-GluN1	Goat	1:100	Santa Cruz Inc., Dallas, Texas, US (sc-1467)	
Anti-GluN2A	Rabbit	1:500	Alomone Labs, JerUSlem, Israel (AGC-002)	
Anti-VGluT1	Mouse	1:1000	Synaptic Systems GmbH, Göttingen, Germany (135 011)	
Anti-Synaptophysin	Guinea pig	1:1000	Synaptic Systems GmbH, Göttingen, Germany (101 004)	
Secondary antibodies (2°Ab) and fluorochromes				
Antigen	Host	Dilution	Company	
Anti-Goat (AF488)	Donkey	1:500	Jackson IR, West Grove, PA, United States (705-546-147)	
Anti-Goat (AF647)	Donkey	1:500	Invitrogen, Inc., Waltham, US (A32849)	
Anti-Rabbit (AF555)	Donkey	1:500	Invitrogen, Inc., Waltham, US (A32794)	
Anti-Rabbit (Cy3)	Donkey	1:800	Jackson IR, West Grove, PA, US (711-167-003)	
Anti-Guinea pig (AF647)	Donkey	1:500	Jackson IR, West Grove, PA, United States (706-605-148)	
Anti-Guinea pig (CF405S)	Donkey	1:500	Biotium, Inc., Fremont, CA, US (20356)	
Serum				
NDS (Normal Donkey Seru	ım)		Jackson IR, West Grove, PA, United States (017-000-121)	

Table 5.9. List of antibodies and reagents for immunofluorescence

The isolated blocks of spinal cord segments, dorsal ganglia, tibial nerve, and the soleus and gastrocnemius muscles were further fixed in a 4% paraformaldehyde solution in 0.1 M PB for approximately one hour at 4° C. For cryoprotection, the material was placed for several days in buffered sucrose solutions of increasing concentrations (**Table 5.8**) at 4° C, until they were saturated. The tissue was stored in a 30% sucrose solution at 4° C.

Preparation of spinal cord sections

Lumbar segments of the spinal cord were placed in plastic tubs filled with Tissue-freezing Medium (Leica Microsystems GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany) and immersed in cooled heptane (-80° C) for quick freezing. The plastic tubs were then stabilized for 1 hour at -18° C. The blocks were transferred to the cryostat chamber and fixed on the specimen disc. Transversely cut sections, 25 μ m thick, were stored as free-floating in the anti-freeze solution (**Table 5.8**) at -18°C.

Immunofluorescence detection of proteins

Transverse sections of the spinal cord were used to analyze the localization and measure the level of immunofluorescence-labeled proteins. Protein localization was identified by means of an indirect reaction, using two antibodies: primary (1° Ab), detecting the tested antigens, and secondary (2° Ab), coupled with a specific fluorochrome, recognizing the primary antibody.

A specificity control of the reaction was performed omitting the primary antibodies in the incubation medium, to test if there is a nonspecific binding of the secondary antibodies to the tissue. A single, double or triple labeling with primary antibodies was used to detect antigens that identify different proteins and to assess their co-localization. The actual reactions were preceded by test reactions with single and triple labeling. Comparison of the results of these reactions showed that the simultaneous triple labeling did not impair the intensity of the reaction products and did not result in nonspecific binding of the antibodies. The protocol for the IF reactions performed is shown in Table 5.10.

Action	Buffer	Time/ Temperature
1. Washing	PBS-T	3 x 5 min
2. Blocking	5% NGS w PBS-T	60 min / RT
3. 1°Ab	3% NGS w PBS-T	overnight / 4°C
4. Washing	PBS-T	3 x 5 min
5. 2°Ab	PBS-T	60 min / RT
6. Washing	PBS-T	2 x 5 min
7. Washing	PBS	2 x 5 min
8. Applying sections to the slides		
9. Drying	_	~ 5-10 min, RT
10. Mounting	Mowiol	

Table 5.10. Immunohistochemical procedure

Confocal microscopy: image acquisition and selection of optical parameters

The Zeiss LSM780 confocal microscope was used to collect images of IF reactions. The PL APO 63x / 1.4 Oil DIC lens was used. Stacks of digital images with dimensions of 2048×2048 pixels, with a pixel size of 0.05 µm, sampled in the Z axis every 0.15 µm were collected. Since the perikarya of α -MNs are large, there is usually part of MN in tissue sections of the core 25 µm thick. Typically, the

collected images consisted of a stack of about 64 scans, which corresponds to MN fragment of about 13 μ m in the Z axis. An argon and UV laser was used to induce fluorescence. Constant exposure parameters were used for each of the four channels in which the labeling was recorded.

5.2.8. Subcellular fractionation and Western Blot

Subcellular fractionation

The fractionation procedures referred to prior work with mouse and rat spinal cord tissue. Spinal cord samples were homogenized using an electric homogenizer (Polytron homogenizer PT 1200E, Table 5.2) in 20 volumes of lysis buffer. Homogenates were centrifuged at 5,000 x g for 5min at 4° C to generate a supernatant (S1) and a nuclear pellet (P1). The supernatant (S1) was collected into a new tube and centrifuged again at 13000 x g for 30 min at 4°C to produce a supernatant (S2) and a modestly synaptoneurosomal-enriched pellet fraction (P2). The S2 was collected into a new tube and the P2 was resuspended in 50µL of PBS containing protease and phosphatase inhibitor with vortexing and sonicating. All sample fractions were divided into two portions. One portion was used for measuring total protein concentration by Bradford method which will be described below; the other portion was stored at -80° C until used for Western Blot.

Measurements of total protein concentration with Bradford method

The total protein concentrations of the spinal cord subcellular fractions were measured by a modified Bradford method. The assay was carried out in 10mm Eppendorf Cuvettes using Eppendorf BioSpectrometer® basic (**Table 5.2**) according to the protocol from the Bradford Protein Assay kit (Bio-Rad, Munich, Germany). First, 100 μ L aqueous BSA solutions (in concentrations: 0; 20; 40; 60; 80 and 100 μ g/ml; 0 was used as blank) were prepared in duplicate to prepare the standard curve. In the meantime, two dilutions of experimental samples in 100 were prepared in ddH₂O. Then, 1mL Bradford working solution (**Table 5.11**) was added into each tube and mixed well with gentle pipetting.

Type of solution	Formulation
Lysis buffer	10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5) 320 mM Sucrose in H ₂ O (containing Roche Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Inhibitor Cocktail, Roche)
Loading Buffer 5x - for loading samples	62 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8 10% (w/v) SDS 5% (w/v) β-Mercaptoethanol 50% (v/v) glicerol 0.13% (w/v) bromophenol blue
Bradford's reagent A (Determination of protein concentration)	100 ml of 95% ethanol 200 ml of 88% orthophosphoric acid 350 mg of Serva Blue G
Bradford working solution B (Determination of protein concentration)	425 ml of dH2O 15 ml of 95% ethanol 30 ml of 88% orthophosphoric acid 30 ml Bradford Reagent A
Solution A - component of both polyacrylamide gels - denaturing electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	30% acrylamide 0.8% bis-acrylamide
Solution B - component of the resolving polyacrylamide gel - denaturing electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	1.5 M Tris-Cl pH 8.8 0.4% SDS
Solution C - component of the stacking polyacrylamide gel - denaturing electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	0,5 M Tris-Cl pH 6.8 0.4% SDS
10% ammonium persulfate (APS)	10% APS w dH ₂ 0
7.5% (1.5 mm thick) resolving gel - SDS-PAGE	 2.5 ml solution A 2.5 ml solution B 5 ml dH₂0 50 μl 10% APS 10 μl TEMED
5% (1.5 mm thick) stacking gel - SDS-PAGE	0.67 ml solution A 1ml solution C 2.3 ml dH ₂ 0 30 μl 10% APS 5 μl TEMED
Electrophoresis buffer - SDS-PAGE (1x)	25 mM Tris-base 192 mM glycine 0.1% SDS
Buffer for electrotransfer (1x)	25 mM Tris-base 192 mM glycine 0.01% SDS
Solution 0.02M TBST	20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4 150 mM NaCl 0.01% Tween 20
5% BSA solution - to block the PVDF membrane to prevent non-specific antibody binding	5% BSA in TBST pH 7.4
5% BSA solution - for 1° Ab dilution	5% BSA in TBST pH 7.4

Table 5.11. Solutions used for subcellular fractionation, Western Blot and protein assay

After incubation for 5 minutes at RT, the absorbance of the samples was spectrophotometrically measured at wavelength 595nm using Eppendorf BioSpectrometer® basic (**Table 5.2**). Concentrations of the experimental samples were calculated based on the standard curve. To keep the reliability of the results, BSA standard curve was prepared for each measurement.

Reagent	Application	Company
Spectra™ Multicolor Protein Ladder	Molecular weight standard (10–260 kDa)	Thermo Scientific, Inc., Waltham, US
ECL [™] Western Blotting Detection Reagents	Detection of proteins by WB method	GE Healthcare UK Ltd, Little Chalfont, UK
Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)	Component of buffers	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, US
Complete ULTRA	A set of protease inhibitors	Roche Applied Science, Penzberg, Germany
PhosSTOP	Set of phosphatase inhibitors	Roche Applied Science, Penzberg, Germany

Table 5.12. Reagents used for subcellular fractionation and Western Blot techniques

Table 5.13. Antibodies used to identify proteins by Western Blot technique

Antigen	Host	Dilution	Company
Anti-GluA2	Goat	1:1000	Santa Cruz Inc., Dallas, Texas, US (sc-7610)
Anti-GluN1	Goat	1:1000	Santa Cruz Inc., Dallas, Texas, US (sc-1467)
Anti-β-actin	Mouse	1:1000	Santa Cruz Inc., Dallas, Texas, US (sc-47778)
Anti-Goat (HRP)	Rabbit	1:2500	Invitrogen, Inc., Waltham, US (31402)
Anti-Mouse (HRP)	Goat	1:3000	Bio-Rad Inc., Hercules, California, US (170-5047)

SDS-PAGE

The polymerized gels (1.5 mm thick) consisting of 7.5% Separation gel and 5% stacking gel were prepared according to the protocol in **Table 5.11**. The border between separation gel and stacking gel was kept around 1 cm away from the lower edge of the comb. The Mini-Protean III apparatus (**Table 5.2**) was assembled by placing the prepared polymerized gels in the electrophoresis apparatus and filling the apparatus with ice-cold electrophoresis running buffer (**Table 5.11**). Subcellular fractions prepared and stored at -80° C in fractionation procedure were boiled for 5 minutes at 100° C in 1× concentrated

sample loading solution containing SDS (**Table 5.11**). For SDS-PAGE, around 10-30µg total protein in each sample was loaded into the gel well. The spectra multicolor broad range protein ladder (**Table 5.12**) was used as the molecular weight standard for proteins. One sample was repeated on all gels and used as an internal standard. After the electrophoresis instrument was set to a stable voltage state, the electrophoresis was started at voltage 90 V. After the sample passed through the stacking gel, the voltage was adjusted to 120 V. The electrophoresis was ended when the bromophenol blue reached the bottom of the gel.

Protein transfer to PVDF membranes

(1) Cut a suitable sized PVDF membrane (cut a corner to make a mark) which can fully cover the gel. In order to increase the hydrophilicity of the PVDF membrane, the membrane was soaked in 100% methanol for 1 min and then stabilized in the pre-cooled transfer buffer (min. 30 min). The Mini Gel Holder Cassette containing filter paper and sponge was also soaked in the pre-cooled transfer buffer in a square tray.

(2) After electrophoresis, the upper (stacking) gel was removed. One corner of the separation gel was cut to mark it, then gel was carefully peeled off from the glass plate, and placed in the pre-cooled transfer buffer.

(3) Mini Gel Holder Cassette was opened in the pre-cooled transfer buffer and the cassette was assembled in the order from bottom to top: the sponge on the black side (cathode) \rightarrow 3 layers of filter paper \rightarrow gel \rightarrow PVDF membrane \rightarrow 3 layers of filter paper \rightarrow sponge \rightarrow the white side of the cassette (anode). When place each layer, a glass coated rod was used to drive off the air bubbles. Then the cassette was closed and inserted into the electrode holder in the transfer electrophoresis tank filled with pre-cooled transfer membrane buffer. The transfer electrophoresis tank was surrounded in ice to keep low temperature. The transfer was carried out at a constant voltage of 60 V for 2 h.

Antigen detection

After transfer, the PVDF membrane was stabilized for 5-10 minutes in TBST buffer (**Table 5.11**). In order to detect proteins with different molecular weights in the same membrane, the PVDF membrane was cut into strips based on the molecular weights of the target proteins using as a reference the bands of molecular weight standards.

1. Blocking: in order to block non-specific binding sites on the membrane, the membrane was incubated in a 5% BSA solution in TBST for 1 hour at RT, with the side which was adjacent to the gel facing up.

2. Primary antibody (Ab) incubation: the antibodies that specifically recognized the epitopes of the target protein, as tested in the preliminary assays, were used (**Table 5.13**). The membrane was incubated in a Ab solution suspended in 2.5% BSA in TBST at 4° C overnight.

3. Secondary Ab incubation: after incubation with primary Ab, the membrane was washed 3 times with 1×TBST for 10 mins each time. Next, the membrane was incubated at RT for 1 hour with a secondary Ab solution (HRP conjugated) (**Table 5.13**) suspended in TBST buffer.

4. HRP-ECL autoradiography: after incubation with secondary Ab, the membrane was washed 3 times with TBST, 10 mins each. ECL solution (GE Healthcare, **Table 5.12**) was used to detect labeling according to its instructions. The chemiluminescent signal was recorded on an X-ray film or Fluor-S® MAX MultiImager (Bio-Rad). The membranes were exposed several times to optimize the signal.

5.2.9. Statistical analysis

The mean and standard deviation (SD) or standard error of the mean (SEM) were calculated for each data set. The Grubbs test of outliers was carried out for all data and outliers were discarded (https://www.graphpad.com/quickcalcs/Grubbs1.cfm). Statistical significance was accepted at $P \ge 0.05$. The STATISTICA 13.1 software (StatSoft Inc, Tulsa, OK, US) was used to analyze data. The following tests were used: the Shapiro-Wilk test to verify normality of distribution of all data; the Levene's test to verify homogeneity of variance in the experimental groups. Mann-Whitney U-test was used for comparisons of two independent groups of samples throughout the study, because normality of data distribution was not met in case of some data. Wilcoxon test for dependent samples were used for comparisons of data from TA and GL MNs within groups. The scatter plot and bar graphs were drawn by using GraphPad Prism 9.2.0 software (trial version) and CorelDraw software.

6. Results

6.1. Molecular identification of pro-excitogenic receptor and channel phenotypes in the lumbar MNs in after SCT

6.1.1. SCT at low thoracic level does not cause degeneration of MNs at lumbar 3-6 segments

GL and TA MNs were visualized under LMD microscope in fluorescence mode, as shown in **Figure 6.1A** (enlargement from **Figure 5.4**). GL MNs were located within the gray matter of the lumbar L4-6 segment, whereas majority of TA MNs were located in L3-4 segment, consistent with other studies (Nicolopoulos-Stournaras and Iles, 1983; Skup et al., 2012; Chopek et al., 2015; Mohan et al., 2015).



Figure 6.1. The morphology (A) and number (B) of GL and TA MNs isolated from the intact (CN) and spinalized (SCT) rats. A: representative photomicrographs of lumbar sections with traced GL and TA MNs show that the morphology and size of MNs is comparable between groups. B: the number of GL and TA MNs isolated from the CN and SCT groups of rats. Data are means +/- SEM. Differences between groups are non-significant (Mann-Whitney U Test). Nine rats per group were examined.

One profound feature of SCI is neuronal loss at and around the injury site. At the injury epicenter of severe SCI, cells die by necrosis or apoptosis (Li et al., 1996; Byrnes et al., 2007; Ling et al., 2013; Hassannejad et al., 2018). Significant loss of MNs has been observed by 48 h postinjury at 4.0 mm from the epicenter (Ling et al., 2013). Since in the present study the spinal MNs located at 13-15 mm from Th11 injury epicenter were the subject of gene expression analysis, it raised the necessity to identify whether neuron loss or shrinkage which may affect the collection of the material and transcript levels occurs. Therefore, during microdissection, the numbers of traced GL and TA MNs were counted on each

horizontal L3-6 section (**Figure 6.1A**). The results showed that the number of MNs of a given type was comparable between intact and spinalized rats (GL: SCT = 94% CN, p = 0.53; TA: SCT = 98% CN, p = 1.00; Mann-Whitney U Test).

In the spinal group the tracer deposits filled the cell bodies and the dendritic processes of MNs indicating that tracer transport to MNs and its maintenance were not impaired as compared to the control group. In addition, the morphology of the MNs perikarya in the lumbar segment was similar between CN and SCT rats, and no labeled apoptotic profiles or shrunken neurons were found in sections from SCT rats (**Figure 6.1B**). Thus, these results strongly suggest that complete SCT at thoracic level did not cause degeneration of MNs located at distal lumbar L3-6 segment.

6.1.2. Transcription rate of receptor and ion channel subunits in GL and TA MNs of the intact rats

In the present study, thirty-four genes (**Table 5.6**) were analyzed. The selected genes encode the major subunits of the excitatory (AMPA, NMDA), inhibitory (GABA_A, Gly), modulatory (mGlu, mACh, 5-HT, and NA) receptors, ion channels (Na⁺, Ca²⁺ and K⁺) and K⁺ - Cl⁻ cotransporters (KCCs).

In intact rats, all groups of genes showed similar expression pattern in the GL and TA MNs (**Figure 6.2**). Among them, genes encoding for majority of subunits of inhibitory receptors: *Gabrb3* (GABA_A β 3), *Gabrg2* (GABA_A γ 2), *Glra1* (Gly α 1), *Glrb* (Gly β), and *Kcnma1* (KCa1.1) channel demonstrated the highest transcript level, followed by *Scn8a* (Nav1.6), *Scn1a* (Nav1.1), *Grin2a* (GluN2A), *Grin2b* (GluN2B), *Kcnn2* (SK2), and *Gabra2* (GABA_A α 2) and *Gabra3* (GABA_A α 3) receptor subunits.

The remaining sets of genes displayed relatively low transcript levels in both pools of examined MNs. Among receptors, the subunits which combine to form subclasses of inhibitory GABA_AR and GlyR were more highly expressed than subunits of other neurotransmitter receptors and ion channels, both in GL and TA MNs.



Figure 6.2. Comparison of transcript levels of genes encoding major subunits of ionotropic excitatory (AMPA and NMDA), inhibitory (GABA_A and Gly) and neuromodulatory (mGlu, 5-HT, and NA) receptors, ion channels (Na⁺, Ca²⁺ and K⁺) and K⁺-Cl⁻ cotransporters KCCs in pools of MNs innervating Gastrocnemius lateralis (GL) and Tibialis Anterior (TA) muscles in intact rats. All groups of genes showed similar expression pattern in GL and TA MNs. N = 9 rats.

6.1.3. SCT differentially alters transcript level of subunits of glutamatergic AMPA, NMDA and mGluRs receptors

AMPARs are mainly tetramers consisting of GluA1, GluA2, GluA3, and GluA4 subunits, encoded by *Gria1*, *Gria2*, *Gria3* and *Gria4* genes, respectively (Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994; Diering and Huganir, 2018). As described in the Introduction, GluA2 undergoes a Q/R editing which alters a codon encoding glutamine (Q) to a codon encoding arginine (R) in GluA2 mRNA, rendering GluA2 virtually Ca²⁺ impermeable (Puchalski et al., 1994). Consequently, GluA2-containing AMPAR is impermeable to Ca²⁺, while GluA2-lacking AMPAR is Ca²⁺ permeable. In the brain, in the basal physiological state the vast majority of AMPARs consist of GluA2/GluA3, GluA1/GluA2 subunit combinations, with a small population of GluA1/GluA1 homomers (Diering and Huganir, 2018). Based on the quantitative comparisons our findings suggest that the same relationship takes place in the lumbar spinal cord motoneurons: *Gria2* (GluA2) and *Gria3* (GluA3) transcript levels were much higher than *Gria1* (GluA1) and *Gria4* (GluA4) transcript levels (**Figure 6.3**), suggesting that GluA2/GluA3 is the major subunit combination of AMPAR in GL and TA MNs. The expression level of *Gria4*, much lower than of the other subunits of AMPAR, is consistent with observation that *Gria4* is primarily expressed in early postnatal development, while *Gria1-3* are expressed in most neurons in the brain in the adulthood (Diering and Huganir, 2018).



Figure 6.3. SCT differentially affects the transcript levels of AMPAR and NMDAR subunits, with the same impact in GL and TA MNs. SCT led to a significant increase of *Gria1* (GluA1) subunit, and a decrease of *Gria3* (GluA3) subunit. A significant decrease of transcripts of all subunits of NMDAR except for *Grin2a* (GluN2A) was found. Upregulation of the transcript level of *Grm1a* (mGluR1A) in GL and TA MNs was accompanied by an increase of transcript level of *Grm5* (mGluR5) in GL MNs but not in TA MNs. Data are means +/- SEM. Mann-Whitney U-test, # p < 0.08; * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001.

SCT led to a significant increase of transcript level of *Gria1* (GluA1) subunit (p = 0.01 both in GL and TA MNs), a decrease of *Gria3* (GluA3) subunit (p = 0.004 in GL MNs, p = 0.002 in TA MNs), while *Gria2* (GluA2) subunit was unchanged in either of the two MN groups (**Figure 6.3**). The result suggests that the proportion of GluA1/GluA2 subunit combination in AMPARs may be increased, while that of GluA2/GluA3 subunit combinations is decreased. Further speculation of the consequences of that direction of changes is that more GluA1/GluA1 homomers may be formed after injury. Because AMPARs containing GluA1/GluA1 subunit combination are Ca²⁺ permeable, the switch from GluA2-containing AMPARs to GluA2-lacking AMPARs increases the possibility of MN enrichment in synaptic Ca²⁺-permeable AMPARs (CP-AMPAR) resulting in membrane depolarization of the MNs and sustained AP firing. Existence and dynamic regulation of Cp-AMPARs enable these special receptors to serve as signaling molecules presumably via calcium influx (Man, 2011).

In the brain, the most common structure of NMDAR, which is also a tetrameric complex, contains two GluN1 and two GluN2 (typically one GluN2A and one GluN2B) subunits (Kohr, 2006). We show that SCT led to decreased transcript levels of *Grin1* (GluN1), *Grin2b* (GluN2B), *Grin2c* (GluN2C) and *Grin2d* (GluN2D) subunits, while it did not alter *Grin2a* (GluN2A) transcript level neither in GL nor TA MNs (**Figure 6.3**). As a consequence, the general decrease of NMDAR subunit gene expression after SCT may lead to decreased NMDAR signaling in GL and TA MNs.

Metabotropic glutamatergic receptors mGluRs play roles in modulation of neurons' excitability after ligand binding. In MNs of intact rats, we demonstrate that *Grm1a* (mGluR1A) showed higher mRNA expression than *Grm5* (mGluR5), which is in line with a result of early *in situ* hybridization study by Tölle's group (Berthele et al., 1999). We found that SCT results in an increased transcript level of group I mGluRs. Namely, the transcript level of *Grm1a* (mGluR1A) was increased profoundly both in GL and TA MNs after SCT, with *Grm5* (mGluR5) elevated in GL MNs but not in TA MNs.

6.1.4. SCT downregulates transcript level of GABAergic and Gly receptor subunits and of KCC transporters similarly in GL and TA MNs

Inhibition of MNs is primarily mediated by GABAergic and glycinergic neurotransmission which is regulated by intraneuronal chloride (Cl⁻) homeostasis. We report that SCT leads to profound decreases of the transcript levels of all examined subunits of inhibitory receptors GABA_AR and GlyR both on GL and TA MNs (**Figure 6.4**). Next, we examined expression level of genes encoding K^+ - Cl^- co-transporters: *Slc12a4* (KCC1), *Slc12a5* (KCC2) and *Slc12a6* (KCC3), which primarily extrude chloride ions out of the neurons regulating the intraneuronal Cl^- homeostasis. Among them, *Slc12a5* (KCC2) displayed the highest transcript level in intact animals (**Figure 6.4**), confirming that this neuron-specific KCC2 is the major Cl^- extruder of comparable abundance in GL and TA MNs.



Figure 6.4. SCT downregulates the transcript level of all subunits of GABA_A and Gly receptors as well as KCC2 and KCC3 transporters, with the same impact in GL and TA MNs. The opposite response was found for KCC1 transporter, both in GL and TA MNs. Data are means \pm -SEM. Mann-Whitney U-test, # p < 0.08; * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001.

SCT caused a significant downregulation of *Slc12a5* (KCC2) and *Slc12a6* (KCC3) genes, while *Slc12a4* (KCC1) gene expression was upregulated (**Figure 6.4**). The predominant decrease of transcript level of KCC2 and KCC3, if followed by changes in respective proteins, may be indicative of decreased abundance and function resulting in accumulation of high concentrations of Cl^- in the cytoplasm of GL and TA MNs. If so, a depolarizing effect instead of inhibitory response may be expected after ligand

binding to GABA_A and Gly receptors (illustrated in Figure 7.1).

6.1.5. SCT downregulates transcript level of Nav1.6, KCa1.1(BK), and SK2 channels similarly in GL and TA MNs

Action potentials (AP) are directly initiated by the opening of voltage-gated (VG) Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ channels and are negatively regulated by the activity of Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ (SK and BK) channels. SK channels mediate the outward K⁺ currents, generate the medium afterhyperpolarization (mAHP), which reduces the firing frequency of APs, leading to decreased excitability of neurons (Stocker, 2004). Thus increased persistent Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ inward current (PIC) and decreased K⁺ outward current increase the probability of APs generation and subsequently the excitability of neurons. Therefore, we examined whether SCT affects the transcript levels of major Na⁺, Ca²⁺ and K⁺ channels related to the generation of APs.



Figure 6.5. SCT downregulates the transcript level of the Nav1.6, KCa1.1 (BK), and SK2 channels similarly in GL and TA MNs. Expression of voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels: *Cacna1b* (Cav2.2) and *Cacna1d* (Cav1.3) was unaffected by SCT. Data are means +/- SEM. Mann-Whitney U-test, # p<0.08; * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001).

Among the four examined VG Na⁺ channels, *Scn1a* (Nav1.1) and *Scn8a* (Nav1.6) displayed the highest and comparable transcript levels in GL and TA MNs, followed by the moderate *Scn9a* (Nav1.7) expression (**Figure 6.5**). *Scn3a* (Nav1.3) was expressed in an extremely low level in both MN groups (not shown), in line with a study showing similar differences in expression signal in the lumbar spinal cord using *in situ* hybridization (Fukuoka et al., 2010). After SCT, *Scn8a* (Nav1.6) was significantly
downregulated both in GL and TA MNs. *Scn9a* (Nav1.7) was selectively decreased in GL MNs while *Scn1a* (Nav1.1) and *Scn3a* (Nav1.3) were kept unaltered.

The expression of two VG Ca²⁺ channels: *Cacna1b* (Cav2.2) and *Cacna1d* (Cav1.3) in the intact rats was two orders of magnitude lower than that of VG Na⁺ channels, and was unaffected by SCT. On the opposite, the expression of small-conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ (SK) channels was markedly changed. In GL and TA MNs of intact animals, *Kccn2* (SK2) displayed the highest transcript level, followed by the *Kccn3* (SK3), while the transcript level of *Kccn1* (SK1) was extremely low, suggesting that SK2 undergoes extensive turnover and plays the major roles in these MNs. These results are in line with the study showing that SK2 protein is expressed in all α -MNs of the lumbar segment in the rat, whereas SK3 is expressed preferentially in small-diameter α -MNs (Deardorff et al., 2013). Regulation of gene expression of SK2 and SK3 in response to the lesion was in opposite direction: a significant decrease of transcript level of *Kccn2* (SK2), parallel in both groups of MNs, was accompanied by increased *Kcnn3* (SK3) level.

Highly abundant *Kcnma1* transcripts of large-conductance (KCa1.1, BK) channel, which holds the ability to integrate changes in intracellular calcium and membrane potential contributing to regulation of outward K+ currents, were significantly downregulated both in GL and TA MNs (**Figure 6.5**).

6.1.6. SCT alters transcript levels of 5-HT receptors but not NA receptors

Finally, we examined expression of serotoninergic 5-HT receptors and noradrenergic NA receptors (**Figure 6.6**), which have been demonstrated to play crucial roles in modulating the firing of MNs in spinal cord (Heckmann et al., 2005; Heckman et al., 2009). Examination of transcript levels of the 5-HTR subunits after the lesion revealed that the regulation of gene expression of Htr1a (5-HTR1A) and Htr2b (5-HTR2B) subunits, abundant in normal rats, markedly increased, and a degree of their up-regulation was similar in both groups of MNs. These changes were accompanied by selective increase of Htr2a (5-HTR2A) subunit in GL MNs only, and a selective decrease of Htr2c (5-HTR2C) subunit in TA MNs.

Among the examined NA receptor subunits, *Adra1a* (NAα1A) and *Adra1d* (NAα1D) expression was comparable, whereas the *Adra1b* (NAα1B) displayed very low expression (data not shown),

suggesting that NAα1A) and NAα1D predominate in GL and TA MNs. Expression of none of these subunits was changed.



Figure 6.6. SCT upregulates the transcript level of 5-HT 1A and 2B receptors similarly in LG and TA MNs. Increased gene expression of *Htr1a* (5-HT1A), *Htr2a* (5-HT2A) and *Htr2b* (5-HTR2B) subunits of 5-HT receptors in GL and TA MNs is accompanied by a decrease in *Htr2c* (5-HT2C) subunit in TA MNs but not GL MNs. SCT does not alter gene expression of NA receptor subunits. Data are means +/- SEM. Mann-Whitney U-test, # p < 0.08; * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001.

6.1.7. Correlation analyses of gene expression in GL and TA MNs after SCT

Correlation analyses were carried out by using classical Pearson correlation tests for every pairwise combination of all genes (R package). The heat-mapped correlograms were produced by using corrplot package under R, with a scale from -1 to 1. The correlograms were generated for GL and TA MNs from both CN and SCT animals to search for the differences in the co-expression pattern of all gene pairs. First, the correlation analysis indicated that the correlated patterns of gene expression differ between GL MNs and TA MNs from CN animals (**Figure 6.7**). Second, the patterns of correlated gene expression are changed after SCT both in GL and TA MNs (**Figure 6.7**). For instance, in GL MNs of CN rats there was a clear negative or positive correlation between the expression of NMDAR GluN2A subunit and ion channels subtypes (**Figure 6.7**, **box A**), but these correlations were lost after SCT (**Figure 6.7**, **box A**'). Similarly, there are also relationships among Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ channel subtypes in GL MNs of CN rats (**Figure 6.7**, **box B**), which are substantially weakened or disappear after SCT (**Figure 6.7**, **box B**'). The same observation concerns TA MNs (**Figure 6.7**, **box C and C'**).



Figure 6.7. Changes in correlated gene expression as a result of SCT in GL and TA MNs. The order of the genes along the X- and Y-axis of each correlogram are the same for comparison of the changes between groups.

The correlograms with hierarchical clustering were also analyzed (**Figure 6.8**). With the function of hierarchical clustering, the genes with similar expression patterns group together as a cluster, indicating these genes are co-regulated in either CN or SCT groups of rats. The results showed there are clearly different clusters containing different genes between GL and TA MNs from CN animals. Furthermore, SCT substantially altered the distribution and density of these clusters (**Figure 6.8**). For instance, in GL MNs of CN rats, gene *Gria2*, *Grin1*, *Glrb* and *Gabra2* are positively correlated in one cluster (**Figure 6.8**, **box A**). However, SCT dispersed the four genes into four different clusters (**Figure 6.8**, **box A**). Similar effects of SCT also occurs in TA MNs.



Figure 6.8. Changes in clustered correlated gene expression as a result of SCI in GL and TA MNs. The order of the genes along the X- and Y-axis of each correlogram are automatically clustered depending on the R-values of the genes.

These results suggest the set of genes coding for neurotransmission-related membrane proteins undergoes differential regulation in different functional types of MNs under the influence of spinal cord injury already in the second week postinjury. The direction of changes in GL and TA MNs is summarized **in Table 6.1**.

Gene symbol	GL	TA	Gene symbol	GL	TA
Grial	1	1	Slc12a4	1	1
Gria2	-	I	Slc12a5	t	ŧ
Gria3	t	Ŧ	Slc12a6	↓	t
Grin1	t	Ŧ	Scn1a	-	-
Grin2a	-	-	Scn8a	ł	t
Grin2b	Ļ	t	Scn9a	t	-
Grin2c	ţ	t	Cacnalb	-	-
Grin2d	t	1	Cacnald	_	-
Grmla	1	1	Kcnn2	↓ ↓	ŧ
Grm5	t	-	Kcnn3	1	1
Gabra1	ţ	t	Kcnmal	t	ţ
Gabra2	ţ	t	Htrla	1	1
Gabra3	t	Ŧ	Htr2a	1	-
Gabrb3	ţ	t	Htr2b	1	1
Gabrg2	ţ	Ļ	Htr2c	ł	Ļ
Glra1	ł	t	Adrala	-	-
Glrb	ł	ţ	Adra1d	-	-

Table 6.1. Direction changes in gene expression in GL and TA MNs at 2 weeks after SCT

6.2. Overexpression of BDNF leads to locomotor recovery and pro-excitogenic phenotype in the lumbar MNs after SCT

6.2.1 Evaluation of treadmill locomotion of PBS-treated and BDNF-treated rats with mBBB scale

I first evaluated motor abilities of the SCT rats on a running treadmill (**Figure 6.9**) using modified BBB (mBBB) scale (Antri et al., 2002; Antri et al., 2003) and then in the open-field. No pressure stimulation of the tail was applied while rats were walking on the moving treadmill or when were tested in the open-field. Evaluation of treadmill locomotion was carried out by three experienced observers independently evaluating motor behavior of every animal according to the common protocol. Disputable scores were verified and finally accepted by all observers.

The rats walking on the running treadmill differed markedly between groups. All animals from the SCT with PBS intraspinal injection (SCT-PBS) group, tested on the 13th postsurgery day, kept their paws on the dorsal side and were unable to support their body weight when placed on the running treadmill

(Figure 6.9 A). They performed several spontaneous hindlimb movements, but no alternative movements were detected. In contrast, at the same time point, SCT rats with AAV-BDNF treatment (SCT-BDNF) were able to display step-like hindlimbs movements, with right-left alternation, plantar foot placement and body weight support (Figure 6.9 B and C). The quantitative analysis of the bipedal treadmill locomotion in the two groups of rats was done using mBBB scale (Antri et al., 2002; Antri et al., 2003) with four major levels and 22 scores [level 1 (scores 0–1), level 2 (scores 2–9), level 3 (score 10), level 4 (scores 11–22)] which are assigned to the recovery degree of motor capabilities. Among them, level 1 and score 0 amounts to no movements, while level 4 and score 22 is equal to locomotion of intact animal.

In my experiments, the motor capabilities of twelve of fourteen SCT-PBS rats on the treadmill on the 13th day were ranked at the level 1, and the remaining two rats were ranked at the level 2. In contrast, in SCT-BDNF group at the same time point, twelve out of thirteen rats reached level 4. The remaining SCT-BDNF rat was classified at level 2 with score 4.5 which is still higher than in all of SCT-PBS rats (Table 6.2). The mean scores for the locomotor performance on the treadmill in 13th day after treatment were 0.36 +/- 0.74 in SCT-PBS versus 12.19 +/- 3.31 in SCT-BDNF groups (Mann-Whitney U test, p=0.006) (Table 6.2 and Figure 6.10), showing that BDNF overexpression significantly improved the locomotion of the spinalized rats on the running treadmill and that this process was progressive. Discrepancies between the scores among SCT-BDNF rats on the 13th day of testing suggested that some animals already reached their potentially highest level of motor abilities (e.g., Zd7, BJ2, BJ3, BJ6 in Table 6.2) while the others did not. To verify the possibility of further improvement the observation of all SCT-BDNF was prolonged by 2 consecutive days, revealing that indeed in majority of SCT-BDNF subjects the improvement of performance reached the peak between 13th and 16th day after BDNF treatment, when all rats were ranked at level 4 with a mean score 14.62 +/- 2.32 (Table 6.2). Compared with the performance on 13^{th} day, further improvement was also significant (Wilcoxon test, P = 0.008) (Figure 6.10). I conclude that my results not only confirm a beneficial effect of AAV-BDNF treatment on motor abilities of the spinalized rats, but also reveal the timeline of the recovery process detectable as early as one week following the treatment.

PBS treated rat

AAV-BDNF treated rats



Figure 6.9. Locomotor performance of PBS (Bi3, 13 DPO) and AAV-BDNF (Zd5 and Bj4, 13 DPO) treated, spinal rats on a running treadmill (A-C) and in the open field (D-I). D-I The typical position of the feet during movement in the open field is shown: the spinal rat not treated with AAV-BDNF drags the feet lying on the dorsum of the feet, while the AAV-BDNF- treated rats are able to move their feet and put them on the plantar aspect of the feet enabling walking on the running treadmill.

SCT-PBS					SCT-BDNF							
Group	Testing	Modified BBB Scale Sac		Sacrifice	Group rat	Testing	Modified BBB Scale		Testing day	Modified BBB Scale		Sacrifice
rat code	day	Level	Score	day	code	day	Level	Score	(best locomotor performance)	Level	Score	day
Zc4		1	0	14	Zd1		2	4.5	16	4	15.5	17
Zc5		1	0	14	Zd2		4	11	14	4	16.5	16
Zc6		1	1	14	Zd3		4	11	16	4	11.5	16
Zc7		1	0	14	Zd4		4	11	16	4	11	16
Zc8		1	0	15	Zd5		4	11.5	15	4	15.5	16
Zc9		1	0	15	Zd7		4	13	13	4	13	17
Zc10	12	2	2	14	Bj1	12	4	16	14	4	17	15
Bi1	15	1	0	14	Bj2	15	4	16	13	4	16	16
Bi2		1	0	14	Bj3		4	13	13	4	13	16
Bi3		1	0	14	Bj4		4	11.5	14	4	15.5	16
Bi4		2	2	14	Bj5		4	11	15	4	11.5	16
Bi5		1	0	14	Bj6		4	18	13	4	18	16
Bi6		1	0	14	Bj7		4	11	16	4	16	16
Bi7		1	0	15								
Mean			0.36					12.19			14.62	
SD			0.74					3.31			2.32	

Table 6.2. Locomotor capabilities of spinal rats in PBS-treated (SCT-PBS) and BDNF-treated (SCT-BDNF) groups evaluated during hindlimb walking on a running treadmill using mBBB scale

The table shows the level and scores for the motor capabilities of SCT-PBS and SCT-BDNF rats on the running treadmill (based on the mBBB scale modified by Antri et al., 2002). The mean scores for SCT-PBS (13th day), SCT-BDNF (13th day) and SCT-BDNF (day with best performance) were 0.36, 12.19 and 14.62, respectively. The differences between the scores in groups are significant, as shown in **Figure 6.10**.



Figure 6.10. Locomotor performance of SCT-PBS and SCT-BDNF rats during hindlimb walking on a running treadmill, evaluated by using mBBB scale. There is a significant difference between SCT-PBS (N=14) and SCT-BDNF (N=14) rats at 13th day after treatment (Mann-Whitney U test; p = 0.006), indicating that AAV-BDNF treatment brings the marked improvement of locomotor performance of the spinal rats on the running treadmill. In majority of rats from SCT-BDNF group, the motor abilities were further improved in the following testing days, comparing with that of 13th days (Wilcoxon test, p = 0.008). Data are means +/- SEM. ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001).

In an open field, the SCT-PBS rats moved with their forelimbs, dragging the body which symmetrically or asymmetrically lied on the surface of the ground. Their hindlimbs were dragged on the dorsal aspect of the feet and displayed sporadic movements much less frequent than the steps of forelimbs. (Figure 6.9 D, G). The AAV-BDNF treatment enabled spinalized rats to generate some step-like movements of their hindlimbs, with plantar foot placement, occasional right-left alternation and sporadic, weak body weight support in the open field (Figure 6.9 E-I). Sporadically, the hindlimb movements performed a few step-like movements in-phase with the forelimbs. According to our observation, five out of thirteen rats could keep the body symmetric during most of the time in the open field. They displayed occasional alternative step-like hindlimb movements with plantar feet placement and weak or no weight support. The other eight rats kept their body either asymmetrically or symmetrically with occasional bilateral plantar foot placement (Figure 6.9 E-H). Referring to these results, we may conclude that BDNF overexpression also improves the motor abilities of these rats in the open field.

To sum up, although our previous work has already shown that BDNF overexpression improved hindlimb locomotion of spinalized rats, my results revealed the timeline of the recovery process following the treatment, through improving the experimental procedures and increasing the number of experimental animals. My results further confirmed and strengthened the conclusion that BDNF treatment markedly improves the locomotor performance of the spinalized rats on the running treadmill already at the second week after surgery. In the next step, I verify whether the membrane receptor, channels and transporters expression, examined by using biochemical and immunohistochemistry methods, would correlate with the behavioral results.

6.2.2 Molecular identification of changes in MN neurotransmitter receptor and channel phenotypes after AAV-BDNF treatment

6.2.2.1. PBS or BDNF intraspinal injection to SCT rats did not alter morphology of MNs in lumbar 3-6 segments

Our analysis of animal behavior has shown that AAV-BDNF administration significantly improves the locomotor performance of spinalized rats on the running treadmill. Based on these observations, we hypothesized that the evoked BDNF overexpression promotes locomotion recovery in part through increasing the excitability of both ankle extensor and flexor MNs. Therefore, we examined the expression levels of a range of genes in GL (extensor) and TA (flexor) MNs, expecting to emerge from among the candidate genes those revealing a profound change towards higher excitation state.

In previously described experiment I have shown that SCT at thoracic level did not cause degeneration of MNs located at lumbar L3-6 segments (**Figure 6.1**). Here, I examined whether PBS or BDNF intraspinal injection to spinalized rats affect MNs number and morphology at lumbar 3-6 segments. GL and TA MNs were clearly visualized under LMD microscope in fluorescence mode, and during microdissection the numbers of traced GL and TA MNs were counted on each horizontal L3-6 section. **Figure 6.11 A** presents representative photomicrographs showing GL and TA MNs of CN, SCT-PBS and SCT-BDNF groups before LMD and the tissue section remaining after microdissection. The morphology of MNs of a given type was similar across CN, SCT-PBS and SCT-BDNF groups of rats. The number of MNs of a given type was comparable among intact (CN), SCT-PBS and SCT-BDNF rats (GL: SCT-PBS = 89% CN, SCT-BDNF = 88% CN, p = 0.40; TA: SCT-PBS = 97% CN, SCT-BDNF = 102% CN, p = 0.83; One-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test, **Figure 6.11 B**). Thus, these results suggest that PBS or BDNF intraspinal injection to spinalized rats did not cause alterations in morphology and number of MNs at lumbar 3-6 segments.





Figure 6.11. A. Representative photomicrographs showing GL and TA MNs in rats from CN, SCT-PBS and SCT-BDNF groups before LMD, and the tissue remaining after microdissection. The morphology of MNs of a given type was similar across groups of rats. **B.** The number of GL and TA MNs isolated from the CN (N=9), SCT-PBS (N=7) and SCT-BDNF (N=6) groups of rats. Data are means +/- SEM. Differences between groups are non-significant (One-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test).

6.2.2.2. AAV-BDNF intraspinal injection to SCT rats causes BDNF overexpression in GL and TA MNs

The expression of BDNF in pools of GL and TA MNs, which are located in these segments, was much lower comparing with that in homogenates from whole L3-6 segments ((Głowacka et al., 2022), submitted). Out of 9 rats BDNF expression was above the limit of detection in 4 rats only, in which it was in a range of 1E-09 – 5E-08. Two weeks after SCT, the level of spinal BDNF expression in the SCT-PBS group showed a tendency to decrease, and in GL and TA MNs it was undetectable in majority of rats (**Figure 6.12**). AAV-BDNF administration resulted in high BDNF mRNA levels in GL MNs and TA MNs of 4 rats; in the remaining rats no BDNF overexpression was found (**Figure 6.12**).



Figure 6.12. The effect of AAV-BDNF spinal injection on BDNF mRNA and TrkB mRNA level in GL and TA MNs 2 weeks after SCT. Transcript levels were measured with a qPCR assay in samples from 9 CN, 7 SCT-PBS and 6 SCT-BDNF rats. Data are means +/- SEM. # p<0.08; * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; Mann-Whitney U-test.

Spinalization caused a profound decrease of TrkB in pools of GL and TA MNs, suggesting a deficit in BDNF/TrkB signaling. However, in TA MNs TrkB mRNA level was reduced further by AAV-BDNF administration, while in GL MNs it was not affected by the treatment (**Figure 6.12**). These results suggest that majority of lumbar MNs maintains some degree of responsiveness to BDNF signaling at two weeks after the lesion. That signaling may be further reduced in TA MNs by spinally overexpressed BDNF, differentiating the degree of functional impairment between GL and TA.

6.2.2.3. BDNF overexpression modulates gene expression of molecules of pro-excitogenic potential in GL and TA MNs

Glutamatergic AMPAR and NMDAR. In SCT-PBS group, the mRNA level of *Gria2* tended to increase in GL MNs without changing its level in TA MNs. On the contrary, the level of *Gria3* was down-regulated both in GL and TA MNs (GL: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.003; TA: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.003; Mann-Whitney U Test) (Figure 6.13).

BDNF overexpression led to a tendency to decrease the mRNA level of *Gria2* level in both groups of MNs with its profound down-regulation in TA MNs. On the contrary, BDNF overexpression had no effect on decreased *Gria3* expression in either MN group (**Figure 6.13**).

Among NMDAR subunits, neither the PBS nor AAV-BDNF treatment alter the transcript level of *Grin1* in GL MNs. However, *Grin1* was significantly downregulated in TA MNs of SCT-PBS group (TA: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.03; Mann-Whitney U Test) and restored by BDNF overexpression to control level

(TA: SCT-PBS vs SCT-BDNF, p=0.02; Mann-Whitney U Test) (**Figure 6.13**). The mRNA level of *Grin2a* was significantly decreased in SCT-PBS group in GL MNs, showed a tendency to decrease in TA MNs (GL: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.006; TA: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.10; Mann-Whitney U Test), which was alleviated by BDNF overexpression (**Figure 6.13**).



Figure 6.13. The effect of AAV-BDNF spinal injection on glutamatergic AMPAR and NMDAR mRNA levels in GL and TA MNs 2 weeks after spinal cord transection. Data are from 9 Control, 7 SCT-PBS and 6 SCT-BDNF rats. Data are means +/- SEM. * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; Mann-Whitney U-test.

Inhibitory receptors GABAAR and GlyR and KCC2. In SCT-PBS group the transcript levels of *Gabra2* were downregulated both in GL and TA MNs (**Figure 6.14**). BDNF caused further decrease of *Gabra2* in TA MNs but not GL MNs. *Gabra3* was regulated contrary to *Gabra2*: it was not changed after SCT and BDNF tended to increase its expression in both MN groups (n.s.).

Almost all remaining transcripts of inhibitory receptors' subunits were significantly down-regulated in SCT-PBS group. Also, *Slc12a5* mRNA level was found to be dramatically reduced both in GL and TA MNs comparing with intact rats. BDNF overexpression moderately deepened suppression of these genes (*Gabrg2, Glra1, Glrb* in GL MNs), evoked suppression of upregulated *Glra1* gene in TA MNs, or did not change reduced transcript levels (*Slc12a5*) (**Figure 6.14**).



Figure 6.14. The effect of AAV-BDNF spinal injection on the mRNA levels of inhibitory GABAAR, GlyR and KCC2 in GL and TA MNs 2 weeks after spinal cord transection. Data are from 9 Control, 7 SCT-PBS and 6 SCT-BDNF rats. Data are means +/- SEM. # p<0.09; * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; Mann-Whitney U-test.

Ion channels: SCT-PBS profoundly elevated the transcript level of *Scn1a* in both GL and TA MNs (GL: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.004; TA: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.001; Mann-Whitney U Test), and less profoundly elevated *Cacna1d* transcript levels in GL (**Figure 6.15**). BDNF overexpression counteracted the effects of spinalization and restored expression of *Scn1a* to control level (GL: SCT-PBS vs SCT-BDNF, p=0.01; TA: SCT-PBS vs SCT-BDNF, p=0.02; Mann-Whitney U Test).



Figure 6.15. The effect of AAV-BDNF spinal injection on the mRNA levels of Na⁺, Ca²⁺ and K⁺ channels in GL and TA MNs 2 weeks after spinal cord transection. Data are from 9 Control, 7 SCT-PBS and 6 SCT-BDNF rats. Data are means +/- SEM. * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; Mann-Whitney U-test.

Changes in *Kcnmal* expression were small, but in TA MNs of SCT-PBS group, its level was downregulated (TA: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.05; Mann-Whitney U Test). BDNF overexpression resulted in a slight decrease of *Kcnmal* in both GL and TA MNs comparing with SCT-PBS, but the effect was not statistically significant (**Figure 6.15**).

Neuromodulatory receptors. In the SCT-PBS group, the expression of *Htr2a* was increased in GL MNs (GL: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.02; Mann-Whitney U Test), but not in TA MNs comparing with intact rats (**Figure 6.16**). BDNF overexpression further elevated the transcript level of *Htr2a* in GL and moderately increased the level of *Htr2a* in TA MNs (GL: SCT-PBS vs SCT-BDNF, p=0.02; TA: SCT-PBS vs SCT-BDNF, p=0.07; Mann-Whitney U Test). SCT-PBS downregulated the mRNA level of *Adra1a* in TA MNs, but not in GL MNs (TA: CN vs SCT-PBS, p=0.01; Mann-Whitney U Test). AAV-BDNF treatment led to a slight decrease of *Adra1a* in GL MNs and increase in TA MNs, although the effects were not statistically significant (**Figure 6.16**).



Figure 6.16. The effect of AAV-BDNF spinal injection on the mRNA levels of serotoninergic Htr2a and noradrenergic Adra1a in GL and TA MNs 2 weeks after spinal cord transection. Data are from 9 Control, 7 SCT-PBS and 6 SCT-BDNF rats. Data are means +/- SEM. # p<0.08; * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; Mann-Whitney U-test.

6.2.2.4. Correlation analyses of gene expression in GL and TA MNs after SCT and AAV-BDNF treatment

Correlation analyses of gene expression in GL and TA MNs after SCT (SCT-PBS) and AAV-BDNF treatment (SCT-BDNF) were also performed. It showed that the patterns of correlated gene expression were altered in GL and TA MNs in response to SCT-PBS and SCT-BDNF (**Figure 6.17 and 6.18**). In GL MNs of CN rats, there are several significant correlations (marked by *) which disappeared in SCT-PBS group. SCT-PBS resulted in more positive correlations that formed several clusters (**Figure 6.17**, boxes in red dotted line), comparing with the more dispersed and even correlations in CN group. AAV-BDNF treatment disrupted the clustered pattern showing in SCT-PBS group and inclined to more dispersed pattern like that in CN group, although it was still different from CN group (**Figure 6.17**). In TA MNs of CN rats, the correlations among the genes were generally weaker comparing with that in



SCT-PBS and SCT-BDNF groups (Figure 6.18). Both the SCT-PBS and SCT-BDNF led to a redistribution of the correlation patterns, which was differ from that in CN group (Figure 6.18).

GL-SCT-PBS

Sria 2 Gria3 Grin1

Gria2

Gria3

Grin1

Grin2a

Gabra2

Glra1 Glrb

Scn1a

Htr2a

Adra1a

Grin2a

Gabra2 Gabra3 Gabrb3

Gabrg2

Glra1

GIrb

SIc12a5

Scn1a

Cacna

Adra1a

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0

-0.2

-0.4

-0.6

-0.8

Htr2a

Kenm





Figure 6.18. Changes in correlated gene expression as a result of SCT and AAV-BDNF treatment in TA MNs. The order of the genes along the X- and Y-axis of each correlogram are the same for comparison of the changes between groups. * significant FDR corrected p-value in R.

-1

Adra1a

6.2.2.5. BDNF overexpression effects on the molecular changes in the whole lumbar segments after SCT

There is no doubt that GL and TA MNs play crucial roles in processing locomotion. However, the function of the spinal neuronal network cannot be fulfilled without premotor neurons. The net is an entirety containing cells whose intricate communications endow the precise function. BDNF overexpression affects not only MNs, but also other types of cells.

Our previous study showed that BDNF overexpression altered the expression levels of presynaptic interneuronal molecules involved in glutamatergic (VGluT2) and GABAergic (GABA, GAD65, GAD67) neurotransmission in spinal cord lumbar segments at six weeks postinjury (Ziemlińska et al., 2014). As the neurotransmitter receptors, ion channels and transporters are widely expressed in the spinal cord on different types of cells, our additional task was to examine whether effects of AAV-BDNF administration would be seen at the transcript level of selected receptors in samples from whole lumbar 3-6 (L3-6) segments. The result could roughly indicate the general tendency of regulation of neuronal excitability in response to SCT and BDNF overexpression.

In intact rats, transcript levels of *Gria2*, *Grin2a*, *Glra1* and *Gabrg2* subunits were the highest followed by *Gria1* and *Grin2b*, while *Grin1* are the lowest (**Figure 6.19**). Similarity of expression level between *Gria2*, *Grin2a*, *Glra1* and *Gabrg2* subunits suggests that there is a similar abundance of Glutamatergic, Glycinergic and GABAergic receptors in the L3-6 network. That relation did not concern characteristics of receptor expression GL and TA MN pools, which revealed significantly higher expression of GABAAR and GlyR than iGluR subunits (**Figure 6.2**).



Figure 6.19. The transcript levels of AMPAR *Grial* (GluA1) and *Gria 2* (GluA2), NMDAR *Grin1 (GluN1)*, *Grin 2a*, (GluN2A) and *Grin2b* (GluN2B), GlyR *Glra1* (GlyR α 1) and GABA_AR Gabrg2 (GABA_AR α 2) subunits in the spinal L3-6 segment of intact rats.

SCT resulted in a moderate increase in *Grin1* transcript level which was accompanied by a marked decrease of *Grin2a*, and *Glra1* and *Gabrg2* transcripts of inhibitory receptor subunits in L3-6 segment at 2 weeks postinjury (**Figure 6.20**). The results suggest primarily that inhibitory signaling is decreased and a balance between inhibitory and excitatory neurotransmission is disturbed. BDNF overexpression further increased the transcript level of *Grin1* and decreased the level of *Gabrg2* (**Figure 6.20**). In

addition, BDNF overexpression tends to increase the mRNA levels of *Gria1* and *Gria2* with respect to their levels in spinalized rats only, suggesting that up-regulation of AMPAR signaling is promoted (**Figure 6.20**).



Figure 6.20. The effect of BDNF overexpression on the AMPAR, NMDAR, GlyR and GABAAR subunit levels in the spinal cord L3-6 segment at 2 weeks postinjury. Data are means +/- SEM. # p<0.08; * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; Mann-Whitney U-test.

We identified some clear similarities between responses of MNs and of the whole network to BDNF. First, BDNF overexpression increased the transcript level of *Grin1* both in TA MNs and L3-6 segments. The decreased levels of inhibitory receptor subunits in GL and TA MNs are in line with the downregulated transcript levels of inhibitory *Glra1* and *Gabrg2* after SCT in L3-6 segments. The significantly decreased *Gabrg2* level in GL MNs after BDNF overexpression is also parallel with downregulation of *Gabrg2* in L3-6 segments. These results suggest that the disinhibition is a universal effect of SCT in the spinal cord and that BDNF treatment might further promote the excitation state of the spinal cord neuronal network.

7. Discussion

7.1. SCT tends to increase the excitability of MNs innervating ankle extensor GL and flexor TA muscles

I demonstrate that complete SCT at low thoracic level leads to early, significant changes in expression of the genes coding for major receptors and ion channels related to the control of excitability in MNs. The results provide new insight into the mechanisms of MN excitability developing in the subacute postlesion phase below the site of SCT, involving a multiple increase in transcripts coding for AMPAR GluA1 and 5-HTR 1A, 2A and 2B subunits, and a profound decrease in all GABA_AR and GlyR subunits, KCC2, KCC3 chloride extruders and VG SK2 and BK potassium channels. We report that lumbar GL and TA MN groups, despite differential electrical properties (Cotel et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2020) similarly adapt to a more excitable state, which may increase the occurrence of extensor and flexor spasms.

7.1.1. Functional implications of early changes in gene expression of glutamatergic receptors after SCT

Among glutamatergic receptors, ionotropic AMPAR and NMDAR directly affect membrane potentials through controlling the flux of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ ions. The reported here changes in the level of transcripts of AMPAR GluA1 and GluA3 subunits, with maintenance of the most abundant transcripts of GluA2 subunit, suggest that AMPARs containing GluA1 homomers may become more abundant than other subunit combinations in AMPARs produced and undergoing trafficking to synapses in MNs. That such combination is possible, show early experiments which revealed that endogenous GluA1 in brain neurons is mostly tetrameric (Greger et al., 2003). Because emerging evidence supports that the regulated expression and trafficking of GluA1-homomeric subtype of AMPARs mediates synaptic plasticity (Ge and Wang, 2021), the observed GluA1 stimulation in MNs may be a manifestation of postlesion plasticity.

AMPAR subunit composition determines both trafficking modes and transmission properties (Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994; Shi et al., 2001; Malinow, 2003). The trafficking of AMPARs to and from synapses is a key mechanism for regulating the strength of synaptic transmission (Barry and Ziff, 2002; Malinow, 2003). Early studies have shown that the majority of AMPARs in the telencephalon contain the GluA2 subunit (Ozawa et al., 1998; Dingledine et al., 1999) which dominates major AMPAR

transmission properties (single-channel conductance, rectification, and Ca^{2+} permeability) through Arg607, a residue introduced into the GluA2 pore loop by RNA editing at the Q/R site (Sommer et al., 1991). Editing at this site is specific for GluA2, as GluA1, GluA3, and GluA4 carry a Gln (Q) at this pore-lining position (Seeburg, 1996). The vast majority of GluA2 (>99%) in adult brain is edited to Arg (R). Editing at this site was found to be efficient and crucial for brain function, turning AMPAR from Ca^{2+} permeable (CP) to Ca^{2+} impermeable (CI-) (Seeburg, 1996). Our reasoning is that the central role of GluA2 subunit in AMPAR is reflected by its highest transcript level among other AMPAR subunits in MNs in normal rats, found in this study, and by relative stability of its expression after SCT.

Importantly, apart from determining conductance properties Arg607 also controls AMPAR traffic by restricting channel exit from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Greger et al., 2002). Exit from the ER poses the first rate-limiting step for membrane proteins destined for the cell surface, and is subject to tight control (Ellgaard and Helenius, 2003). ER-retained GluA2 is very stable and forms an intracellular pool. That contrasts with GluA1, which is mostly post-ER and concentrated at synapses. Concentration of GluA2 in the ER facilitates its incorporation during channel assembly, and thus explains its presence in the majority of AMPARs in the brain (Greger et al., 2002; Seeburg, 2002).

Two transitions can be postulated based on the results: (1) the aforementioned transition from Ca²⁺ impermeable (CI-) AMPAR to Ca²⁺ permeable (CP-) AMPAR, and (2) transition in contribution of NMDAR and AMPAR in mediating of excitatory events. First, CP-AMPARs which lack GluA2 subunit have a higher single-channel conductance than the CI-AMPARs which contain GluA2 (Cull-Candy and Farrant, 2021). Therefore, there is a larger influx of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ through CP-AMPARs. For instance, switch to CP-AMPAR (lacking GluA2 or containing unedited GluA2) increases neuronal excitability in hypothalamus of hypertensive rats (Li et al., 2012), in the hippocampus of mice with seizures (Konen et al., 2020), in spinal dorsal horn neurons of rats with inflammatory pain (Vikman et al., 2008; Li et al., 2021), and also in differentiated human MNs in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis model (Huang et al., 2021b).

Our speculation on the "NMDAR to AMPAR functional transition" is based on the reasoning taking into account that although single receptor conductance of NMDAR is higher comparing to that of AMPAR (Traynelis et al., 2010), NMDARs are blocked by Mg²⁺ at resting conditions and activate slower than AMPARs. Besides, AMPARs represent the majority Glu receptors on postsynaptic sites and

produce a faster response (Goncalves et al., 2020). n certain circumstances, such as epileptiform activity, CP-AMPARs can be a richer source of intracellular Ca²⁺ than NMDARs, as concluded from comparison of the effect of blockade of NMDARs vs CP-AMPARs, the former reducing the additional conductance to a lesser extent (Amakhin et al., 2021). Therefore, despite NMDAR subunit transcript level is reduced after SCT, increased abundance of CP-AMPARs, if occurs, might be able to depolarize the postsynaptic membrane by providing a sufficient influx of Ca²⁺. There is experimental evidence to support that reasoning: (1) after NMDAR ablation excitability of hippocampal CA3 neurons is enhanced (Fukushima et al., 2009), and (2) a significant increase in AMPAR/NMDAR ratio was found in spinal dorsal horn neurons of rats with inflammatory pain which reflects, at least in part, an increase in neuronal excitability (Gold and Flake, 2005). That was associated with reduction in the quantal amplitude of NMDAR-mediated synaptic currents (Vikman et al., 2008). Our data suggest that the quantitative switch in Glu receptor expression levels from NMDAR to AMPAR may contribute to an increase or at least maintenance of MN excitability. How long the increased levels of CP-AMPARs may be maintained remains uncertain since following a depolarization a block of CP-AMPARs by endogenous intracellular polyamines was reported (Twomey et al., 2018).

7.1.2 Functional implications of downregulation of gene expression of GABAergic and glycinergic receptors, KCC2 and ion channels after SCT

In the present study we showed that SCT significantly downregulated the transcript levels of all examined subunits of GABA_AR and GlyR, as well as the Cl⁻ extruder KCC2 and KCC3, suggesting a decreased synthesis of these molecules and subsequent development of reduced inhibition on MNs. Development of hindlimbs spasticity at 3 weeks postinjury was found associated with significantly decreased protein level of GABA_A receptors and GlyR receptors on lumbar MNs in rats with SCT (Sadlaoud et al., 2020a). Similarly, decreased gene expression of these receptors also contributes to the hyperexcitability of sacral MNs and tail spasticity in rats with SCT at the sacral segments (Wienecke et al., 2010). KCC2 chloride ions extruder has been well shown to strongly influence the efficacy and polarity of the GABA_AR- and GlyR- mediated synaptic transmission (Chamma et al., 2012). In basal conditions, KCC2 maintains a low-level of intracellular Cl⁻; activated GABA_AR and GlyR allow influx of Cl⁻ into neurons to generate an inhibition of neurons by hyperpolarizing the postsynaptic membrane.

Downregulation of KCC2 in MNs was found to decrease the strength of postsynaptic inhibition and therefore contributed to spasticity formation after spinal cord injury (Boulenguez et al., 2010) (**Figure 7.1**). Herein, my results suggest that reduced expression of inhibitory receptors and chloride ions KCC2 and KCC3 extruders in MNs occurs at the early postinjury time point. Surprisingly, the transcript level of KCC1 was increased after SCT. KCC1 is ubiquitously expressed in brain, kidney, colon, heart, red blood cells and dorsal root ganglion (Gillen et al., 1996; Hebert et al., 2004; Crable et al., 2005; Mao et al., 2012; Côté, 2020), assumed to act as a housekeeping gene but also to mediate the symport of K⁺ and Cl⁻ ions, but their function in MNs was not described. The increase of KCC1 may serve a compensation for the profound decrease of KCC2 and KCC3 to protect these MNs.



Figure 7.1 Proposed effects of SCT and BDNF overexpression on the Cl⁻ homeostasis in MNs. KCC2 is the major Cl⁻ extruder in mature neurons. By regulating intraneuronal chloride ions homeostasis, KCC2 strongly influences the efficacy and polarity of the GABA_AR and GlyR mediated synaptic transmission. In basal conditions, KCC2 maintains a low-level of intracellular Cl⁻; activated GABA_AR and GlyR allow influx of Cl⁻, generating a hyperpolarization. After SCT, a decrease of the KCC2 may lead to accumulation of high concentrations of Cl⁻ in MNs, evoke a depolarizing instead of inhibitory response, suggesting the possibility of a decrease of inhibition. The unaltered, low KCC2 level after BDNF overexpression shown in my study suggest that high concentrations of Cl⁻ are maintained in MNs. Therefore, activation of GABA_AR and GlyR signaling may turn to excitatory instead of inhibitory. Deepened decrease of GABA_AR and GlyR in MNs after BDNF overexpression may in these conditions be interpreted as promoting partial recovery of inhibition.

7.1.3. SCT affects gene expression of ion channels and modulatory receptors

The process of generation of action potential (AP) can be divided into two zones: input zone (synaptic potentials) and output zones (AP) (Giuliodori and Zuccolilli, 2004). Temporal and spatial summation of the postsynaptic potentials (EPSP and IPSP) propagates to the axon hillock and decides to fire an AP or not. When a net depolarized membrane potential reaches to the threshold, voltage-gated

ion channels, such as Na⁺, Ca²⁺ channels, are responsible to generate APs. Therefore, the expression and abundance of ion channels are crucial for the initiation of APs and excitability of neurons. We have demonstrated that SCT increases the probability of generating EPSPs by upregulating the CP-AMPAR transcript levels, but reduces the IPSPs probability through downregulating the transcript levels of GABAR and GlyR, possibly decreasing the inhibitory signaling. My reasoning is that after the summation of EPSP and IPSP, an increased net depolarized membrane potential may be expected; in consequence, it may increase the probability to control the action of ion channels and generate of APs.

However, my results show that the changes of gene expression of ion channels after SCT are diverse. The transcript level of two voltage-dependent Ca^{2+} channels: Cav2.2 and Cav1.3 were unaltered, while the major voltage-dependent Na⁺ channel Nav1.6 in rat spinal MNs was significantly downregulated. In addition, SCT also significantly decreased Ca^{2+} -activated K⁺ channels SK2 and KCa1.1 in GL and TA MNs. Downregulated Nav1.6 gene seems to lead to a decrease of the probability of AP generation, but on the other side, the decreased SK2 and KCa1.1 might lead to reduced mAHP and therefore enhance the firing of AP and excitability of neurons. Furthermore, in addition to the revealed changes at the level of gene expression, their activity and biophysical properties may be altered and modulated by neuromodulatory receptors.

Group I mGlu1 and mGlu5 receptors are both expressed in the spinal cord lumbar MNs and they are predominantly expressed on postsynaptic membranes (Vidnyánszky et al., 1994; Anneser et al., 2004; Ma et al., 2006), modulating MN firing and the intensity of locomotor-related output (Nistri et al., 2006; Iwagaki and Miles, 2011). At the molecular level, their activation often results in cell depolarization and an increase in neuronal excitability by elevating intracellular Ca^{2+} level either via releasing of calcium ions from internal stores or via Ca^{2+} channels (Fagni et al., 2000; Ireland and Abraham, 2002; Niswender and Conn, 2010; Li et al., 2014a; Yu et al., 2018). Following SCI in rats, upregulation of Group I mGluRs was observed in spinal cord neurons (Gwak and Hulsebosch, 2005). In rat superficial spinal dorsal horn neurons, Group I mGluRs has been shown to mediate Ca^{2+} influx via L-type of voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channels (Heinke and Sandkuhler, 2007). Therefore, we may propose that the increased level of transcripts coding for group I mGluRs, found in the current study, if translated into changed mGluR protein level may contribute to the increase of intracellular Ca^{2+} level by modulating Ca^{2+} channels and triggering the release of Ca^{2+} from internal stores in GL and TA MNs. After SCI, persistent sodium inward currents (Na⁺PICs) and persistent calcium currents (Ca²⁺PICs) are spontaneously developed in MNs, contributing to MN firing (Li et al., 2004). The two inward currents are directly generated by voltage-gated Na⁺ channels and Ca²⁺ channels, respectively (Harvey et al., 2006a; Heckman et al., 2008; Rank et al., 2011). Ca²⁺ channel subtype Cav1.3 was demonstrated to be responsible for generating Ca²⁺ PICs and contribute to the hyperexcitability of MNs after SCI (Carlin et al., 2000; Li and Bennett, 2003; Jiang et al., 2021). However, it is not clear which subtypes of voltage-gated Na⁺ channels mediate the Na⁺ PICs. It is reasonable to propose that Nav1.1 and Nav1.6 may play the roles, since they are the most abundant at the transcript level in the two groups of MNs, as revealed in the current study. Furthermore, the generation of Na⁺ PICs and Ca²⁺ PICs is facilitated after activation of 5-HT₂ and NAα1 receptors which modulate function of the relative Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ channels (Harvey et al., 2006a; Heckman et al., 2008; Rank et al., 2011), therefore leading to a general increase of the excitability of MNs.

In the current study, in both MN groups, spinalization led to increased transcript level of $5-HT_{1A}$ and $5-HT_{2B}$ receptors, suggesting a positive effect of these receptors' activation on MN excitability. The increased MN firing frequency may contribute to change in properties as well, as a result of $5-HT_{1A}$ inhibition of SK channels and reduced mAHP (Wikström et al., 1995; Grunnet et al., 2004). I conclude that this common response, accompanied by a MN-type specific change (an increase of $5-HT_{2A}$ in GL MNs and a decrease of $5-HT_{2C}$ in TA MNs) might be modulated differently in GL and TA MNs.

7.2. Overexpression of BDNF leads to locomotor recovery and promotes proexcitogenic phenotype of lumbar MNs after SCT

One promising way to treat SCI and modulate SCI-altered excitability of MNs is through administration of brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) to the injured spinal cord. BDNF is a classic member of neurotrophin family that supports the survival, differentiation and maturation of neurons and regulates glutamatergic signaling, synaptic function and spine morphology during development of the nervous system, promoting protection and regeneration of neurons (McAllister et al., 1999; Bibel and Barde, 2000; Numakawa et al., 2010; Kowianski et al., 2018). After being secreted into extracellular cleft, BDNF binds to TrkB receptor and acts on both presynaptic terminals and postsynaptic neurons to regulate neurotransmitter release (Li et al., 1998; Tyler et al., 2002), and modulate membrane potentials

and cell functions through receptor-mediated signaling pathways (Numakawa et al., 2010; Kowianski et al., 2018). Based on these features, number of studies were undertaken which identified that administration of BDNF to the animals with different SCI improve their motor abilities (Ziemlińska et al., 2014; Hernandez-Torres et al., 2017; Krupka et al., 2017; Ghosh et al., 2018; Charsar et al., 2019; Crowley et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019; Marchionne et al., 2020; Sieck et al., 2021). Moreover, the recovery of hindlimb locomotion after BDNF treatment was accompanied with enhanced excitability of lumbar MNs innervating hindlimb muscle (Boyce et al., 2012). These data were the starting point of my experiments, to consider BDNF treatment improving motor function after SCI in part through modulating the MN excitability.

My results showed that BDNF overexpression by AAV-BDNF intraspinal injection into spinal cord L1 segment profoundly improved locomotor performance of spinalized rats on a running treadmill, which is consistent with our previous study on long-term effects of BDNF overexpression (Ziemlinska et al., 2014). Moreover, through improving the experimental procedures and increasing the number of experimental animals, my results further strengthened the above conclusion. My results also showed that the AAV-BDNF administration increased the transcript level of BDNF in GL and TA MNs, that is in line with our study that shows the transcript level is significantly increased in the whole L3-6 spinal segment where the GL and TA MNs are located ((Głowacka et al., 2022), under review).

7.2.1. BDNF and glutamatergic signaling

BDNF increases Glu release by modulating the distribution and size of synaptic vesicles within presynaptic terminals (Takei et al., 1998; Tyler and Pozzo-Miller, 2001; Tyler et al., 2006). Postsynaptically, BDNF/TrkB signaling regulates the expression, traffic and phosphorylation of AMPAR and NMDAR (Narisawa-Saito et al., 2002; Xu et al., 2006; Caldeira et al., 2007; Carvalho et al., 2008; Carreño et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2016a). In the spinal cord, the regulation of Glu signaling via BDNF/TrkB has been extensively studied in the neuropathic pain pathways in the dorsal horn neurons. Binding of BDNF to TrkB receptors on dorsal horn neurons activates downstream signaling that triggers phosphorylation of GluN2B and GluN1 subunits of NMDAR and further enhances influx of Ca²⁺ through NMDAR (Slack and Thompson, 2002; Slack et al., 2004; Gao et al., 2005; Obata and Noguchi, 2006; Geng et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2014; Ding et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2015; Li et al., 2017).

As the result, the excitability of dorsal horn neurons is increased, which leads to enhancement of neuropathic pain (Zhou et al., 2021). Current evidence indicates that BDNF exerts similar modulatory functions in spinal cervical MNs; it has been suggested that BDNF/TrkB signaling may enhance the excitability of phrenic MNs via NMDAR signaling (Gill et al., 2016). Localized acute or chronic intrathecal delivery of BDNF to phrenic MNs pool promotes functional recovery of rhythmic EMG activity of diaphragm muscle after cervical SCI (Mantilla et al., 2013; Hernandez-Torres et al., 2017; Sieck et al., 2021), prevented by knockdown of TrkB expression or inhibition of TrkB kinase activity in phrenic MNs (Mantilla et al., 2013; Mantilla et al., 2014). Intrapleural delivery of AAV-TrkB also enhanced the recovery of ipsilateral rhythmic diaphragm muscle activity postinjury, and simultaneously increased mRNA expression of NMDAR in phrenic MNs (Gransee et al., 2017), suggesting an association between BDNF/TrkB signaling and Glu neurotransmission, which may reflect increased excitability of phrenic MNs during functional recovery of diaphragm. BDNF is capable of promoting survival of axotomized MNs in spinal cord lumbar segments during development (Yan et al., 1992; Kishino et al., 1997). However, how BDNF/TrkB signaling influence Glu signaling in lumbar MNs is not clear.

In my study, BDNF overexpression resulted in a general decrease of the transcripts of AMPAR subunits but an increase of the transcripts of NMDAR subunits, suggesting a rebalance of abundance of AMPAR and NMDAR, comparing to changes provoked by SCT. Although I have discussed above that the switch in expression levels from NMDARs to AMPARs after SCT may contribute to an increase or at least maintenance of MN excitability, based on the aforementioned evidence which I gathered, I propose a speculation that enhanced BDNF/TrkB signaling after AAV-BDNF administration might increase the excitability of MNs in a NMDAR-dependent way. Whether it is the case needs to be confirmed by further studies.

7.2.2. Multitarget impact of BDNF on inhibitory signaling: GABAergic/glycinergic receptors

BDNF/TrkB signaling can either downregulate or upregulate the expression of KCC2 in neurons via distinct signaling pathways (Lee-Hotta et al., 2019). So far, the data regarding how BDNF treatment modulates KCC2 expression after SCI are not conclusive. After chronic SCI, a decreased expression of

KCC2 was shown to contribute to the development of hyperreflexia and spasticity (Boulenguez et al., 2010). These symptoms can be alleviated by physical exercise. Treadmill training upregulated BDNF expression which increased expression of KCC2 on the plasma membranes of lumbar MNs after SCI (Tashiro et al., 2015; Beverungen et al., 2020; Li et al., 2022); elevated levels of KCC2 restored Cl⁻ homeostasis and reduced hyperexcitability of MNs, ameliorating spasticity. Consistently, in these two studies, blocking BDNF signaling during the training session prevented the increase of KCC2 expression and failed to ameliorate allodynia and spasticity. These results appear to illustrate a promising role of activity-dependent endogenous BDNF in modulation of KCC2 expression, MN excitability and recovery after SCI. Interestingly, intrathecal injection of exogenous BDNF into spinal cord lumbar enlargement at 15 d after SCI increased the relative amount of plasmalemmal versus cytoplasmic KCC2, indicating the exogenous BDNF contributes to attenuation of spasticity when the hyperreflexia and hyperexcitability had already developed (Boulenguez et al., 2010).

In my study, comparing with intact rats, the SCT with PBS injection resulted in decreased mRNA levels of the majority of examined subunits of GABA_AR, GlyR and KCC2, which is in line with the effects of SCT described in the first chapter. My results showed that BDNF overexpression resulted in a further downregulation of Gabrb3, Gabrg2, Glra1, Glrb in GL MNs and Gabra2, Glra1 in TA MNs; besides, the deficits of KCC2 transcripts caused by SCI were not counteracted by enhanced BDNF signaling in either MN type. Therefore, assuming that the transcript level is positively correlated with its protein level, I conclude that after SCT both lumbar extensor and flexor MNs are impoverished in KCC2. At a first glance, it seems that the results are in contrast to our expectations, because we considered that the enhanced BDNF/TrkB signaling might partly recover the impaired inhibitory neurotransmission in MNs to attenuate the development of the hyperexcitability of MNs and improve locomotor performance. Spinal disinhibition has been recognized as one mechanism to underlie hyperexcitability of MNs during SCI. Indeed, as I have illustrated on the Figure 7.1, a decrease of the KCC2 after SCT may lead to accumulation of high concentrations of Cl⁻ inside GL and TA MNs, which causes a shift in GABA_AR and GlyR function from inhibition to depolarization state, leading to a decrease of inhibition. However, low KCC2 level, found unaltered after BDNF overexpression in my study, together with concomitant decrease of GABA_AR and GlyR transcripts in MNs suggest, that high concentrations of Cl⁻ are maintained in the MNs but less excitatory drive resulting from GABAR and

GlyR contribution occurs, which also can be interpreted as a partial recovery of inhibition on MNs.

In this reasoning, the data obtained by our group previously, are important. Namely, chronic administration of exogenous BDNF up to 6-7 weeks resulted in a reduced level of KCC2 caudal to lesion site, which combined with elevated levels of GABA and GABA-synthetic enzymes (GAD65 and GAD67) (Ziemlińska et al., 2014), might serve as the conditions to develop hyperreflexia, observed in that time postlesion. The high level of intracellular Cl⁻, flowing out the neurons through GABA or/and glycine receptors, increases plasma membrane potential and results in the depolarization of the neuron; depolarization raises Ca^{2+} influx through voltage-dependent Ca^{2+} channels and NMDAR, further leading to increased excitability (Lee-Hotta et al., 2019).

Taken together, these data, including those obtained by me, raised the question: which determinants or conditions trigger BDNF to elicit either the upregulation or downregulation of the expression of KCC2 during SCI? The most probable factor is the concentration of BDNF available rather than its source. Physical training may induce the proper synthesis and release of BDNF as a result of adaptive plasticity of the animals to adapt to environmental change, which tends to alleviate the symptoms of SCI. On the other hand, BDNF tissue levels achieved after exogenous administration of BDNF protein or trangene are hard to control, what may lead to the amount of BDNF surpassing the requirement of the body, as described by our group, when overwhelming BDNF expression at 6-7 weeks after AAV-BDNF administration lead to spasticity-liked symptoms attenuating the quality of locomotor recovery accompanied with a decrease of KCC2 expression (Ziemlińska et al., 2014).

Interestingly, a study showing that application of exogenous BDNF significantly decreased the KCC2 mRNA levels in non-axotomized corticospinal neurons, while it increased KCC2 mRNA in axotomized corticospinal neurons (Shulga et al., 2008), suggest that axotomy may intervene the regulatory effects of BDNF on KCC2 expression. However, in my study spinal lumbar MNs are not axotomized after a thoracic SCT. Moreover, compared to the severe cell death of axotomized neurons at the lesion site of the spinal cord, neurons are not affected far from the lesion site(Bjugn et al., 1997; Crowe et al., 1997; Grossman et al., 2000; Hassannejad et al., 2018), as I showed also in my study in spinal and spinal, BDNF-treated rats.

7.2.3. Selectivity of BDNF- upregulating effects on monoaminergic receptors: 5-HT2ARs

BDNF can exert excitatory actions and raise excitability of MNs also via mediating the gating of ion channels including Na⁺, Ca²⁺, K⁺ at the plasma membrane of neurons (Blum et al., 2002; Rose et al., 2004). My results showed that BDNF overexpression did not cause significant effects on the transcript level of Cav1.3 and Kca1.1 channels, but counteracted the Nav1.1 (one of the major Na⁺ channels expressed in GL and TA MNs) elevation caused by SCT-PBS and restored it to control level.

The descending serotonergic (5-HT) or noradrenergic (NA) signaling from brain stem to spinal cord play crucial modulatory role in regulating the excitability of the spinal neuronal network. Given that, they have also been regarded as potential target to treat SCI. Administration of agonists of 5-HTRs and ARs, or graft of brainstem embryonic tissue were shown to trigger the restoration of coordinated hindlimb locomotion after SCI in adult animals (Chau et al., 1998; Ribotta et al., 2000; Sławińska et al., 2000; Slawinska et al., 2013; Ganzer et al., 2018; Kwaśniewska et al., 2020). At the cellular level, 5-HTRs and ARs are well known to modulate MN excitability in intact and SCI rats, especially 5-HTR₂ and AR_{α 1} in facilitating MN PICs (Heckman et al., 2009; Rank et al., 2011).

A substantive number of studies demonstrated that treatment of SCI with BDNF administration promoted the sprouting of 5-HT fibers and enhanced the serotonergic innervation of MNs (Sasaki et al., 2009; Han et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2017; Ghosh et al., 2018; Charsar et al., 2019; Kandalam et al., 2020). However, the knowledge of the connection between BDNF and t receptors in SCI is limited. The results obtained in this study showed that BDNF overexpression significantly elevates the transcript level of 5-HTR_{2A} beyond control level in GL and TA MNs, without affecting the AR_{a1A}, suggesting an increased serotonergic signaling dependent modulation which may enhance the excitability of MNs. There are also studies showing that activation of 5-HT_{2A} receptors by agonists upregulates the function and membrane expression of KCC2 in lumbar MNs and in dorsal horn neurons, thereby restoring the described earlier chloride ions homeostasis and endogenous inhibition, and reducing spasticity and neuropathic pain after SCI in rats (Bos et al., 2013; Sanchez-Brualla et al., 2018). In my study, KCC2 transcript level was not altered by BDNF overexpression, but we cannot exclude the possibility that the KCC2 protein was redistributed. Further studies are needed to disclose whether the protein level of the above molecules was adapted by BDNF overexpression.

7.2.4. How does BDNF overexpression change the protein level of the receptors?

The molecules examined in my study are clearly expressed on MNs displaying specific roles. For instance, I showed that AMPAR and NMDAR are detected in the cytoplasm and in the plasma membrane compartments (**Figure 7.2 A, B, Figure 7.3**). Subcellular fractionation of the tissue from L3-6 segments and western blot results showed that AMPAR GluA2 subunit and NMDAR GluN1 are mainly associated with membrane fraction (**Figure 7.2 C**). These observations indicate that these molecules are synthesized in the GL and TA MNs and transported to plasma membrane structures.



Figure 7.2. NMDAR GluN1 and VGLUT1 IF signal distribution on TA MNs. A. The IF intensity of GluN1 observed in the cytoplasm and membranes of MNs. VGLUT1 maker of Glu inputs is located in terminal boutons (green, arrows). B. The histogram presents intensity of line profile (white dotted line on A) of the staining. Arrows point peaks of VGLUT1 signal. Green: VGLUT1; Red: NMDAR GluN1. C. Subcellular fractionation and western blot results show that AMPAR GluA2 and NMDAR GluN1 are dominating in membrane fractions. P1: nuclear; P2: membrane; S2: cytoplasm fraction.

In the current study, I have shown the transcriptional regulation of the genes responsible for MN excitability in response to SCT and BDNF overexpression. Whether this transcriptional regulation is translated into protein alterations needs to be disclosed in further studies.



Figure 7.3. Representative example of AMPAR (GluA1 and GluA2 subunits), NMDAR (GluN1 and GluN2A subunits) and presynaptic maker synaptophysin expression and distribution on large MNs in the ventral horn of spinal cord.

To sum up, increasing the availability of BDNF for the impaired neurons to improve their function is a useful approach to treat SCI, as confirmed by this study. The treatment significantly improves the recovery of locomotion of SCT animals. At the molecular level, BDNF increases the MN excitability and activity of the locomotor network within the CPG. Despite beneficial effects, BDNF administration time period and dose are crucial for the outcomes, because high doses markedly exceeding the physiological ones and long term BDNF treatment cause undesirable effects. Our previous study showed that BDNF local overexpression improved the locomotor performance of spinalized rats on a running treadmill at early time point (~ 2 weeks) and at late time points (6–7 weeks). However, at the late time point, the BDNF treated rats displayed increased frequency of clonic movements which attenuated the quality of locomotor movements (Ziemlińska et al., 2014). These spasticity-like symptoms were also observed in a study exploring a cervical hemisection (Fouad et al., 2013). In my study a recovery of locomotion in the spinalized rats treated with AAV-BDNF was progressive. First step-like hindlimb movements in SP-BDNF rats was observed as early as on the 8th day after treatment and marked improvement of their performance reached the peak between 13th and 16th days. The results of my work indicate that controlling the administration time and dose of BDNF with concomitant treatment aimed to modulate selected receptors and channels is a promising strategy to improve function and network activity.

8. Summary and Conclusions

1. SCT results in disinhibition and increased modulation of transcription of the majority of genes coding for major receptors, transporters and channels associated with neurotransmission, similarly in GL and TA MNs. This result suggests that both the ankle extensor and flexor MNs were adapted to be more excitable at the subacute phase.

2. Correlation analysis indicated that the patterns of gene expression differ between GL MNs and TA MNs from Control animals, and are changed after SCT. The revealed patterns suggest that the set of genes coding for neurotransmission-related membrane proteins undergoes differential regulation in extensor and flexor MNs in physiological conditions and after injury.

3. BDNF overexpression caused a profound improvement of the locomotor performance of spinalized rats accompanied by marked changes in receptor expression suggesting promotion of the pro-excitatory phenotype in MNs, which develops after SCT. The reconstruction of the net effects of BDNF on the excitatory state of MNs requires further studies.

9. References

Adams MM, Hicks AL (2005) Spasticity after spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 43:577-586.

- 1. Ahuja CS, Wilson JR, Nori S, Kotter MRN, Druschel C, Curt A, Fehlings MG (2017) Traumatic spinal cord injury. Nat Rev Dis Primers 3:17018.
- Ahuja CS, Mothe A, Khazaei M, Badhiwala JH, Gilbert EA, van der Kooy D, Morshead CM, Tator C, Fehlings MG (2020) The leading edge: Emerging neuroprotective and neuroregenerative cell-based therapies for spinal cord injury. Stem Cells Transl Med 9:1509-1530.
- Aira Z, Buesa I, Garcia Del Cano G, Bilbao J, Donate F, Zimmermann M, Azkue JJ (2013) Transient, 5-HT2B receptor-mediated facilitation in neuropathic pain: Up-regulation of PKCgamma and engagement of the NMDA receptor in dorsal horn neurons. Pain 154:1865-1877.
- 4. Al-Majed AA, Brushart TM, Gordon T (2000) Electrical stimulation accelerates and increases expression of BDNF and trkB mRNA in regenerating rat femoral motoneurons. Eur J Neurosci 12:4381-4390.
- 5. Alizadeh A, Dyck SM, Karimi-Abdolrezaee S (2019) Traumatic Spinal Cord Injury: An Overview of Pathophysiology, Models and Acute Injury Mechanisms. Front Neurol 10:282.
- Amakhin DV, Soboleva EB, Chizhov AV, Zaitsev AV (2021) Insertion of Calcium-Permeable AMPA Receptors during Epileptiform Activity In Vitro Modulates Excitability of Principal Neurons in the Rat Entorhinal Cortex. Int J Mol Sci 22.
- Amaral DG, Sinnamon HM (1977) The locus coeruleus: neurobiology of a central noradrenergic nucleus. Progress in Neurobiol. 9:147-196.
- Anastasia A, Deinhardt K, Chao MV, Will NE, Irmady K, Lee FS, Hempstead BL, Bracken C (2013) Val66Met polymorphism of BDNF alters prodomain structure to induce neuronal growth cone retraction. Nat. Commun. 4:2490.
- Anden NE, Haeggendal J, Magnusson T, Rosengren E (1964) The Time Course of The Disappearance of Noradrenaline and 5-Hydroxytryptamine in The Spinal Cord after Transection. Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 62:115-118.
- Anderson MA, O'Shea TM, Burda JE, Ao Y, Barlatey SL, Bernstein AM, Kim JH, James ND, Rogers A, Kato B, Wollenberg AL, Kawaguchi R, Coppola G, Wang C, Deming TJ, He Z, Courtine G, Sofroniew MV (2018) Required growth facilitators propel axon regeneration across complete spinal cord injury. Nature 561:396-400.
- 11. Angeli CA, Edgerton VR, Gerasimenko YP, Harkema SJ (2014) Altering spinal cord excitability enables voluntary movements after chronic complete paralysis in humans. Brain 137:1394-1409.
- 12. Anggono V, Huganir RL (2012) Regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. Current opinion in neurobiology 22:461-469.
- 13. Anneser JM, Ince PG, Shaw PJ, Borasio GD (2004) Differential expression of mGluR5 in human lumbosacral motoneurons. Neuroreport 15:271-273.
- 14. Antri M, Orsal D, Barthe JY (2002) Locomotor recovery in the chronic spinal rat: effects of long-term treatment with a 5-HT2 agonist. Eur J Neurosci 16:467-476.
- Antri M, Mouffle C, Orsal D, Barthe JY (2003) 5-HT1A receptors are involved in short- and long-term processes responsible for 5-HT-induced locomotor function recovery in chronic spinal rat. Eur J Neurosci 18:1963-1972.
- 16. Apostolova I, Irintchev A, Schachner M (2006) Tenascin-R restricts posttraumatic remodeling of motoneuron innervation and functional recovery after spinal cord injury in adult mice. J. Neurosci. 26:7849-7859.
- 17. Arango-Lievano M, Anastasia A, Jeanneteau F (2015) ProBNDF Biology and Emerging Roles in the CNS:

The Unexpected Journey Of Proneurotrophins. In: Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF): Therapeutic Approaches, Role in Neuronal Development and Effects on Cognitive Health.

- 18. Arber S (2017) Organization and function of neuronal circuits controlling movement. EMBO Mol Med 9:281-284.
- 19. Armstrong DM (1986) Supraspinal contributions to the initiation and control of locomotion in the cat. Progress Neurobiol. 26:273-361.
- 20. Arora V, Morado-Urbina CE, Gwak YS, Parker RA, Kittel CA, Munoz-Islas E, Miguel Jimenez-Andrade J, Romero-Sandoval EA, Eisenach JC, Peters CM (2021) Systemic administration of a beta2-adrenergic receptor agonist reduces mechanical allodynia and suppresses the immune response to surgery in a rat model of persistent post-incisional hypersensitivity. Mol Pain 17:1744806921997206.
- 21. Arvanian VL, Mendell LM (2001) Acute modulation of synaptic transmission to motoneurons by BDNF in the neonatal rat spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 14:1800-1808.
- 22. Ashammakhi N, Kim HJ, Ehsanipour A, Bierman RD, Kaarela O, Xue C, Khademhosseini A, Seidlits SK (2019) Regenerative Therapies for Spinal Cord Injury. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 25:471-491.
- 23. Asztely F, Gustafsson B (1996) Ionotropic glutamate receptors. Their possible role in the expression of hippocampal synaptic plasticity. Mol. Neurobiol. 12:1-11.
- 24. Audet J, Lecomte CG (2021) Epidural electrical stimulation to facilitate locomotor recovery after spinal cord injury. J Neurophysiol 126:1751-1755.
- 25. Awad BI, Carmody MA, Steinmetz MP (2015) Potential role of growth factors in the management of spinal cord injury. World Neurosurg 83:120-131.
- 26. Baastrup C, Finnerup NB (2008) Pharmacological management of neuropathic pain following spinal cord injury. CNS drugs 22:455-475.
- 27. Bains M, Hall ED (2012) Antioxidant therapies in traumatic brain and spinal cord injury. Biochim Biophys Acta 1822:675-684.
- 28. Ballion B, Morin D, Viala D (2001) Forelimb locomotor generators and quadrupedal locomotion in the neonatal rat. Eur J Neurosci 14:1727-1738.
- 29. Barbeau H, Rossignol S (1987) Recovery of locomotion after chronic spinalization in the adult cat. Brain Research 412:84-95.
- 30. Barbeau H, Julien C, Rossignol S (1987) The effects of clonidine and yohimbine on locomotion and cutaneous reflexes in the adult chronic spinal cat. Brain Research 437:83-96.
- Barreiro-Iglesias A, Villar-Cervino V, Anadon R, Rodicio MC (2008) Descending brain-spinal cord projections in a primitive vertebrate, the lamprey: cerebrospinal fluid-contacting and dopaminergic neurons. J. Com. Neurol. 511:711-723.
- 32. Barriere G, Mellen N, Cazalets J-R (2004) Neuromodulation of the locomotor network by dopamine in the isolated spinal cord of newborn rat.Eur. J. Neurosci. 19:1325-1335.
- Barry MF, Ziff EB (2002) Receptor trafficking and the plasticity of excitatory synapses. Current opinion in neurobiology 12:279-286.
- 34. Barthélemy D, Leblond H, Rossignol S (2007) Characteristics and mechanisms of locomotion induced by intraspinal microstimulation and dorsal root stimulation in spinal cats. J Neurophysiol 97:1986-2000.
- 35. Beaulieu JM, Gainetdinov RR (2011) The physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of dopamine receptors. Pharmacol. Rev. 63:182-217.
- 36. Beaulieu JM, Espinoza S, Gainetdinov RR (2015) Dopamine receptors IUPHAR Review 13. Br J Pharmacol 172:1-23.
- 37. Beauparlant J, van den Brand R, Barraud Q, Friedli L, Musienko P, Dietz V, Courtine G (2013) Undirected

compensatory plasticity contributes to neuronal dysfunction after severe spinal cord injury. Brain 136:3347-3361.

- Benhadda A, Quentin E, Moutkine I, Chanrion B, Russeau M, Marin P, Levi S, Maroteaux L (2021) Serotonin 2B Receptor by Interacting with NMDA Receptor and CIPP Protein Complex May Control Structural Plasticity at Glutamatergic Synapses. ACS Chem Neurosci 12:1133-1149.
- 40. Beverungen H, Klaszky SC, Klaszky M, Cote MP (2020) Rehabilitation Decreases Spasticity by Restoring Chloride Homeostasis through the Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor-KCC2 Pathway after Spinal Cord Injury. J. Neurotrauma 37:846-859.
- 41. Bezprozvanny I, Mattson MP (2008) Neuronal calcium mishandling and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Trends Neurosci 31:454-463.
- 42. Bibel M, Barde YA (2000) Neurotrophins: key regulators of cell fate and cell shape in the vertebrate nervous system. Genes Dev 14:2919-2937.
- 43. Bigford GE, Chaudhry NS, Keane RW, Holohean AM (2012) 5-Hydroxytryptamine 5HT2C receptors form a protein complex with N-methyl-D-aspartate GluN2A subunits and activate phosphorylation of Src protein to modulate motoneuronal depolarization. J. Biol. Chem. 287:11049-11059.
- 44. Bigini P, Gardoni F, Barbera S, Cagnotto A, Fumagalli E, Longhi A, Corsi MM, Di Luca M, Mennini T (2006) Expression of AMPA and NMDA receptor subunits in the cervical spinal cord of wobbler mice. BMC Neurosci 7:71.
- 45. Bilchak JN, Yeakle K, Caron G, Malloy D, Cote MP (2021) Enhancing KCC2 activity decreases hyperreflexia and spasticity after chronic spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 338:113605.
- 46. Binder H (2013) Traumatic spinal cord injury. Handb Clin Neurol 110:411-426.
- 47. Björklund A, Skagerberg G (1979) Evidence for a major spinal cord projection from the diencephalic A11 dopamine cell group in the rat using transmitter-specific fluorescent retrograde tracing. Brain Res. 177:170-175.
- 48. Bjugn R, Nyengaard JR, Rosland JH (1997) Spinal Cord Transection-No Loss of Distal Ventral Horn Neurons. Exp. Neurol. 148:179-186.
- 49. Blum R, Kafitz KW, Konnerth A (2002) Neurotrophin-evoked depolarization requires the sodium channel Na(V)1.9. Nature 419:687-693.
- 50. Bonizzato M, James ND, Pidpruzhnykova G, Pavlova N, Shkorbatova P, Baud L, Martinez-Gonzalez C, Squair JW, DiGiovanna J, Barraud Q, Micera S, Courtine G (2021) Multi-pronged neuromodulation intervention engages the residual motor circuitry to facilitate walking in a rat model of spinal cord injury. Nat Commun 12:1925.
- Bos R, Sadlaoud K, Boulenguez P, Buttigieg D, Liabeuf S, Brocard C, Haase G, Bras H, Vinay L (2013) Activation of 5-HT2A receptors upregulates the function of the neuronal K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. PNAS 110:348-353.
- Boulenguez P, Liabeuf S, Bos R, Bras H, Jean-Xavier C, Brocard C, Stil A, Darbon P, Cattaert D, Delpire E, Marsala M, Vinay L (2010) Down-regulation of the potassium-chloride cotransporter KCC2 contributes to spasticity after spinal cord injury. Nature Med. 16:302-307.
- 53. Boyce VS, Park J, Gage FH, Mendell LM (2012) Differential effects of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophin-3 on hindlimb function in paraplegic rats. Eur J Neurosci 35:221-232.
- 54. Boyce VS, Tumolo M, Fischer I, Murray M, Lemay MA (2007) Neurotrophic factors promote and enhance
locomotor recovery in untrained spinalized cats. J Neurophysiol 98:1988-1996.

- 55. Bras H, Liabeuf S (2021) Differential effects of spinal cord transection on glycinergic and GABAergic synaptic signaling in sub-lesional lumbar motoneurons. J Chem Neuroanat 113:101847.
- 56. Brashear A (2005) CHAPTER L1 Spasticity. In: Animal Models of Movement Disorders (LeDoux M, ed), pp 679-686. Burlington: Academic Press.
- 57. Britz O, Zhang J, Grossmann KS, Dyck J, Kim JC, Dymecki S, Gosgnach S, Goulding M (2015) A genetically defined asymmetry underlies the inhibitory control of flexor-extensor locomotor movements. Elife 4.
- 58. Brown KM, Wrathall JR, Yasuda RP, Wolfe BB (2004) Glutamate receptor subunit expression after spinal cord injury in young rats. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 152:61-68.
- 59. Brownstone RM, Jordan LM, Kriellaars DJ, Noga BR, Shefchyk SJ (1992) On the regulation of repetitive firing in lumbar motoneurones during fictive locomotion in the cat. Experimental brain research 90:441-455.
- 60. Brumberg JC, Nowak LG, McCormick DA (2000) Ionic mechanisms underlying repetitive high-frequency burst firing in supragranular cortical neurons. J. Neurosci. 20:4829-4843.
- 61. Buckingham SD, Kwak S, Jones AK, Blackshaw SE, Sattelle DB (2008) Edited GluR2, a gatekeeper for motor neurone survival? Bioessays 30:1185-1192.
- 62. Burnashev N, Monyer H, Seeburg PH, Sakmann B (1992) Divalent ion permeability of AMPA receptor channels is dominated by the edited form of a single subunit. Neuron 8:189-198.
- 63. Bylund DB (1992) Subtypes of alpha 1- and alpha 2-adrenergic receptors. FASEB J. 6:832-839.
- 64. Byrnes KR, Stoica BA, Fricke S, Di Giovanni S, Faden AI (2007) Cell cycle activation contributes to postmitotic cell death and secondary damage after spinal cord injury. Brain 130:2977-2992.
- 65. Caggiano V, Leiras R, Goni-Erro H, Masini D, Bellardita C, Bouvier J, Caldeira V, Fisone G, Kiehn O (2018) Midbrain circuits that set locomotor speed and gait selection. Nature 553:455-460.
- 66. Calancie B, Broton JG, Klose KJ, Traad M, Difini J, Ayyar DR (1993) Evidence that alterations in presynaptic inhibition contribute to segmental hypo- and hyperexcitability after spinal cord injury in man. Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology 89:177-186.
- 67. Caldeira MV, Melo CV, Pereira DB, Carvalho RF, Carvalho AL, Duarte CB (2007) BDNF regulates the expression and traffic of NMDA receptors in cultured hippocampal neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci 35:208-219.
- Cantoria MJ, See PA, Singh H, de Leon RD (2011) Adaptations in glutamate and glycine content within the lumbar spinal cord are associated with the generation of novel gait patterns in rats following neonatal spinal cord transection. J. Neurosci. 31:18598-18605.
- 69. Carlin KP, Jones KE, Jiang Z, Jordan LM, Brownstone RM (2000) Dendritic L-type calcium currents in mouse spinal motoneurons: implications for bistability. Eur J Neurosci 12:1635-1646.
- 70. Caron G, Bilchak JN, Cote MP (2020) Direct evidence for decreased presynaptic inhibition evoked by PBSt group I muscle afferents after chronic SCI and recovery with step-training in rats. J Physiol 598:4621-4642.
- 71. Carp JS, Wolpaw JR (2010) Motor Neurons and Spinal Control of Movement. In: eLS.
- Carreño FR, Walch JD, Dutta M, Nedungadi TP, Cunningham JT (2011) Brain-derived neurotrophic factortyrosine kinase B pathway mediates NMDA receptor NR2B subunit phosphorylation in the supraoptic nuclei following progressive dehydration. Journal of Neuroendocrinology 23:894-905.
- 73. Carvalho AL, Caldeira MV, Santos SD, Duarte CB (2008) Role of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor at glutamatergic synapses. Br J Pharmacol 153 Suppl 1:S310-324.
- Cassam AK, Llewellyn-Smith IJ, Weaver LC (1997) Catecholamine enzymes and neuropeptides are expressed in fibres and somata in the intermediate gray matter in chronic spinal rats. Neuroscience 78:829-841.
- 75. Cazalets JR, Borde M, Clarac F (1995) Localization and organization of the central pattern generator for

hindlimb locomotion in newborn rat. J. Neurosci. 15:4943-4951.

- 76. Chamma I, Chevy Q, Poncer JC, Levi S (2012) Role of the neuronal K-Cl co-transporter KCC2 in inhibitory and excitatory neurotransmission. Front Cell Neurosci 6:5.
- 77. Charsar BA, Brinton MA, Locke K, Chen AY, Ghosh B, Urban MW, Komaravolu S, Krishnamurthy K, Smit R, Pasinelli P, Wright MC, Smith GM, Lepore AC (2019) AAV2-BDNF promotes respiratory axon plasticity and recovery of diaphragm function following spinal cord injury. FASEB J 33:13775-13793.
- 78. Chau C, Barbeau H, Rossignol S (1998) Effects of intrathecal alpha1- and alpha2-noradrenergic agonists and norepinephrine on locomotion in chronic spinal cats. J Neurophysiol 79:2941-2963.
- 79. Chawla RS, Zuchner M, Mastrangelopoulou M, Lambert FM, Glover JC, Boulland JL (2017) Cellular reactions and compensatory tissue re-organization during spontaneous recovery after spinal cord injury in neonatal mice. Dev Neurobiol 77:928-946.
- Chen B, Li Y, Yu B, Zhang Z, Brommer B, Williams PR, Liu Y, Hegarty SV, Zhou S, Zhu J, Guo H, Lu Y, Zhang Y, Gu X, He Z (2018) Reactivation of Dormant Relay Pathways in Injured Spinal Cord by KCC2 Manipulations. Cell 174:521-535.e513.
- Chen H, Ji H, Zhang M, Liu Z, Lao L, Deng C, Chen J, Zhong G (2017) An Agonist of the Protective Factor SIRT1 Improves Functional Recovery and Promotes Neuronal Survival by Attenuating Inflammation after Spinal Cord Injury. J. Neurosci. 37:2916-2930.
- Chen SR, Zhou HY, Byun HS, Pan HL (2013) Nerve injury increases GluA2-lacking AMPA receptor prevalence in spinal cords: functional significance and signaling mechanisms. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 347:765-772.
- 83. Chen W, Walwyn W, Ennes HS, Kim H, McRoberts JA, Marvizon JC (2014) BDNF released during neuropathic pain potentiates NMDA receptors in primary afferent terminals. Eur J Neurosci 39:1439-1454.
- Chen ZY, Ieraci A, Teng H, Dall H, Meng CX, Herrera DG, Nykjaer A, Hempstead BL, Lee FS (2005) Sortilin controls intracellular sorting of brain-derived neurotrophic factor to the regulated secretory pathway. J. Neurosci. 25:6156-6166.
- 85. Cheriyan T, Ryan DJ, Weinreb JH, Cheriyan J, Paul JC, Lafage V, Kirsch T, Errico TJ (2014) Spinal cord injury models: a review. Spinal Cord 52:588-595.
- 86. Chevallier S, Nagy F, Cabelguen JM (2006) Cholinergic control of excitability of spinal motoneurones in the salamander. J Physiol 570:525-540.
- 87. Choi DW (1992) Excitotoxic cell death. Journal of neurobiology 23:1261-1276.
- Choi DW (1994a) Calcium and excitotoxic neuronal injury. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 747:162-171.
- Choi DW (1994b) Glutamate receptors and the induction of excitotoxic neuronal death. Progress in Brain Res. 100:47-51.
- Chopek JW, Sheppard PC, Gardiner K, Gardiner PF (2015) Serotonin receptor and KCC2 gene expression in lumbar flexor and extensor motoneurons posttransection with and without passive cycling. J Neurophysiol 113:1369-1376.
- Ciabarra AM, Sullivan JM, Gahn LG, Pecht G, Heinemann S, Sevarino KA (1995) Cloning and characterization of chi-1: a developmentally regulated member of a novel class of the ionotropic glutamate receptor family. J. Neurosci. 15:6498-6508.
- Clatterbuck RE, Price DL, Koliatsos VE (1994) Further characterization of the effects of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and ciliary neurotrophic factor on axotomized neonatal and adult mammalian motor neurons. J. Com. Neurol. 342:45-56.
- 93. Cohen-Cory S, Fraser SE (1995) Effects of brain-derived neurotrophic factor on optic axon branching and

remodelling in vivo. Nature 378:192-196.

- 94. Collingridge GL, Isaac JT, Wang YT (2004) Receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:952-962.
- 95. Colucci-D'Amato L, Speranza L, Volpicelli F (2020) Neurotrophic Factor BDNF, Physiological Functions and Therapeutic Potential in Depression, Neurodegeneration and Brain Cancer. Int J Mol Sci 21.
- 96. Commissiong JW, Galli CL, Neff NH (1978) Differentiation of dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons in rat spinal cord. J Neurochem 30:1095-1099.
- 97. Compans B, Choquet D, Hosy E (2016) Review on the role of AMPA receptor nano-organization and dynamic in the properties of synaptic transmission. Neurophotonics 3:041811.
- 98. Corona JC, Tapia R (2004) AMPA receptor activation, but not the accumulation of endogenous extracellular glutamate, induces paralysis and motor neuron death in rat spinal cord in vivo. J Neurochem 89:988-997.
- 99. Corona JC, Tapia R (2007) Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors and intracellular Ca2+ determine motoneuron vulnerability in rat spinal cord in vivo. Neuropharmacology 52:1219-1228.
- 100. Corona JC, Tapia R (2008) Calpain inhibition protects spinal motoneurons from the excitotoxic effects of AMPA in vivo. Neurochem Res 33:1428-1434.
- 101. Côté M-P (2020) Role of chloride cotransporters in the development of spasticity and neuropathic pain after spinal cord injury. In: Neuronal Chloride Transporters in Health and Disease, pp 463-516.
- 102. Cote MP, Gandhi S, Zambrotta M, Houle JD (2014) Exercise modulates chloride homeostasis after spinal cord injury. J. Neurosci. 34:8976-8987.
- 103. Cote MP, Azzam GA, Lemay MA, Zhukareva V, Houle JD (2011) Activity-dependent increase in neurotrophic factors is associated with an enhanced modulation of spinal reflexes after spinal cord injury. J. Neurotrauma 28:299-309.
- 104. Cotel F, Antri M, Barthe JY, Orsal D (2009) Identified ankle extensor and flexor motoneurons display different firing profiles in the neonatal rat. J. Neurosci. 29:2748-2753.
- 105. Courtine G, Gerasimenko Y, van den Brand R, Yew A, Musienko P, Zhong H, Song B, Ao Y, Ichiyama RM, Lavrov I, Roy RR, Sofroniew MV, Edgerton VR (2009) Transformation of nonfunctional spinal circuits into functional states after the loss of brain input. Nat Neurosci 12:1333-1342.
- 106. Crable SC, Hammond SM, Papes R, Rettig RK, Zhou GP, Gallagher PG, Joiner CH, Anderson KP (2005) Multiple isoforms of the KC1 cotransporter are expressed in sickle and normal erythroid cells. Exp Hematol 33:624-631.
- 107. Cregg JM, Chu KA, Hager LE, Maggard RSJ, Stoltz DR, Edmond M, Alilain WJ, Philippidou P, Landmesser LT, Silver J (2017) A Latent Propriospinal Network Can Restore Diaphragm Function after High Cervical Spinal Cord Injury. Cell Reports 21:654-665.
- 108. Crowe MJ, Bresnahan JC, Shuman SL, Masters JN, Beattie MS (1997) Apoptosis and delayed degeneration after spinal cord injury in rats and monkeys. Nature Med. 3:73-76.
- 109. Crowley ST, Fukushima Y, Uchida S, Kataoka K, Itaka K (2019) Enhancement of Motor Function Recovery after Spinal Cord Injury in Mice by Delivery of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor mRNA. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 17:465-476.
- 110. Cull-Candy SG, Farrant M (2021) Ca(2+) -permeable AMPA receptors and their auxiliary subunits in synaptic plasticity and disease. J Physiol 599:2655-2671.
- 111. D'Amico JM, Li Y, Bennett DJ, Gorassini MA (2013a) Reduction of spinal sensory transmission by facilitation of 5-HT1B/D receptors in noninjured and spinal cord-injured humans. J Neurophysiol 109:1485-1493.
- 112. D'Amico JM, Condliffe EG, Martins KJB, Bennett DJ, Gorassini MA (2014a) Recovery of neuronal and

network excitability after spinal cord injury and implications for spasticity. Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience 8.

- 113. D'Amico JM, Condliffe EG, Martins KJ, Bennett DJ, Gorassini MA (2014b) Recovery of neuronal and network excitability after spinal cord injury and implications for spasticity. Front Integr Neurosci 8:36.
- 114. D'Amico JM, Murray KC, Li Y, Chan KM, Finlay MG, Bennett DJ, Gorassini MA (2013b) Constitutively active 5-HT2/alpha1 receptors facilitate muscle spasms after human spinal cord injury. J Neurophysiol 109:1473-1484.
- 115. Dahlstroem A, Fuxe K (1964) Evidence for the Existence of Monoamine-Containing Neurons in the Central Nervous System. I. Demonstration of Mnonamines in the Cell Bodies of Brain Stem Neurons. Acta Physiol. Scandinavica Suppl 232:231-255.
- 116. Day HE, Campeau S, Watson SJ, Jr., Akil H (1997) Distribution of alpha 1a-, alpha 1b- and alpha 1dadrenergic receptor mRNA in the rat brain and spinal cord. J Chem Neuroanat 13:115-139.
- 117. de Leon RD, Tamaki H, Hodgson JA, Roy RR, Edgerton VR (1999) Hindlimb locomotor and postural training modulates glycinergic inhibition in the spinal cord of the adult spinal cat. J Neurophysiol 82:359-369.
- 118. Deardorff AS, Romer SH, Sonner PM, Fyffe RE (2014) Swimming against the tide: investigations of the Cbouton synapse. Front Neural Circuits 8:106.
- Deardorff AS, Romer SH, Deng Z, Bullinger KL, Nardelli P, Cope TC, Fyffe REW (2013) Expression of postsynaptic Ca2+-activated K+(SK) channels at C-bouton synapses in mammalian lumbar α-motoneurons. J. Physiol. 591:875-897.
- 120. Dieni S, Matsumoto T, Dekkers M, Rauskolb S, Ionescu MS, Deogracias R, Gundelfinger ED, Kojima M, Nestel S, Frotscher M, Barde YA (2012) BDNF and its pro-peptide are stored in presynaptic dense core vesicles in brain neurons. J Cell Biol 196:775-788.
- 121. Diering GH, Huganir RL (2018) The AMPA Receptor Code of Synaptic Plasticity. Neuron 100:314-329.
- 122. Dietz V, Grillner S, Trepp A, Hubli M, Bolliger M (2009) Changes in spinal reflex and locomotor activity after a complete spinal cord injury: a common mechanism? Brain 132:2196-2205.
- 123. Ding X, Cai J, Li S, Liu XD, Wan Y, Xing GG (2015) BDNF contributes to the development of neuropathic pain by induction of spinal long-term potentiation via SHP2 associated GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors activation in rats with spinal nerve ligation. Neurobiol. Disease 73:428-451.
- 124. Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF (1999) The glutamate receptor ion channels. Pharmacol. Rev. 51:7-61.
- 125. Ditunno JF, Little JW, Tessler A, Burns AS (2004) Spinal shock revisited: a four-phase model. Spinal Cord 42:383-395.
- 126. Doolen S, Blake CB, Smith BN, Taylor BK (2012) Peripheral nerve injury increases glutamate-evoked calcium mobilization in adult spinal cord neurons. Mol Pain 8:56.
- 127. Dougherty KD, Dreyfus CF, Black IB (2000) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor in astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia/macrophages after spinal cord injury. Neurobiology of disease 7:574-585.
- 128. Edgerton VR, Roy RR (2010) Spasticity: a switch from inhibition to excitation. Nature Med. 16:270-271.
- 129. Edgerton VR, Courtine G, Gerasimenko YP, Lavrov I, Ichiyama RM, Fong AJ, Cai LL, Otoshi CK, Tillakaratne NJK, Burdick JW, Roy RR (2008) Training locomotor networks. Brain Research Reviews 57:241-254.
- Ellgaard L, Helenius A (2003) Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology 4:181-191.
- Elliott P, Wallis DI (1992) Serotonin and L-norepinephrine as mediators of altered excitability in neonatal rat motoneurons studied in vitro. Neuroscience 47:533-544.

- 132. Emery E, Aldana P, Bunge MB, Puckett W, Srinivasan A, Keane RW, Bethea J, Levi AD (1998) Apoptosis after traumatic human spinal cord injury. J. Neurosurg. 89:911-920.
- 133. Fagni L, Chavis P, Ango F, Bockaert J (2000) Complex interactions between mGluRs, intracellular Ca2+ stores and ion channels in neurons. Trends Neurosci 23:80-88.
- 134. Fakhri S, Dargahi L, Abbaszadeh F, Jorjani M (2018) Astaxanthin attenuates neuroinflammation contributed to the neuropathic pain and motor dysfunction following compression spinal cord injury. Brain Res Bull 143:217-224.
- 135. Farooque M, Hillered L, Holtz A, Olsson Y (1996) Changes of extracellular levels of amino acids after graded compression trauma to the spinal cord: an experimental study in the rat using microdialysis. J. Neurotrauma 13:537-548.
- 136. Fedirchuk B, Dai Y (2004) Monoamines increase the excitability of spinal neurones in the neonatal rat by hyperpolarizing the threshold for action potential production. J Physiol 557:355-361.
- 137. Ferguson AR, Christensen RN, Gensel JC, Miller BA, Sun F, Beattie EC, Bresnahan JC, Beattie MS (2008) Cell death after spinal cord injury is exacerbated by rapid TNF alpha-induced trafficking of GluR2-lacking AMPARs to the plasma membrane. J. Neurosci. 28:11391-11400.
- Ferguson AR, Huie JR, Crown ED, Baumbauer KM, Hook MA, Garraway SM, Lee KH, Hoy KC, Grau JW (2012) Maladaptive spinal plasticity opposes spinal learning and recovery in spinal cord injury. Front Physiol 3:399.
- 139. Foltran RB, Diaz SL (2016) BDNF isoforms: a round trip ticket between neurogenesis and serotonin? Journal of Neurochemistry 138:204-221.
- 140. Formento E, Minassian K, Wagner F, Mignardot JB, Le Goff-Mignardot CG, Rowald A, Bloch J, Micera S, Capogrosso M, Courtine G (2018) Electrical spinal cord stimulation must preserve proprioception to enable locomotion in humans with spinal cord injury. Nat Neurosci 21:1728-1741.
- Forssberg H, Grillner S (1973) The locomotion of the acute spinal cat injected with clonidine i.v. Brain Res. 50:184-186.
- 142. Fouad K, Bennett DJ, Vavrek R, Blesch A (2013) Long-term viral brain-derived neurotrophic factor delivery promotes spasticity in rats with a cervical spinal cord hemisection. Front Neurol 4:187.
- 143. Fukaya M, Kato A, Lovett C, Tonegawa S, Watanabe M (2003) Retention of NMDA receptor NR2 subunits in the lumen of endoplasmic reticulum in targeted NR1 knockout mice. PNAS 100:4855-4860.
- 144. Fukuoka T, Kobayashi K, Noguchi K (2010) Laminae-specific distribution of alpha-subunits of voltage-gated sodium channels in the adult rat spinal cord. Neuroscience 169:994-1006.
- 145. Fukushima F, Nakao K, Shinoe T, Fukaya M, Muramatsu S, Sakimura K, Kataoka H, Mori H, Watanabe M, Manabe T, Mishina M (2009) Ablation of NMDA receptors enhances the excitability of hippocampal CA3 neurons. PLoS One 4:e3993.
- 146. Fuller DD, Baker-Herman TL, Golder FJ, Doperalski NJ, Watters JJ, Mitchell GS (2005) Cervical spinal cord injury upregulates ventral spinal 5-HT2A receptors. J. Neurotrauma 22:203-213.
- 147. Furuyama T, Kiyama H, Sato K, Park HT, Maeno H, Takagi H, Tohyama M (1993) Region-specific expression of subunits of ionotropic glutamate receptors (AMPA-type, KA-type and NMDA receptors) in the rat spinal cord with special reference to nociception. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 18:141-151.
- 148. Fuxe K (1965) Evidence for the Existence of Monoamine Neurons in the Central Nervous System. 3. The Monoamine Nerve Terminal. Zeitschrift fur Zellforschung und mikroskopische Anatomie (Vienna, Austria: 1948) 65:573-596.
- Gan Q, Salussolia CL, Wollmuth LP (2015) Assembly of AMPA receptors: mechanisms and regulation. J Physiol 593:39-48.

- 150. Ganzer PD, Beringer CR, Shumsky JS, Nwaobasi C, Moxon KA (2018) Serotonin receptor and dendritic plasticity in the spinal cord mediated by chronic serotonergic pharmacotherapy combined with exercise following complete SCI in the adult rat. Exp. Neurol. 304:132-142.
- 151. Gao J, Sun Z, Xiao Z, Du Q, Niu X, Wang G, Chang YW, Sun Y, Sun W, Lin A, Bresnahan JC, Maze M, Beattie MS, Pan JZ (2019) Dexmedetomidine modulates neuroinflammation and improves outcome via alpha2-adrenergic receptor signaling after rat spinal cord injury. Br J Anaesth 123:827-838.
- 152. Gao M, Lu P, Bednark B, Lynam D, Conner JM, Sakamoto J, Tuszynski MH (2013) Templated agarose scaffolds for the support of motor axon regeneration into sites of complete spinal cord transection. Biomaterials 34:1529-1536.
- 153. Gao X, Kim HK, Chung JM, Chung K (2005) Enhancement of NMDA receptor phosphorylation of the spinal dorsal horn and nucleus gracilis neurons in neuropathic rats. Pain 116:62-72.
- 154. Gao Z, Yang Y, Feng Z, Li X, Min C, Zhu Z, Song H, Hu Y, Wang Y, He X (2021) Chemogenetic stimulation of proprioceptors remodels lumbar interneuron excitability and promotes motor recovery after SCI. Mol Ther 29:2483-2498.
- 155. Garcia-Gallo M, Renart J, Diaz-Guerra M (2001) The NR1 subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor can be efficiently expressed alone in the cell surface of mammalian cells and is required for the transport of the NR2A subunit. The Biochemical Journal 356:539-547.
- 156. Garcia VB, Abbinanti MD, Harris-Warrick RM, Schulz DJ (2018) Effects of Chronic Spinal Cord Injury on Relationships among Ion Channel and Receptor mRNAs in Mouse Lumbar Spinal Cord. Neuroscience 393:42-60.
- 157. Garraway SM, Huie JR (2016) Spinal Plasticity and Behavior: BDNF-Induced Neuromodulation in Uninjured and Injured Spinal Cord. Neural Plast 2016:9857201.
- 158. Gaudet AD, Fonken LK (2018) Glial Cells Shape Pathology and Repair After Spinal Cord Injury. Neurotherapeutics 15:554-577.
- 159. Ge Y, Wang YT (2021) GluA1-homomeric AMPA receptor in synaptic plasticity and neurological diseases. Neuropharmacology 197:108708.
- 160. Geng SJ, Liao FF, Dang WH, Ding X, Liu XD, Cai J, Han JS, Wan Y, Xing GG (2010) Contribution of the spinal cord BDNF to the development of neuropathic pain by activation of the NR2B-containing NMDA receptors in rats with spinal nerve ligation. Exp. Neurol. 222:256-266.
- 161. Ghorbani M, Shahabi P, Karimi P, Soltani-Zangbar H, Morshedi M, Bani S, Jafarzadehgharehziaaddin M, Sadeghzadeh-Oskouei B, Ahmadalipour A (2020) Impacts of epidural electrical stimulation on Wnt signaling, FAAH, and BDNF following thoracic spinal cord injury in rat. J Cell Physiol 235:9795-9805.
- 162. Ghosh A, Haiss F, Sydekum E, Schneider R, Gullo M, Wyss MT, Mueggler T, Baltes C, Rudin M, Weber B, Schwab ME (2009) Rewiring of hindlimb corticospinal neurons after spinal cord injury. Nature Neurosci. 13:97-104.
- 163. Ghosh B, Wang Z, Nong J, Urban MW, Zhang Z, Trovillion VA, Wright MC, Zhong Y, Lepore AC (2018) Local BDNF Delivery to the Injured Cervical Spinal Cord using an Engineered Hydrogel Enhances Diaphragmatic Respiratory Function. J. Neurosci. 38:5982-5995.
- 164. Gill LC, Gransee HM, Sieck GC, Mantilla CB (2016) Functional recovery after cervical spinal cord injury: Role of neurotrophin and glutamatergic signaling in phrenic motoneurons. Respiratory Physiol & Neurobiol. 226:128-136.
- 165. Gillen CM, Brill S, Payne JA, Forbush B, 3rd (1996) Molecular cloning and functional expression of the K-Cl cotransporter from rabbit, rat, and human. A new member of the cation-chloride cotransporter family. J. Biol. Chem. 271:16237-16244.

- 166. Giroux N, Rossignol S, Reader TA (1999) Autoradiographic study of α1- and α2-noradrenergic and serotonin1A receptors in the spinal cord of normal and chronically transected cats. J.Comp. Neurol. 406:402-414.
- 167. Giuliodori MJ, Zuccolilli G (2004) Postsynaptic potential summation and action potential initiation: function following form. Advances in physiology education 28:79-80.
- 168. Głowacka A, Ji B, Szczepankiewicz A, Skup M, Gajewska-Woźniak O (2022) Effects of BDNF spinal overexpression on morphological and functional correlates of pre- and postsynaptic components of cholinergic signaling of neuromuscular junction in tibialis anterior and soleus muscles after spinal cord injury. Biomedicines (in revision).
- 169. Gold MS, Flake NM (2005) Inflammation-mediated hyperexcitability of sensory neurons. Neurosignals 14:147-157.
- 170. Gomez-Pinilla F, Huie JR, Ying Z, Ferguson AR, Crown ED, Baumbauer KM, Edgerton VR, Grau JW (2007) BDNF and learning: Evidence that instrumental training promotes learning within the spinal cord by upregulating BDNF expression. Neuroscience 148:893-906.
- 171. Gómez-Pinilla F, Ying Z, Opazo P, Roy RR, Edgerton VR (2001) Differential regulation by exercise of BDNF and NT-3 in rat spinal cord and skeletal muscle. Eur J Neurosci 13:1078-1084.
- 172. Gómez-Pinilla F, Ying Z, Roy RR, Molteni R, Edgerton VR (2002) Voluntary exercise induces a BDNFmediated mechanism that promotes neuroplasticity. J Neurophysiol 88:2187-2195.
- 173. Goncalves J, Bartol TM, Camus C, Levet F, Menegolla AP, Sejnowski TJ, Sibarita JB, Vivaudou M, Choquet D, Hosy E (2020) Nanoscale co-organization and coactivation of AMPAR, NMDAR, and mGluR at excitatory synapses. PNAS 117:14503-14511.
- 174. Gong C, Zheng X, Guo F, Wang Y, Zhang S, Chen J, Sun X, Shah SZA, Zheng Y, Li X, Yin Y, Li Q, Huang X, Guo T, Han X, Zhang SC, Wang W, Chen H (2021) Human spinal GABA neurons alleviate spasticity and improve locomotion in rats with spinal cord injury. Cell Rep 34:108889.
- 175. Gonzalez M, Collins WF, 3rd (1997) Modulation of motoneuron excitability by brain-derived neurotrophic factor. J Neurophysiol 77:502-506.
- 176. Gotoh D, Shimizu N, Wada N, Kadekawa K, Saito T, Mizoguchi S, Morizawa Y, Hori S, Miyake M, Torimoto K, de Groat WC, Fujimoto K, Yoshimura N (2020) Effects of a new beta3-adrenoceptor agonist, vibegron, on neurogenic bladder dysfunction and remodeling in mice with spinal cord injury. Neurourol Urodyn 39:2120-2127.
- 177. Graham RM, Perez DM, Hwa J, Piascik MT (1996) alpha 1-adrenergic receptor subtypes. Molecular structure, function, and signaling. Circ Res 78:737-749.
- 178. Gransee HM, Gonzalez Porras MA, Zhan WZ, Sieck GC, Mantilla CB (2017) Motoneuron glutamatergic receptor expression following recovery from cervical spinal hemisection. J. Com. Neurol. 525:1192-1205.
- 179. Grau JW, Baine RE, Bean PA, Davis JA, Fauss GN, Henwood MK, Hudson KE, Johnston DT, Tarbet MM, Strain MM (2020) Learning to promote recovery after spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 330.
- 180. Greger IH, Khatri L, Ziff EB (2002) RNA editing at arg607 controls AMPA receptor exit from the endoplasmic reticulum. Neuron 34:759-772.
- 181. Greger IH, Watson JF, Cull-Candy SG (2017) Structural and Functional Architecture of AMPA-Type Glutamate Receptors and Their Auxiliary Proteins. Neuron 94:713-730.
- Greger IH, Khatri L, Kong X, Ziff EB (2003) AMPA receptor tetramerization is mediated by Q/R editing. Neuron 40:763-774.
- Grillner S, El Manira A (2020) Current Principles of Motor Control, with Special Reference to Vertebrate Locomotion. Physiol Rev 100:271-320.

- 184. Grossman SD, Wolfe BB, Yasuda RP, Wrathall JR (1999) Alterations in AMPA receptor subunit expression after experimental spinal cord contusion injury. J. Neurosci. 19:5711-5720.
- 185. Grossman SD, Wolfe BB, Yasuda RP, Wrathall JR (2000) Changes in NMDA receptor subunit expression in response to contusive spinal cord injury. J Neurochem 75:174-184.
- 186. Grunnet M, Jespersen T, Perrier JF (2004) 5-HT1A receptors modulate small-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channels. J Neurosci Res 78:845-854.
- 187. Grycz K, Glowacka A, Ji B, Czarkowska-Bauch J, Gajewska-Wozniak O, Skup M (2019) Early pre- and postsynaptic decrease in glutamatergic and cholinergic signaling after spinalization is not modified when stimulating proprioceptive input to the ankle extensor alpha-motoneurons: Anatomical and neurochemical study. PLoS One 14:e0222849.
- 188. Guo J, Ji Y, Ding Y, Jiang W, Sun Y, Lu B, Nagappan G (2016) BDNF pro-peptide regulates dendritic spines via caspase-3. Cell Death Dis 7:e2264.
- 189. Gwak YS, Hulsebosch CE (2005) Upregulation of Group I metabotropic glutamate receptors in neurons and astrocytes in the dorsal horn following spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 195:236-243.
- 190. Hagglund M, Borgius L, Dougherty KJ, Kiehn O (2010) Activation of groups of excitatory neurons in the mammalian spinal cord or hindbrain evokes locomotion. Nat Neurosci 13:246-252.
- 191. Hama A, Sagen J (2012) Combinations of intrathecal gamma-amino-butyrate receptor agonists and Nmethyl-d-aspartate receptor antagonists in rats with neuropathic spinal cord injury pain. European journal of pharmacology 683:101-108.
- 192. Han P, Whelan PJ (2009) Modulation of AMPA currents by D(1)-like but not D(2)-like receptors in spinal motoneurons. Neuroscience 158:1699-1707.
- 193. Han P, Nakanishi ST, Tran MA, Whelan PJ (2007) Dopaminergic modulation of spinal neuronal excitability.J. Neurosci. 27:13192-13204.
- 194. Han S, Wang B, Jin W, Xiao Z, Li X, Ding W, Kapur M, Chen B, Yuan B, Zhu T, Wang H, Wang J, Dong Q, Liang W, Dai J (2015) The linear-ordered collagen scaffold-BDNF complex significantly promotes functional recovery after completely transected spinal cord injury in canine. Biomaterials 41:89-96.
- 195. Hancock MB, Fougerousse CL (1976) Spinal projections from the nucleus locus coeruleus and nucleus subcoeruleus in the cat and monkey as demonstrated by the retrograde transport of horseradish peroxidase. Brain Res Bull 1:229-234.
- 196. Hansen KB, Ogden KK, Yuan H, Traynelis SF (2014) Distinct functional and pharmacological properties of Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B NMDA receptors. Neuron 81:1084-1096.
- 197. Harnie J, Doelman A, de Vette E, Audet J, Desrochers E, Gaudreault N, Frigon A (2019) The recovery of standing and locomotion after spinal cord injury does not require task-specific training. Elife 8.
- 198. Hartmann B, Ahmadi S, Heppenstall PA, Lewin GR, Schott C, Borchardt T, Seeburg PH, Zeilhofer HU, Sprengel R, Kuner R (2004) The AMPA receptor subunits GluR-A and GluR-B reciprocally modulate spinal synaptic plasticity and inflammatory pain. Neuron 44:637-650.
- 199. Harvey AR, Lovett SJ, Majda BT, Yoon JH, Wheeler LP, Hodgetts SI (2015) Neurotrophic factors for spinal cord repair: Which, where, how and when to apply, and for what period of time? Brain research 1619:36-71.
- 200. Harvey PJ, Li X, Li Y, Bennett DJ (2006a) 5-HT2 receptor activation facilitates a persistent sodium current and repetitive firing in spinal motoneurons of rats with and without chronic spinal cord injury. J Neurophysiol 96:1158-1170.
- 201. Harvey PJ, Li X, Li Y, Bennett DJ (2006b) 5-HT2Receptor Activation Facilitates a Persistent Sodium Current and Repetitive Firing in Spinal Motoneurons of Rats With and Without Chronic Spinal Cord Injury. J. Neurophysiol. 96:1158-1170.

- 202. Harvey PJ, Li X, Li Y, Bennett DJ (2006c) Endogenous Monoamine Receptor Activation Is Essential for Enabling Persistent Sodium Currents and Repetitive Firing in Rat Spinal Motoneurons. J. Neurophysiol. 96:1171-1186.
- 203. Hassannejad Z, Zadegan SA, Shakouri-Motlagh A, Mokhatab M, Rezvan M, Sharif-Alhoseini M, Shokraneh F, Moshayedi P, Rahimi-Movaghar V (2018) The fate of neurons after traumatic spinal cord injury in rats: A systematic review. Iranian journal of basic medical sciences 21:546-557.
- 204. Hayashi Y, Jacob-Vadakot S, Dugan EA, McBride S, Olexa R, Simansky K, Murray M, Shumsky JS (2010) 5-HT precursor loading, but not 5-HT receptor agonists, increases motor function after spinal cord contusion in adult rats. Exp. Neurol. 221:68-78.
- 205. Hayta E, Elden H (2018) Acute spinal cord injury: A review of pathophysiology and potential of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for pharmacological intervention. J Chem Neuroanat 87:25-31.
- 206. Hebert SC, Mount DB, Gamba G (2004) Molecular physiology of cation-coupled Cl- cotransport: the SLC12 family. Pflugers Arch 447:580-593.
- 207. Heckman CJ, Enoka RM (2012) Motor unit. Compr Physiol 2:2629-2682.
- 208. Heckman CJ, Lee RH, Brownstone RM (2003) Hyperexcitable dendrites in motoneurons and their neuromodulatory control during motor behavior. Trends in Neurosci. 26:688-695.
- 209. Heckman CJ, Gorassini MA, Bennett DJ (2005) Persistent inward currents in motoneuron dendrites: Implications for motor output. Muscle & Nerve 31:135-156.
- 210. Heckman CJ, Johnson M, Mottram C, Schuster J (2008) Persistent inward currents in spinal motoneurons and their influence on human motoneuron firing patterns. Neuroscientist 14:264-275.
- 211. Heckman CJ, Mottram C, Quinlan K, Theiss R, Schuster J (2009) Motoneuron excitability: the importance of neuromodulatory inputs. Clin Neurophysiol 120:2040-2054.
- 212. Heckmann CJ, Gorassini MA, Bennett DJ (2005) Persistent inward currents in motoneuron dendrites: implications for motor output. Muscle Nerve 31:135-156.
- 213. Heinke B, Sandkuhler J (2007) Group I metabotropic glutamate receptor-induced Ca(2+)-gradients in rat superficial spinal dorsal horn neurons. Neuropharmacology 52:1015-1023.
- 214. Hendry S (2016) Post-Synaptic Potentials and Action Potentials: Membrane Potentials. In: Neuroscience in the 21st Century, pp 113-136.
- 215. Hernandez-Torres V, Gransee HM, Mantilla CB, Wang Y, Zhan WZ, Sieck GC (2017) BDNF effects on functional recovery across motor behaviors after cervical spinal cord injury. J Neurophysiol 117:537-544.
- 216. Hesp ZC, Yoseph RY, Suzuki R, Jukkola P, Wilson C, Nishiyama A, McTigue DM (2018) Proliferating NG2-Cell-Dependent Angiogenesis and Scar Formation Alter Axon Growth and Functional Recovery After Spinal Cord Injury in Mice. J. Neurosci. 38:1366-1382.
- 217. Hiersemenzel LP, Curt A, Dietz V (2000) From spinal shock to spasticity: neuronal adaptations to a spinal cord injury. Neurology 54:1574-1582.
- 218. Hofer MM, Barde YA (1988) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor prevents neuronal death in vivo. Nature 331:261-262.
- 219. Hofstoetter US, Danner SM, Freundl B, Binder H, Mayr W, Rattay F, Minassian K (2015) Periodic modulation of repetitively elicited monosynaptic reflexes of the human lumbosacral spinal cord. J Neurophysiol 114:400-410.
- 220. Hollis ER, 2nd, Tuszynski MH (2011) Neurotrophins: potential therapeutic tools for the treatment of spinal cord injury. Neurotherapeutics 8:694-703.
- 221. Hollmann M, Heinemann S (1994) Cloned glutamate receptors. Annual Rev. Neurosci. 17:31-108.
- 222. Holohean AM, Hackman JC (2004) Mechanisms intrinsic to 5-HT2B receptor-induced potentiation of

NMDA receptor responses in frog motoneurones. Br J Pharmacol 143:351-360.

- 223. Hou S, Carson DM, Wu D, Klaw MC, Houle JD, Tom VJ (2016) Dopamine is produced in the rat spinal cord and regulates micturition reflex after spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 285:136-146.
- 224. Hou S, DeFinis JH, Daugherty SL, Tang C, Weinberger J, de Groat WC (2021) Deciphering Spinal Endogenous Dopaminergic Mechanisms That Modulate Micturition Reflexes in Rats with Spinal Cord Injury. eNeuro 8.
- 225. Hoy KC, Huie JR, Grau JW (2013) AMPA receptor mediated behavioral plasticity in the isolated rat spinal cord. Behav Brain Res 236:319-326.
- 226. Huang CX, Zhao Y, Mao J, Wang Z, Xu L, Cheng J, Guan NN, Song J (2021a) An injury-induced serotonergic neuron subpopulation contributes to axon regrowth and function restoration after spinal cord injury in zebrafish. Nat Commun 12:7093.
- 227. Huang J, Zhang Y, Lu L, Hu X, Luo Z (2013) Electrical stimulation accelerates nerve regeneration and functional recovery in delayed peripheral nerve injury in rats. Eur J Neurosci 38:3691-3701.
- 228. Huang X et al. (2021b) Human amyotrophic lateral sclerosis excitability phenotype screen: Target discovery and validation. Cell Rep 35:109224.
- 229. Hubli M, Dietz V (2013) The physiological basis of neurorehabilitation--locomotor training after spinal cord injury. Journal of neuroengineering and rehabilitation 10:5.
- Hubli M, Bolliger M, Dietz V (2011) Neuronal dysfunction in chronic spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 49:582-587.
- 231. Huie JR, Stuck ED, Lee KH, Irvine KA, Beattie MS, Bresnahan JC, Grau JW, Ferguson AR (2015) AMPA Receptor Phosphorylation and Synaptic Colocalization on Motor Neurons Drive Maladaptive Plasticity below Complete Spinal Cord Injury. eNeuro 2.
- 232. Hutchinson KJ, Gomez-Pinilla F, Crowe MJ, Ying Z, Basso DM (2004) Three exercise paradigms differentially improve sensory recovery after spinal cord contusion in rats. Brain 127:1403-1414.
- 233. Ichiyama RM, Broman J, Roy RR, Zhong H, Edgerton VR, Havton LA (2011) Locomotor training maintains normal inhibitory influence on both alpha- and gamma-motoneurons after neonatal spinal cord transection. J. Neurosci. 31:26-33.
- 234. Ichiyama RM, Courtine G, Gerasimenko YP, Yang GJ, van den Brand R, Lavrov IA, Zhong H, Roy RR, Edgerton VR (2008) Step Training Reinforces Specific Spinal Locomotor Circuitry in Adult Spinal Rats. J. Neurosci. 28:7370-7375.
- 235. Ikeda K, Nagasawa M, Mori H, Araki K, Sakimura K, Watanabe M, Inoue Y, Mishina M (1992) Cloning and expression of the epsilon 4 subunit of the NMDA receptor channel. FEBS letters 313:34-38.
- 236. Ikeda O, Murakami M, Ino H, Yamazaki M, Nemoto T, Koda M, Nakayama C, Moriya H (2001) Acute upregulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression resulting from experimentally induced injury in the rat spinal cord. Acta Neuropathol 102:239-245.
- 237. Ireland DR, Abraham WC (2002) Group I mGluRs increase excitability of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons by a PLC-independent mechanism. J Neurophysiol 88:107-116.
- 238. Isaac JT, Ashby MC, McBain CJ (2007) The role of the GluR2 subunit in AMPA receptor function and synaptic plasticity. Neuron 54:859-871.
- 239. Ishii T, Moriyoshi K, Sugihara H, Sakurada K, Kadotani H, Yokoi M, Akazawa C, Shigemoto R, Mizuno N, Masu M, et al. (1993) Molecular characterization of the family of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits. J. Biol. Chem. 268:2836-2843.
- 240. Iwagaki N, Miles GB (2011) Activation of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors modulates locomotorrelated motoneuron output in mice. J Neurophysiol 105:2108-2120.

- 241. Jakeman LB, Wei P, Guan Z, Stokes BT (1998) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor stimulates hindlimb stepping and sprouting of cholinergic fibers after spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 154:170-184.
- 242. Jakovcevski I, Wu J, Karl N, Leshchyns'ka I, Sytnyk V, Chen J, Irintchev A, Schachner M (2007) Glial scar expression of CHL1, the close homolog of the adhesion molecule L1, limits recovery after spinal cord injury. J. Neurosci. 27:7222-7233.
- 243. Jakowec MW, Yen L, Kalb RG (1995a) In situ hybridization analysis of AMPA receptor subunit gene expression in the developing rat spinal cord. Neuroscience 67:909-920.
- 244. Jakowec MW, Fox AJ, Martin LJ, Kalb RG (1995b) Quantitative and qualitative changes in AMPA receptor expression during spinal cord development. Neuroscience 67:893-907.
- 245. James ND, McMahon SB, Field-Fote EC, Bradbury EJ (2018) Neuromodulation in the restoration of function after spinal cord injury. The Lancet Neurology 17:905-917.
- 246. Jha U, Thirumalai V (2020) Neuromodulatory Selection of Motor Neuron Recruitment Patterns in a Visuomotor Behavior Increases Speed. Curr Biol 30:788-801 e783.
- 247. Jiang MC, Birch DV, Heckman CJ, Tysseling VM (2021) The Involvement of CaV1.3 Channels in Prolonged Root Reflexes and Its Potential as a Therapeutic Target in Spinal Cord Injury. Front Neural Circuits 15:642111.
- 248. Jonas P, Burnashev N (1995) Molecular mechanisms controlling calcium entry through AMPA-type glutamate receptor channels. Neuron 15:987-990.
- 249. Jordan LM, Sławińska U (2014) The Brain and Spinal Cord Networks Controlling Locomotion. In: Neuronal Networks in Brain Function, CNS Disorders, and Therapeutics, pp 215-233.
- 250. Jordan LM, Liu J, Hedlund PB, Akay T, Pearson KG (2008) Descending command systems for the initiation of locomotion in mammals. Brain Res Rev 57:183-191.
- 251. Jordan LM, McVagh JR, Noga BR, Cabaj AM, Majczynski H, Slawinska U, Provencher J, Leblond H, Rossignol S (2014) Cholinergic mechanisms in spinal locomotion-potential target for rehabilitation approaches. Front Neural Circuits 8:132.
- 252. Joseph MS, Tillakaratne NJ, de Leon RD (2012) Treadmill training stimulates brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA expression in motor neurons of the lumbar spinal cord in spinally transected rats. Neuroscience 224:135-144.
- 253. Joynes RL, Janjua K, Grau JW (2004) Instrumental learning within the spinal cord: VI. The NMDA receptor antagonist, AP5, disrupts the acquisition and maintenance of an acquired flexion response. Behav Brain Res 154:431-438.
- 254. Kandalam S, De Berdt P, Ucakar B, Vanvarenberg K, Bouzin C, Gratpain V, Diogenes A, Montero-Menei CN, des Rieux A (2020) Human dental stem cells of the apical papilla associated to BDNF-loaded pharmacologically active microcarriers (PAMs) enhance locomotor function after spinal cord injury. Int J Pharm 587:119685.
- 255. Kapitza S, Zorner B, Weinmann O, Bolliger M, Filli L, Dietz V, Schwab ME (2012) Tail spasms in rat spinal cord injury: changes in interneuronal connectivity. Exp. Neurol. 236:179-189.
- 256. Keinanen K, Wisden W, Sommer B, Werner P, Herb A, Verdoorn TA, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH (1990) A family of AMPA-selective glutamate receptors. Science 249:556-560.
- 257. Khalki L, Sadlaoud K, Lerond J, Coq JO, Brezun JM, Vinay L, Coulon P, Bras H (2018) Changes in innervation of lumbar motoneurons and organization of premotor network following training of transected adult rats. Exp. Neurol. 299:1-14.
- 258. Kiehn O (2016) Decoding the organization of spinal circuits that control locomotion. Nat Rev Neurosci 17:224-238.
- 259. Kiehn O, Dougherty K (2013) Locomotion: Circuits and Physiology. In: Neuroscience in the 21st Century,

pp 1209-1236.

- 260. Kiehn O, Kjaerulff O, Tresch MC, Harris-Warrick RM (2000) Contributions of intrinsic motor neuron properties to the production of rhythmic motor output in the mammalian spinal cord. Brain Res Bull 53:649-659.
- 261. Kim EH, Wilson JM, Thompson CK, Heckman CJ (2020) Differences in estimated persistent inward currents between ankle flexors and extensors in humans. J. Neurophysiol. 124:525-535.
- 262. Kim Y, Park YK, Cho HY, Kim J, Yoon YW (2011) Long-term changes in expressions of spinal glutamate transporters after spinal cord injury. Brain Res. 1389:194-199.
- 263. Kirshblum SC, Waring W, Biering-Sorensen F, Burns SP, Johansen M, Schmidt-Read M, Donovan W, Graves D, Jha A, Jones L, Mulcahey MJ, Krassioukov A (2011) International standards for neurological classification of spinal cord injury (Revised 2011). J Spinal Cord Med 34:547-554.
- 264. Kishino A, Ishige Y, Tatsuno T, Nakayama C, Noguchi H (1997) BDNF prevents and reverses adult rat motor neuron degeneration and induces axonal outgrowth. Exp. Neurol. 144:273-286.
- 265. Kitzman P (2006) Changes in vesicular glutamate transporter 2, vesicular GABA transporter and vesicular acetylcholine transporter labeling of sacrocaudal motoneurons in the spastic rat. Exp. Neurol. 197:407-419.
- 266. Kjell J, Olson L (2016) Rat models of spinal cord injury: from pathology to potential therapies. Dis Model Mech 9:1125-1137.
- 267. Kobashi S, Terashima T, Katagi M, Nakae Y, Okano J, Suzuki Y, Urushitani M, Kojima H (2020) Transplantation of M2-Deviated Microglia Promotes Recovery of Motor Function after Spinal Cord Injury in Mice. Mol Ther 28:254-265.
- 268. Koblinger K, Fuzesi T, Ejdrygiewicz J, Krajacic A, Bains JS, Whelan PJ (2014) Characterization of A11 neurons projecting to the spinal cord of mice. PLoS One 9:e109636.
- 269. Kohr G (2006) NMDA receptor function: subunit composition versus spatial distribution. Cell Tissue Res 326:439-446.
- 270. Konen LM, Wright AL, Royle GA, Morris GP, Lau BK, Seow PW, Zinn R, Milham LT, Vaughan CW, Vissel B (2020) A new mouse line with reduced GluA2 Q/R site RNA editing exhibits loss of dendritic spines, hippocampal CA1-neuron loss, learning and memory impairments and NMDA receptor-independent seizure vulnerability. Mol Brain 13:27.
- 271. Kong XY, Wienecke J, Hultborn H, Zhang M (2010) Robust upregulation of serotonin 2A receptors after chronic spinal transection of rats: an immunohistochemical study. Brain Res. 1320:60-68.
- 272. Kong XY, Wienecke J, Chen M, Hultborn H, Zhang M (2011) The time course of serotonin 2A receptor expression after spinal transection of rats: an immunohistochemical study. Neuroscience 177:114-126.
- 273. Kowianski P, Lietzau G, Czuba E, Waskow M, Steliga A, Morys J (2018) BDNF: A Key Factor with Multipotent Impact on Brain Signaling and Synaptic Plasticity. Cell Mol Neurobiol 38:579-593.
- 274. Krupka AJ, Fischer I, Lemay MA (2017) Transplants of Neurotrophin-Producing Autologous Fibroblasts Promote Recovery of Treadmill Stepping in the Acute, Sub-Chronic, and Chronic Spinal Cat. J. Neurotrauma 34:1858-1872.
- 275. Kwaśniewska A, Miazga K, Majczyński H, Jordan LM, Zawadzka M, Sławińska U (2020) Noradrenergic Components of Locomotor Recovery Induced by Intraspinal Grafting of the Embryonic Brainstem in Adult Paraplegic Rats. Int J Mol Sci 21.
- 276. Lamas JA, Romero M, Reboreda A, Sanchez E, Ribeiro SJ (2009) A riluzole- and valproate-sensitive persistent sodium current contributes to the resting membrane potential and increases the excitability of sympathetic neurones. Pflugers Arch 458:589-599.
- 277. Lambrechts MJ, Cook JL (2021) Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs and Their Neuroprotective Role

After an Acute Spinal Cord Injury: A Systematic Review of Animal Models. Global Spine J 11:365-377.

- 278. Larsson M, Broman J (2011) Synaptic plasticity and pain: role of ionotropic glutamate receptors. Neuroscientist 17:256-273.
- 279. Laube B, Kuhse J, Betz H (1998) Evidence for a tetrameric structure of recombinant NMDA receptors. J. Neurosci. 18:2954-2961.
- 280. Leal G, Afonso PM, Salazar IL, Duarte CB (2015) Regulation of hippocampal synaptic plasticity by BDNF. Brain Res. 1621:82-101.
- 281. Lee-Hotta S, Uchiyama Y, Kametaka S (2019) Role of the BDNF-TrkB pathway in KCC2 regulation and rehabilitation following neuronal injury: A mini review. Neurochem Int 128:32-38.
- 282. Lee RH, Heckman CJ (1998) Bistability in spinal motoneurons in vivo: systematic variations in rhythmic firing patterns. J Neurophysiol 80:572-582.
- 283. Lee RH, Heckman CJ (1999) Enhancement of bistability in spinal motoneurons in vivo by the noradrenergic alpha1 agonist methoxamine. J Neurophysiol 81:2164-2174.
- 284. Leech KA, Kinnaird CR, Hornby TG (2014) Effects of serotonergic medications on locomotor performance in humans with incomplete spinal cord injury. J. Neurotrauma 31:1334-1342.
- 285. Leis AA, Kronenberg MF, Stětkárová I, Paske WC, Stokić DS (1996) Spinal motoneuron excitability after acute spinal cord injury in humans. Neurology 47:231-237.
- 286. Li DP, Byan HS, Pan HL (2012) Switch to glutamate receptor 2-lacking AMPA receptors increases neuronal excitability in hypothalamus and sympathetic drive in hypertension. J. Neurosci. 32:372-380.
- 287. Li DP, Zhu LH, Pachuau J, Lee HA, Pan HL (2014a) mGluR5 Upregulation Increases Excitability of Hypothalamic Presympathetic Neurons through NMDA Receptor Trafficking in Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats. J. Neurosci. 34:4309-4317.
- 288. Li GL, Brodin G, Farooque M, Funa K, Holtz A, Wang WL, Olsson Y (1996) Apoptosis and expression of Bcl-2 after compression trauma to rat spinal cord. Journal of neuropathology and Exp. Neurol. 55:280-289.
- 289. Li K, Javed E, Hala TJ, Sannie D, Regan KA, Maragakis NJ, Wright MC, Poulsen DJ, Lepore AC (2015) Transplantation of glial progenitors that overexpress glutamate transporter GLT1 preserves diaphragm function following cervical SCI. Mol Ther 23:533-548.
- 290. Li K, Nicaise C, Sannie D, Hala TJ, Javed E, Parker JL, Putatunda R, Regan KA, Suain V, Brion JP, Rhoderick F, Wright MC, Poulsen DJ, Lepore AC (2014b) Overexpression of the astrocyte glutamate transporter GLT1 exacerbates phrenic motor neuron degeneration, diaphragm compromise, and forelimb motor dysfunction following cervical contusion spinal cord injury. J. Neurosci. 34:7622-7638.
- 291. Li L, Chen SR, Zhou MH, Wang L, Li DP, Chen H, Lee G, Jayaraman V, Pan HL (2021) alpha2delta-1 switches the phenotype of synaptic AMPA receptors by physically disrupting heteromeric subunit assembly. Cell Rep 36:109396.
- 292. Li S, Tator CH (2000) Action of locally administered NMDA and AMPA/kainate receptor antagonists in spinal cord injury. Neurol. Res. 22:171-180.
- 293. Li S, Cai J, Feng ZB, Jin ZR, Liu BH, Zhao HY, Jing HB, Wei TJ, Yang GN, Liu LY, Cui YJ, Xing GG (2017) BDNF Contributes to Spinal Long-Term Potentiation and Mechanical Hypersensitivity Via Fyn-Mediated Phosphorylation of NMDA Receptor GluN2B Subunit at Tyrosine 1472 in Rats Following Spinal Nerve Ligation. Neurochem Res 42:2712-2729.
- 294. Li X, Murray K, Harvey PJ, Ballou EW, Bennett DJ (2007) Serotonin facilitates a persistent calcium current in motoneurons of rats with and without chronic spinal cord injury. J Neurophysiol 97:1236-1246.
- 295. Li X, Wu Q, Xie C, Wang C, Wang Q, Dong C, Fang L, Ding J, Wang T (2019) Blocking of BDNF-TrkB signaling inhibits the promotion effect of neurological function recovery after treadmill training in rats with

spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 57:65-74.

- 296. Li X, Song X, Fang L, Ding J, Qi L, Wang Q, Dong C, Wang S, Wu J, Wang T, Wu Q (2022) Body Weight-Supported Treadmill Training Ameliorates Motoneuronal Hyperexcitability by Increasing GAD-65/67 and KCC2 Expression via TrkB Signaling in Rats with Incomplete Spinal Cord Injury. Neurochem Res 47:1679-1691.
- 297. Li Y, Bennett DJ (2003) Persistent sodium and calcium currents cause plateau potentials in motoneurons of chronic spinal rats. J Neurophysiol 90:857-869.
- 298. Li Y, Gorassini MA, Bennett DJ (2004) Role of persistent sodium and calcium currents in motoneuron firing and spasticity in chronic spinal rats. J Neurophysiol 91:767-783.
- 299. Li Y, Li L, Stephens MJ, Zenner D, Murray KC, Winship IR, Vavrek R, Baker GB, Fouad K, Bennett DJ (2014c) Synthesis, transport, and metabolism of serotonin formed from exogenously applied 5-HTP after spinal cord injury in rats. J Neurophysiol 111:145-163.
- 300. Li YX, Zhang Y, Lester HA, Schuman EM, Davidson N (1998) Enhancement of neurotransmitter release induced by brain-derived neurotrophic factor in cultured hippocampal neurons. J. Neurosci. 18:10231-10240.
- 301. Lim JY, Reighard CP, Crowther DC (2015) The pro-domains of neurotrophins, including BDNF, are linked to Alzheimer's disease through a toxic synergy with Abeta. Hum Mol Genet 24:3929-3938.
- 302. Ling X, Bao F, Qian H, Liu D (2013) The temporal and spatial profiles of cell loss following experimental spinal cord injury: effect of antioxidant therapy on cell death and functional recovery. BMC Neurosci 14:146.
- 303. Lipsky RH, Marini AM (2007) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor in neuronal survival and behavior-related plasticity. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1122:130-143.
- 304. Liu D, Thangnipon W, McAdoo DJ (1991) Excitatory amino acids rise to toxic levels upon impact injury to the rat spinal cord. Brain Res. 547:344-348.
- 305. Liu M, Kay JC, Shen S, Qiao LY (2015) Endogenous BDNF augments NMDA receptor phosphorylation in the spinal cord via PLCgamma, PKC, and PI3K/Akt pathways during colitis. J Neuroinflammation 12:151.
- 306. Liu S, Ruenes GL, Yezierski RP (1997) NMDA and non-NMDA receptor antagonists protect against excitotoxic injury in the rat spinal cord. Brain Res. 756:160-167.
- 307. Liu S, Sandner B, Schackel T, Nicholson L, Chtarto A, Tenenbaum L, Puttagunta R, Muller R, Weidner N, Blesch A (2017) Regulated viral BDNF delivery in combination with Schwann cells promotes axonal regeneration through capillary alginate hydrogels after spinal cord injury. Acta Biomater 60:167-180.
- 308. Liu SJ, Zukin RS (2007) Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors in synaptic plasticity and neuronal death. Trends Neurosci 30:126-134.
- 309. Liu W-M, Wu J-Y, Li F-C, Chen Q-X (2011) Ion channel blockers and spinal cord injury. Journal of Neuroscience Research 89:791-801.
- 310. Liu XY, Chen C, Xu HH, Zhang YS, Zhong L, Hu N, Jia XL, Wang YW, Zhong KH, Liu C, Zhu X, Ming D, Li XH (2021) Integrated printed BDNF/collagen/chitosan scaffolds with low temperature extrusion 3D printer accelerated neural regeneration after spinal cord injury. Regen Biomater 8:rbab047.
- 311. Lovely RG, Gregor RJ, Roy RR, Edgerton VR (1986) Effects of training on the recovery of full-weightbearing stepping in the adult spinal cat. Exp. Neurol. 92:421-435.
- 312. Lu DC, Edgerton VR, Modaber M, AuYong N, Morikawa E, Zdunowski S, Sarino ME, Sarrafzadeh M, Nuwer MR, Roy RR, Gerasimenko Y (2016) Engaging Cervical Spinal Cord Networks to Reenable Volitional Control of Hand Function in Tetraplegic Patients. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 30:951-962.
- 313. Lu P, Blesch A, Graham L, Wang Y, Samara R, Banos K, Haringer V, Havton L, Weishaupt N, Bennett D, Fouad K, Tuszynski MH (2012) Motor axonal regeneration after partial and complete spinal cord transection. J. Neurosci. 32:8208-8218.

- 314. Lu W, Shi Y, Jackson AC, Bjorgan K, During MJ, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH, Nicoll RA (2009) Subunit composition of synaptic AMPA receptors revealed by a single-cell genetic approach. Neuron 62:254-268.
- 315. Lukovic D, Moreno-Manzano V, Lopez-Mocholi E, Rodriguez-Jimenez FJ, Jendelova P, Sykova E, Oria M, Stojkovic M, Erceg S (2015) Complete rat spinal cord transection as a faithful model of spinal cord injury for translational cell transplantation. Sci Rep 5:9640.
- 316. Ma L, Ostrovsky H, Miles G, Lipski J, Funk GD, Nicholson LF (2006) Differential expression of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors in human motoneurons at low and high risk of degeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neuroscience 143:95-104.
- 317. Macias M, Dwornik A, Ziemlinska E, Fehr S, Schachner M, Czarkowska-Bauch J, Skup M (2007) Locomotor exercise alters expression of pro-brain-derived neurotrophic factor, brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its receptor TrkB in the spinal cord of adult rats. Eur J Neurosci 25:2425-2444.
- 318. Macias M, Nowicka D, Czupryn A, Sulejczak D, Skup M, Skangiel-Kramska J, Czarkowska-Bauch J (2009) Exercise-induced motor improvement after complete spinal cord transection and its relation to expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and presynaptic markers. BMC Neurosci 10:144.
- 319. Magnusson T (1973) Effect of chronic transection on dopamine, noradrenaline and 5-hydroxytryptamine in the rat spinal cord. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology 278:13-22.
- 320. Malinow R (2003) AMPA receptor trafficking and long-term potentiation. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 358:707-714.
- 321. Malone IG, Nosacka RL, Nash MA, Otto KJ, Dale EA (2021) Electrical epidural stimulation of the cervical spinal cord: implications for spinal respiratory neuroplasticity after spinal cord injury. J Neurophysiol 126:607-626.
- 322. Man HY (2011) GluA2-lacking, calcium-permeable AMPA receptors--inducers of plasticity? Current opinion in neurobiology 21:291-298.
- 323. Mantilla CB, Bailey JP, Zhan WZ, Sieck GC (2012) Phrenic motoneuron expression of serotonergic and glutamatergic receptors following upper cervical spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 234:191-199.
- 324. Mantilla CB, Gransee HM, Zhan W-Z, Sieck GC (2013) Motoneuron BDNF/TrkB signaling enhances functional recovery after cervical spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 247:101-109.
- 325. Mantilla CB, Gransee HM, Zhan WZ, Sieck GC (2017) Impact of glutamatergic and serotonergic neurotransmission on diaphragm muscle activity after cervical spinal hemisection. J Neurophysiol 118:1732-1738.
- 326. Mantilla CB, Greising SM, Stowe JM, Zhan WZ, Sieck GC (2014) TrkB kinase activity is critical for recovery of respiratory function after cervical spinal cord hemisection. Exp. Neurol. 261:190-195.
- 327. Mao S, Garzon-Muvdi T, Di Fulvio M, Chen Y, Delpire E, Alvarez FJ, Alvarez-Leefmans FJ (2012) Molecular and functional expression of cation-chloride cotransporters in dorsal root ganglion neurons during postnatal maturation. J. Neurophysiol. 108:834-852.
- 328. Marcantoni M, Fuchs A, Löw P, Bartsch D, Kiehn O, Bellardita C (2020) Early delivery and prolonged treatment with nimodipine prevents the development of spasticity after spinal cord injury in mice. Science translational medicine 12.
- 329. Marchionne F, Krupka AJ, Smith GM, Lemay MA (2020) Intrathecal Delivery of BDNF Into the Lumbar Cistern Re-Engages Locomotor Stepping After Spinal Cord Injury. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 28:2459-2467.
- 330. Marcoux J, Rossignol S (2000) Initiating or blocking locomotion in spinal cats by applying noradrenergic drugs to restricted lumbar spinal segments. J. Neurosci. 20:8577-8585.
- 331. Maren S, Tocco G, Standley S, Baudry M, Thompson RF (1993) Postsynaptic factors in the expression of

long-term potentiation (LTP): increased glutamate receptor binding following LTP induction in vivo. PNAS 90:9654-9658.

- 332. Martínez A, Alcántara S, Borrell V, Del Río JA, Blasi J, Otal R, Campos N, Boronat A, Barbacid M, Silos-Santiago I, Soriano E (1998) TrkB and TrkC signaling are required for maturation and synaptogenesis of hippocampal connections. J. Neurosci. 18:7336-7350.
- 333. Maynard FM (1986) Early clinical experience with clonidine in spinal spasticity. Paraplegia 24:175-182.
- 334. Mazzone GL, Mohammadshirazi A, Aquino JB, Nistri A, Taccola G (2021) GABAergic Mechanisms Can Redress the Tilted Balance between Excitation and Inhibition in Damaged Spinal Networks. Mol. Neurobiol. 58:3769-3786.
- 335. McAdoo DJ, Xu GY, Robak G, Hughes MG (1999) Changes in amino acid concentrations over time and space around an impact injury and their diffusion through the rat spinal cord. Exp. Neurol. 159:538-544.
- 336. McAllister AK, Katz LC, Lo DC (1999) Neurotrophins and synaptic plasticity. Annual review of neuroscience 22:295-318.
- 337. McNicholas LF, Martin WR, Sloan JW, Nozaki M (1980) Innervation of the spinal cord by sympathetic fibers. Exp. Neurol. 69:383-394.
- 338. Medalha CC, Jin Y, Yamagami T, Haas C, Fischer I (2014) Transplanting neural progenitors into a complete transection model of spinal cord injury. J Neurosci Res 92:607-618.
- 339. Mehanna A, Jakovcevski I, Acar A, Xiao M, Loers G, Rougon G, Irintchev A, Schachner M (2010) Polysialic acid glycomimetic promotes functional recovery and plasticity after spinal cord injury in mice. Mol Ther 18:34-43.
- 340. Mekhael W, Begum S, Samaddar S, Hassan M, Toruno P, Ahmed M, Gorin A, Maisano M, Ayad M, Ahmed Z (2019) Repeated anodal trans-spinal direct current stimulation results in long-term reduction of spasticity in mice with spinal cord injury. J Physiol 597:2201-2223.
- 341. Melamed E, Lahav M, Atlas D (1976) Histochemical evidence for beta-adrenergic receptors in the rat spinal cord. Brain Res. 116:511-515.
- 342. Mennini T, Bigini P, Ravizza T, Vezzani A, Calvaresi N, Tortarolo M, Bendotti C (2002) Expression of glutamate receptor subtypes in the spinal cord of control and mnd mice, a model of motor neuron disorder. J Neurosci Res 70:553-560.
- 343. Miles GB, Sillar KT (2011) Neuromodulation of vertebrate locomotor control networks. Physiology (Bethesda, Md) 26:393-411.
- 344. Miles GB, Hartley R, Todd AJ, Brownstone RM (2007) Spinal cholinergic interneurons regulate the excitability of motoneurons during locomotion. PNAS 104:2448-2453.
- 345. Mille T, Quilgars C, Cazalets JR, Bertrand SS (2021) Acetylcholine and spinal locomotor networks: The insider. Physiol Rep 9:e14736.
- 346. Minakov AN, Chernov AS, Asutin DS, Konovalov NA, Telegin GB (2018) Experimental Models of Spinal Cord Injury in Laboratory Rats. Acta Naturae 10:4-10.
- 347. Mizui T, Ishikawa Y, Kumanogoh H, Lume M, Matsumoto T, Hara T, Yamawaki S, Takahashi M, Shiosaka S, Itami C, Uegaki K, Saarma M, Kojima M (2015) BDNF pro-peptide actions facilitate hippocampal LTD and are altered by the common BDNF polymorphism Val66Met. PNAS 112:E3067-3074.
- 348. Mizukami T (2004) Immunocytochemical localization of beta2-adrenergic receptors in the rat spinal cord and their spatial relationships to tyrosine hydroxylase-immunoreactive terminals. The Kurume medical journal 51:175-183.
- 349. Mohan R, Tosolini AP, Morris R (2015) Segmental distribution of the motor neuron columns that supply the rat hindlimb: A muscle/motor neuron tract-tracing analysis targeting the motor end plates. Neuroscience

307:98-108.

- 350. Monyer H, Sprengel R, Schoepfer R, Herb A, Higuchi M, Lomeli H, Burnashev N, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH (1992) Heteromeric NMDA receptors: molecular and functional distinction of subtypes. Science (New York, NY) 256:1217-1221.
- 351. Mori H, Mishina M (1995) Structure and function of the NMDA receptor channel. Neuropharmacology 34:1219-1237.
- 352. Moriyoshi K, Masu M, Ishii T, Shigemoto R, Mizuno N, Nakanishi S (1991) Molecular cloning and characterization of the rat NMDA receptor. Nature 354:31-37.
- 353. Mota SI, Ferreira IL, Rego AC (2014) Dysfunctional synapse in Alzheimer's disease A focus on NMDA receptors. Neuropharmacology 76 Pt A:16-26.
- 354. Murray KC, Stephens MJ, Ballou EW, Heckman CJ, Bennett DJ (2011a) Motoneuron excitability and muscle spasms are regulated by 5-HT2B and 5-HT2C receptor activity. J Neurophysiol 105:731-748.
- 355. Murray KC, Stephens MJ, Rank M, D'Amico J, Gorassini MA, Bennett DJ (2011b) Polysynaptic excitatory postsynaptic potentials that trigger spasms after spinal cord injury in rats are inhibited by 5-HT1B and 5-HT1F receptors. J Neurophysiol 106:925-943.
- 356. Murray KC, Nakae A, Stephens MJ, Rank M, D'Amico J, Harvey PJ, Li X, Harris RL, Ballou EW, Anelli R, Heckman CJ, Mashimo T, Vavrek R, Sanelli L, Gorassini MA, Bennett DJ, Fouad K (2010) Recovery of motoneuron and locomotor function after spinal cord injury depends on constitutive activity in 5-HT2C receptors. Nature Med. 16:694-700.
- 357. Nardone R, Holler Y, Thomschewski A, Holler P, Lochner P, Golaszewski S, Brigo F, Trinka E (2015) Serotonergic transmission after spinal cord injury. J Neural Transm (Vienna) 122:279-295.
- 358. Narisawa-Saito M, Iwakura Y, Kawamura M, Araki K, Kozaki S, Takei N, Nawa H (2002) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulates surface expression of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazoleproprionic acid receptors by enhancing the N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor/GluR2 interaction in developing neocortical neurons. The J. Biol. Chem. 277:40901-40910.
- 359. Nascimento F, Broadhead MJ, Tetringa E, Tsape E, Zagoraiou L, Miles GB (2020) Synaptic mechanisms underlying modulation of locomotor-related motoneuron output by premotor cholinergic interneurons. Elife 9.
- 360. National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center B, AL: University of Alabama at Birmingham (2016) Spinal Cord Injury (SCI) 2016 Facts and Figures at a Glance. J Spinal Cord Med 39:493-494.
- 361. Newton BW, Hamill RW (1988) The morphology and distribution of rat serotoninergic intraspinal neurons: an immunohistochemical study. Brain Res Bull 20:349-360.
- 362. Newton BW, Maley BE, Hamill RW (1986) Immunohistochemical demonstration of serotonin neurons in autonomic regions of the rat spinal cord. Brain Res. 376:155-163.
- Nicolopoulos-Stournaras S, Iles JF (1983) Motor neuron columns in the lumbar spinal cord of the rat. J. Com. Neurol. 217:75-85.
- 364. Nistri A, Ostroumov K, Sharifullina E, Taccola G (2006) Tuning and playing a motor rhythm: how metabotropic glutamate receptors orchestrate generation of motor patterns in the mammalian central nervous system. J Physiol 572:323-334.
- 365. Niswender CM, Conn PJ (2010) Metabotropic glutamate receptors: physiology, pharmacology, and disease. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 50:295-322.
- 366. Novikov L, Novikova L, Kellerth JO (1997) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor promotes axonal regeneration and long-term survival of adult rat spinal motoneurons in vivo. Neuroscience 79:765-774.
- 367. Nozaki M, Bell JA, Martin WR (1980) Noradrenergic action of amphetamine following degeneration of

descending monoaminergic fibers in the spinal cord. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 67:25-29.

- 368. Numakawa T, Suzuki S, Kumamaru E, Adachi N, Richards M, Kunugi H (2010) BDNF function and intracellular signaling in neurons. Histology and histopathology 25:237-258.
- 369. Nygren LG, Olson L (1977) A new major projection from locus coeruleus: the main source of noradrenergic nerve terminals in the ventral and dorsal columns of the spinal cord. Brain Res. 132:85-93.
- 370. O'Hare Doig RL, Santhakumar S, Fehily B, Raja S, Solomon T, Bartlett CA, Fitzgerald M, Hodgetts SI (2020) Acute Cellular and Functional Changes With a Combinatorial Treatment of Ion Channel Inhibitors Following Spinal Cord Injury. Front Mol Neurosci 13:85.
- 371. O'Hare Doig RL, Chiha W, Giacci MK, Yates NJ, Bartlett CA, Smith NM, Hodgetts SI, Harvey AR, Fitzgerald M (2017) Specific ion channels contribute to key elements of pathology during secondary degeneration following neurotrauma. BMC Neurosci 18:62.
- 372. O'Shea TM, Burda JE, Sofroniew MV (2017) Cell biology of spinal cord injury and repair. J Clin Invest 127:3259-3270.
- 373. Obata K, Noguchi K (2006) BDNF in sensory neurons and chronic pain. Neurosci Res 55:1-10.
- 374. Ollivier-Lanvin K, Fischer I, Tom V, Houle JD, Lemay MA (2015) Either brain-derived neurotrophic factor or neurotrophin-3 only neurotrophin-producing grafts promote locomotor recovery in untrained spinalized cats. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 29:90-100.
- 375. Olmsted ZT, Stigliano C, Scimemi A, Wolfe T, Cibelli J, Horner PJ, Paluh JL (2021) Transplantable human motor networks as a neuron-directed strategy for spinal cord injury. Science 24:102827.
- 376. Olsen ML, Campbell SC, McFerrin MB, Floyd CL, Sontheimer H (2010) Spinal cord injury causes a widespread, persistent loss of Kir4.1 and glutamate transporter 1: benefit of 17 beta-oestradiol treatment. Brain 133:1013-1025.
- 377. Onifer SM, Smith GM, Fouad K (2011) Plasticity after spinal cord injury: relevance to recovery and approaches to facilitate it. Neurotherapeutics 8:283-293.
- 378. Ozawa H, Yamaguchi T, Hamaguchi S, Yamaguchi S, Ueda S (2017) Three Types of A11 Neurons Project to the Rat Spinal Cord. Neurochem Res 42:2142-2153.
- 379. Ozawa S, Kamiya H, Tsuzuki K (1998) Glutamate receptors in the mammalian central nervous system. Progress Neurobiol. 54:581-618.
- 380. Pang PT, Teng HK, Zaitsev E, Woo NT, Sakata K, Zhen S, Teng KK, Yung WH, Hempstead BL, Lu B (2004) Cleavage of proBDNF by tPA/plasmin is essential for long-term hippocampal plasticity. Science 306:487-491.
- Panter SS, Yum SW, Faden AI (1990) Alteration in extracellular amino acids after traumatic spinal cord injury. Annals of neurology 27:96-99.
- 382. Paoletti P (2011) Molecular basis of NMDA receptor functional diversity. Eur J Neurosci 33:1351-1365.
- 383. Patterson SI, Hanley MR (1987) Autoradiographic evidence for beta-adrenergic receptors on capsaicinsensitive primary afferent terminals in rat spinal cord. Neuroscience letters 78:17-21.
- 384. Perrier JF (2016) Modulation of motoneuron activity by serotonin. Danish medical journal 63.
- 385. Perrier JF, Delgado-Lezama R (2005) Synaptic release of serotonin induced by stimulation of the raphe nucleus promotes plateau potentials in spinal motoneurons of the adult turtle. J. Neurosci. 25:7993-7999.
- 386. Perrier JF, Rasmussen HB, Christensen RK, Petersen AV (2013) Modulation of the intrinsic properties of motoneurons by serotonin. Current pharmaceutical design 19:4371-4384.
- 387. Perrin FE, Noristani HN (2019) Serotonergic mechanisms in spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 318:174-191.
- 388. Petralia RS, Wang YX, Wenthold RJ (1994) Histological and ultrastructural localization of the kainate receptor subunits, KA2 and GluR6/7, in the rat nervous system using selective antipeptide antibodies. J. Com.

Neurol. 349:85-110.

- 389. Petralia RS, Wang YX, Mayat E, Wenthold RJ (1997) Glutamate receptor subunit 2-selective antibody shows a differential distribution of calcium-impermeable AMPA receptors among populations of neurons. J. Com. Neurol. 385:456-476.
- 390. Petruska JC, Ichiyama RM, Jindrich DL, Crown ED, Tansey KE, Roy RR, Edgerton VR, Mendell LM (2007) Changes in motoneuron properties and synaptic inputs related to step training after spinal cord transection in rats. J. Neurosci. 27:4460-4471.
- 391. Pham TH, Gardier AM (2019) Fast-acting antidepressant activity of ketamine: highlights on brain serotonin, glutamate, and GABA neurotransmission in preclinical studies. Pharmacol Ther 199:58-90.
- 392. Pickel VM, Segal M, Bloom FE (1974) A radioautographic study of the efferent pathways of the nucleus locus coeruleus. J. Comp. Neurol. 155:15-42.
- 393. Picton LD, Sillar KT (2016) Mechanisms underlying the endogenous dopaminergic inhibition of spinal locomotor circuit function in Xenopus tadpoles. Sci Rep 6:35749.
- 394. Płatek R, Grycz K, Więckowska A, Czarkowska-Bauch J, Skup M (2020) L1 Cell Adhesion Molecule Overexpression Down Regulates Phosphacan and Up Regulates Structural Plasticity-Related Genes Rostral and Caudal to the Complete Spinal Cord Transection. J. Neurotrauma 37:534-554.
- 395. Polgar E, Watanabe M, Hartmann B, Grant SG, Todd AJ (2008) Expression of AMPA receptor subunits at synapses in laminae I-III of the rodent spinal dorsal horn. Mol Pain 4:5.
- 396. Power KE, Carlin KP, Fedirchuk B (2012) Modulation of voltage-gated sodium channels hyperpolarizes the voltage threshold for activation in spinal motoneurones. Experimental Brain Res. 217:311-322.
- 397. Puchalski RB, Louis JC, Brose N, Traynelis SF, Egebjerg J, Kukekov V, Wenthold RJ, Rogers SW, Lin F, Moran T, et al. (1994) Selective RNA editing and subunit assembly of native glutamate receptors. Neuron 13:131-147.
- 398. Qiao Y, Brodnik ZD, Zhao S, Trueblood CT, Li Z, Tom VJ, Espana RA, Hou S (2021) Spinal Dopaminergic Mechanisms Regulating the Micturition Reflex in Male Rats with Complete Spinal Cord Injury. J. Neurotrauma 38:803-817.
- 399. Raineteau O, Schwab ME (2001) Plasticity of motor systems after incomplete spinal cord injury. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:263-273.
- 400. Ramirez-Jarquin UN, Tapia R (2018) Excitatory and Inhibitory Neuronal Circuits in the Spinal Cord and Their Role in the Control of Motor Neuron Function and Degeneration. ACS Chem Neurosci 9:211-216.
- 401. Rank MM, Li X, Bennett DJ, Gorassini MA (2007) Role of endogenous release of norepinephrine in muscle spasms after chronic spinal cord injury. J Neurophysiol 97:3166-3180.
- 402. Rank MM, Murray KC, Stephens MJ, D'Amico J, Gorassini MA, Bennett DJ (2011) Adrenergic receptors modulate motoneuron excitability, sensory synaptic transmission and muscle spasms after chronic spinal cord injury. J Neurophysiol 105:410-422.
- 403. Rauti R, Cellot G, D'Andrea P, Colliva A, Scaini D, Tongiorgi E, Ballerini L (2020) BDNF impact on synaptic dynamics: extra or intracellular long-term release differently regulates cultured hippocampal synapses. Mol Brain 13:43.
- 404. Reichardt LF (2006) Neurotrophin-regulated signalling pathways. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 361:1545-1564.
- 405. Reiner A, Levitz J (2018) Glutamatergic Signaling in the Central Nervous System: Ionotropic and Metabotropic Receptors in Concert. Neuron 98:1080-1098.
- 406. Rekling JC, Funk GD, Bayliss DA, Dong XW, Feldman JL (2000) Synaptic control of motoneuronal excitability. Physiol Rev 80:767-852.

- 407. Ren LQ, Wienecke J, Hultborn H, Zhang M (2016) Production of Dopamine by Aromatic 1-Amino Acid Decarboxylase Cells after Spinal Cord Injury. J. Neurotrauma 33:1150-1160.
- 408. Ren LQ, Wienecke J, Chen M, Møller M, Hultborn H, Zhang M (2013) The time course of serotonin 2C receptor expression after spinal transection of rats: An immunohistochemical study. Neuroscience 236:31-46.
- 409. Ren LQ, Chen M, Hultborn H, Guo S, Zhang Y, Zhang M (2017) Heterogenic Distribution of Aromatic L-Amino Acid Decarboxylase Neurons in the Rat Spinal Cord. Front Integr Neurosci 11:31.
- 410. Ribotta MG, Provencher J, Feraboli-Lohnherr D, Rossignol S, Privat A, Orsal D (2000) Activation of locomotion in adult chronic spinal rats is achieved by transplantation of embryonic raphe cells reinnervating a precise lumbar level. J. Neurosci. 20:5144-5152.
- 411. Rigby M, Heavens RP, Smith D, O'Donnell R, Hill RG, Sirinathsinghji DIS (2002) Distribution of NMDA receptors in brain and spinal cord. In: NMDA Antagonists as Potential Analgesic Drugs (Sirinathsinghji DJS, Hill RG, eds), pp 45-65. Basel: Birkhäuser Basel.
- 412. Rimmele TS, Rosenberg PA (2016) GLT-1: The elusive presynaptic glutamate transporter. Neurochem Int 98:19-28.
- 413. Rivera-Oliver M, Moreno E, Alvarez-Bagnarol Y, Ayala-Santiago C, Cruz-Reyes N, Molina-Castro GC, Clemens S, Canela EI, Ferre S, Casado V, Diaz-Rios M (2019) Adenosine A1-Dopamine D1 Receptor Heteromers Control the Excitability of the Spinal Motoneuron. Mol. Neurobiol. 56:797-811.
- 414. Rivera C, Voipio J, Thomas-Crusells J, Li H, Emri Z, Sipilä S, Payne JA, Minichiello L, Saarma M, Kaila K (2004) Mechanism of activity-dependent downregulation of the neuron-specific K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. J. Neurosci. 24:4683-4691.
- 415. Rose CR, Blum R, Kafitz KW, Kovalchuk Y, Konnerth A (2004) From modulator to mediator: rapid effects of BDNF on ion channels. Bioessays 26:1185-1194.
- 416. Rossi A, Rossi S, Ginanneschi F (2012) Activity-dependent changes in intrinsic excitability of human spinal motoneurones produced by natural activity. J Neurophysiol 108:2473-2480.
- 417. Rossignol S (1996) Neural control of stereotypic limb movements. Exercise: Regulation and integration of multiple systems.
- 418. Rossignol S, Frigon A (2011) Recovery of Locomotion After Spinal Cord Injury: Some Facts and Mechanisms. Annual review of neuroscience 34:413-440.
- 419. Rossignol S, Dubuc R, Gossard JP (2006) Dynamic sensorimotor interactions in locomotion. Physiol Rev 86:89-154.
- 420. Roudet C, Savasta M, Feuerstein C (1993) Normal distribution of alpha-1-adrenoceptors in the rat spinal cord and its modification after noradrenergic denervation: a quantitative autoradiographic study. J Neurosci Res 34:44-53.
- 421. Roudet C, Mouchet P, Feuerstein C, Savasta M (1994) Normal distribution of alpha 2-adrenoceptors in the rat spinal cord and its modification after noradrenergic denervation: a quantitative autoradiographic study. J Neurosci Res 39:319-329.
- 422. Ryczko D, Gratsch S, Schlager L, Keuyalian A, Boukhatem Z, Garcia C, Auclair F, Buschges A, Dubuc R (2017) Nigral Glutamatergic Neurons Control the Speed of Locomotion. J. Neurosci. 37:9759-9770.
- 423. Ryge J, Winther O, Wienecke J, Sandelin A, Westerdahl AC, Hultborn H, Kiehn O (2010) Transcriptional regulation of gene expression clusters in motor neurons following spinal cord injury. BMC genomics 11:365.
- 424. Sadlaoud K, Khalki L, Brocard F, Vinay L, Boulenguez P, Bras H (2020a) Alteration of glycinergic receptor expression in lumbar spinal motoneurons is involved in the mechanisms underlying spasticity after spinal cord injury. J Chem Neuroanat 106:101787.
- 425. Sadlaoud K, Khalki L, Brocard F, Vinay L, Boulenguez P, Bras H (2020b) Alteration of glycinergic receptor

expression in lumbar spinal motoneurons is involved in the mechanisms underlying spasticity after spinal cord injury. Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy 106.

- 426. Sanchez-Brualla I, Boulenguez P, Brocard C, Liabeuf S, Viallat-Lieutaud A, Navarro X, Udina E, Brocard F (2018) Activation of 5-HT2A Receptors Restores KCC2 Function and Reduces Neuropathic Pain after Spinal Cord Injury. Neuroscience 387:48-57.
- 427. Sanchez G, Rodriguez MJ, Pomata P, Rela L, Murer MG (2011) Reduction of an afterhyperpolarization current increases excitability in striatal cholinergic interneurons in rat parkinsonism. J. Neurosci. 31:6553-6564.
- 428. Sans N, Vissel B, Petralia RS, Wang YX, Chang K, Royle GA, Wang CY, O'Gorman S, Heinemann SF, Wenthold RJ (2003) Aberrant formation of glutamate receptor complexes in hippocampal neurons of mice lacking the GluR2 AMPA receptor subunit. J. Neurosci. 23:9367-9373.
- 429. Sasaki M, Radtke C, Tan AM, Zhao P, Hamada H, Houkin K, Honmou O, Kocsis JD (2009) BDNFhypersecreting human mesenchymal stem cells promote functional recovery, axonal sprouting, and protection of corticospinal neurons after spinal cord injury. J. Neurosci. 29:14932-14941.
- 430. Schmidt BJ, Jordan LM (2000) The role of serotonin in reflex modulation and locomotor rhythm production in the mammalian spinal cord. Brain Res Bull 53:689-710.
- 431. Schwarz PB, Peever JH (2011) Dopamine triggers skeletal muscle tone by activating D1-like receptors on somatic motoneurons. J Neurophysiol 106:1299-1309.
- 432. Seebach BS, Arvanov V, Mendell LM (1999) Effects of BDNF and NT-3 on development of Ia/motoneuron functional connectivity in neonatal rats. J Neurophysiol 81:2398-2405.
- 433. Seeburg PH (1996) The role of RNA editing in controlling glutamate receptor channel properties. J Neurochem 66:1-5.
- 434. Seeburg PH (2002) A-to-I editing: new and old sites, functions and speculations. Neuron 35:17-20.
- 435. Sharif-Alhoseini M, Khormali M, Rezaei M, Safdarian M, Hajighadery A, Khalatbari MM, Safdarian M, Meknatkhah S, Rezvan M, Chalangari M, Derakhshan P, Rahimi-Movaghar V (2017) Animal models of spinal cord injury: a systematic review. Spinal Cord 55:714-721.
- 436. Sharif H, Alexander H, Azam A, Martin JH (2021) Dual motor cortex and spinal cord neuromodulation improves rehabilitation efficacy and restores skilled locomotor function in a rat cervical contusion injury model. Exp. Neurol. 341:113715.
- 437. Sharples SA, Koblinger K, Humphreys JM, Whelan PJ (2014) Dopamine: a parallel pathway for the modulation of spinal locomotor networks. Front Neural Circuits 8:55.
- 438. Sharples SA, Humphreys JM, Jensen AM, Dhoopar S, Delaloye N, Clemens S, Whelan PJ (2015) Dopaminergic modulation of locomotor network activity in the neonatal mouse spinal cord. J Neurophysiol 113:2500-2510.
- 439. Sharples SA, Burma NE, Borowska-Fielding J, Kwok CHT, Eaton SEA, Baker GB, Jean-Xavier C, Zhang Y, Trang T, Whelan PJ (2020) A dynamic role for dopamine receptors in the control of mammalian spinal networks. Sci Rep 10:16429.
- 440. Shen H, Fan C, You Z, Xiao Z, Zhao Y, Dai J (2021) Advances in Biomaterial-Based Spinal Cord Injury Repair. Advanced Functional Materials 32.
- 441. Sherrington CS (1906) The integrative action of the nervous system. New Haven, CT, US: Yale University Press.
- 442. Sherrington CS (1908) On Reciprocal Innervation of Antagonistic Muscles. Eleventh Note.--Further Observations on Successive Induction. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character 80:53-71.

- 443. Shi S, Hayashi Y, Esteban JA, Malinow R (2001) Subunit-specific rules governing AMPA receptor trafficking to synapses in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. Cell 105:331-343.
- 444. Shinoda Y, Ahmed S, Ramachandran B, Bharat V, Brockelt D, Altas B, Dean C (2014) BDNF enhances spontaneous and activity-dependent neurotransmitter release at excitatory terminals but not at inhibitory terminals in hippocampal neurons. Front Synaptic Neurosci 6:27.
- 445. Shoji H, Ohashi M, Hirano T, Watanabe K, Endo N, Baba H, Kohno T (2019) Mechanisms of noradrenergic modulation of synaptic transmission and neuronal excitability in ventral horn neurons of the rat spinal cord. Neuroscience 408:161-176.
- 446. Shulga A, Thomas-Crusells J, Sigl T, Blaesse A, Mestres P, Meyer M, Yan Q, Kaila K, Saarma M, Rivera C, Giehl KM (2008) Posttraumatic GABA(A)-mediated [Ca2+]i increase is essential for the induction of brainderived neurotrophic factor-dependent survival of mature central neurons. J. Neurosci. 28:6996-7005.
- 447. Shultz RB, Zhong Y (2021) Hydrogel-based local drug delivery strategies for spinal cord repair. Neural Regen Res 16:247-253.
- 448. Sieck GC, Gransee HM, Zhan W-Z, Mantilla CB (2021) Acute intrathecal BDNF enhances functional recovery after cervical spinal cord injury in rats. J. Neurophysiol. 125:2158-2165.
- 449. Simmons EC, Scholpa NE, Schnellmann RG (2021) FDA-approved 5-HT1F receptor agonist lasmiditan induces mitochondrial biogenesis and enhances locomotor and blood-spinal cord barrier recovery after spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 341:113720.
- 450. Simpson RK, Gondo M, Robertson CS, Goodman JC (1995) The influence of glycine and related compounds on spinal cord injury-induced spasticity. Neurochemical Research 20:1203-1210.
- 451. Singhal V, Aggarwal R (2016) Spinal Shock. In: Complications in Neuroanesthesia, pp 89-94.
- 452. Skagerberg G, Lindvall O (1985) Organization of diencephalic dopamine neurones projecting to the spinal cord in the rat. Brain Res. 342:340-351.
- 453. Skup M, Gajewska-Wozniak O, Grygielewicz P, Mankovskaya T, Czarkowska-Bauch J (2012) Different effects of spinalization and locomotor training of spinal animals on cholinergic innervation of the soleus and tibialis anterior motoneurons. Eur J Neurosci 36:2679-2688.
- 454. Skup M, Dwornik A, Macias M, Sulejczak D, Wiater M, Czarkowska-Bauch J (2002) Long-term locomotor training up-regulates TrkB(FL) receptor-like proteins, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, and neurotrophin 4 with different topographies of expression in oligodendroglia and neurons in the spinal cord. Exp. Neurol. 176:289-307.
- 455. Slack SE, Thompson SW (2002) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor induces NMDA receptor 1 phosphorylation in rat spinal cord. Neuroreport 13:1967-1970.
- 456. Slack SE, Pezet S, McMahon SB, Thompson SW, Malcangio M (2004) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor induces NMDA receptor subunit one phosphorylation via ERK and PKC in the rat spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 20:1769-1778.
- 457. Slawinska U, Miazga K, Cabaj AM, Leszczynska AN, Majczynski H, Nagy JI, Jordan LM (2013) Grafting of fetal brainstem 5-HT neurons into the sublesional spinal cord of paraplegic rats restores coordinated hindlimb locomotion. Exp. Neurol. 247:572-581.
- 458. Sławińska U, Majczyński H, Djavadian R (2000) Recovery of hindlimb motor functions after spinal cord transection is enhanced by grafts of the embryonic raphe nuclei. Experimental Brain Res. 132:27-38.
- 459. Smith AC, Knikou M (2016) A Review on Locomotor Training after Spinal Cord Injury: Reorganization of Spinal Neuronal Circuits and Recovery of Motor Function. Neural Plast 2016:1216258.
- 460. Sofroniew MV (2018) Dissecting spinal cord regeneration. Nature 557:343-350.
- 461. Sommer B, Kohler M, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH (1991) RNA editing in brain controls a determinant of ion

flow in glutamate-gated channels. Cell 67:11-19.

- 462. Sqalli-Houssaini Y, Cazalets JR (2000) Noradrenergic control of locomotor networks in the in vitro spinal cord of the neonatal rat. Brain Res. 852:100-109.
- 463. Steinbusch HW (1981) Distribution of serotonin-immunoreactivity in the central nervous system of the ratcell bodies and terminals. Neuroscience 6:557-618.
- 464. Stocker M (2004) Ca(2+)-activated K+ channels: molecular determinants and function of the SK family. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:758-770.
- 465. Stone LS, Broberger C, Vulchanova L, Wilcox GL, Hökfelt T, Riedl MS, Elde R (1998) Differential distribution of alpha2A and alpha2C adrenergic receptor immunoreactivity in the rat spinal cord. J. Neurosci. 18:5928-5937.
- 466. Sugiyama K, Tanaka K (2018) Spinal cord-specific deletion of the glutamate transporter GLT1 causes motor neuron death in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 497:689-693.
- 467. Sun Y, Lim Y, Li F, Liu S, Lu JJ, Haberberger R, Zhong JH, Zhou XF (2012) ProBDNF collapses neurite outgrowth of primary neurons by activating RhoA. PLoS One 7:e35883.
- 468. Takei N, Numakawa T, Kozaki S, Sakai N, Endo Y, Takahashi M, Hatanaka H (1998) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor induces rapid and transient release of glutamate through the non-exocytotic pathway from cortical neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 273:27620-27624.
- 469. Takeoka A (2020) Proprioception: Bottom-up directive for motor recovery after spinal cord injury. Neurosci Res 154:1-8.
- 470. Takeoka A, Arber S (2019) Functional Local Proprioceptive Feedback Circuits Initiate and Maintain Locomotor Recovery after Spinal Cord Injury. Cell Rep 27:71-85 e73.
- 471. Takeoka A, Kubasak MD, Zhong H, Kaplan J, Roy RR, Phelps PE (2010) Noradrenergic innervation of the rat spinal cord caudal to a complete spinal cord transection: effects of olfactory ensheathing glia. Exp. Neurol. 222:59-69.
- 472. Talpalar AE, Kiehn O (2010) Glutamatergic mechanisms for speed control and network operation in the rodent locomotor CpG. Front Neural Circuits 4.
- 473. Tartas M, Morin F, Barriere G, Goillandeau M, Lacaille JC, Cazalets JR, Bertrand SS (2010) Noradrenergic modulation of intrinsic and synaptic properties of lumbar motoneurons in the neonatal rat spinal cord. Front Neural Circuits 4:4.
- 474. Tashiro S, Shinozaki M, Mukaino M, Renault-Mihara F, Toyama Y, Liu M, Nakamura M, Okano H (2015) BDNF Induced by Treadmill Training Contributes to the Suppression of Spasticity and Allodynia After Spinal Cord Injury via Upregulation of KCC2. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 29:677-689.
- 475. Tay TL, Ronneberger O, Ryu S, Nitschke R, Driever W (2011) Comprehensive catecholaminergic projectome analysis reveals single-neuron integration of zebrafish ascending and descending dopaminergic systems. Nat Commun 2:171.
- 476. Taylor C, Kmiec T, Thompson C (2020) Differences in Human Motoneuron Excitability Between Functionally Diverse Muscles. CommonHealth 1:12-23.
- 477. Teng HK, Teng KK, Lee R, Wright S, Tevar S, Almeida RD, Kermani P, Torkin R, Chen ZY, Lee FS, Kraemer RT, Nykjaer A, Hempstead BL (2005) ProBDNF induces neuronal apoptosis via activation of a receptor complex of p75NTR and sortilin. J. Neurosci. 25:5455-5463.
- 478. Teng YD, Bingaman M, Taveira-DaSilva AM, Pace PP, Gillis RA, Wrathall JR (2003) Serotonin 1A receptor agonists reverse respiratory abnormalities in spinal cord-injured rats. J. Neurosci. 23:4182-4189.
- 479. Tillakaratne NJ, de Leon RD, Hoang TX, Roy RR, Edgerton VR, Tobin AJ (2002) Use-dependent modulation of inhibitory capacity in the feline lumbar spinal cord. J. Neurosci. 22:3130-3143.

- 480. Tocco G, Maren S, Shors TJ, Baudry M, Thompson RF (1992) Long-term potentiation is associated with increased [3H]AMPA binding in rat hippocampus. Brain Res. 573:228-234.
- 481. Tolle TR, Berthele A, Zieglgansberger W, Seeburg PH, Wisden W (1993) The differential expression of 16 NMDA and non-NMDA receptor subunits in the rat spinal cord and in periaqueductal gray. J. Neurosci. 13:5009-5028.
- 482. Tran KA, Partyka PP, Jin Y, Bouyer J, Fischer I, Galie PA (2020) Vascularization of self-assembled peptide scaffolds for spinal cord injury repair. Acta Biomater 104:76-84.
- 483. Traynelis SF, Wollmuth LP, McBain CJ, Menniti FS, Vance KM, Ogden KK, Hansen KB, Yuan H, Myers SJ, Dingledine R (2010) Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. Pharmacol. Rev. 62:405-496.
- 484. Tremblay LE, Bedard PJ (1986) Effect of clonidine on motoneuron excitability in spinalized rats. Neuropharmacology 25:41-46.
- 485. Twomey EC, Yelshanskaya MV, Vassilevski AA, Sobolevsky AI (2018) Mechanisms of Channel Block in Calcium-Permeable AMPA Receptors. Neuron 99:956-968.e954.
- 486. Tyler WJ, Pozzo-Miller LD (2001) BDNF enhances quantal neurotransmitter release and increases the number of docked vesicles at the active zones of hippocampal excitatory synapses. J. Neurosci. 21:4249-4258.
- 487. Tyler WJ, Perrett SP, Pozzo-Miller LD (2002) The role of neurotrophins in neurotransmitter release. Neuroscientist 8:524-531.
- 488. Tyler WJ, Zhang XL, Hartman K, Winterer J, Muller W, Stanton PK, Pozzo-Miller L (2006) BDNF increases release probability and the size of a rapidly recycling vesicle pool within rat hippocampal excitatory synapses. J Physiol 574:787-803.
- 489. Van Damme P, Leyssen M, Callewaert G, Robberecht W, Van Den Bosch L (2003) The AMPA receptor antagonist NBQX prolongs survival in a transgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neuroscience letters 343:81-84.
- 490. Vandenberghe W, Robberecht W, Brorson JR (2000) AMPA receptor calcium permeability, GluR2 expression, and selective motoneuron vulnerability. J. Neurosci. 20:123-132.
- 491. Vavrek R (2006) BDNF promotes connections of corticospinal neurons onto spared descending interneurons in spinal cord injured rats. Brain 129:1534-1545.
- 492. Vera-Portocarrero LP, Mills CD, Ye Z, Fullwood SD, McAdoo DJ, Hulsebosch CE, Westlund KN (2002) Rapid changes in expression of glutamate transporters after spinal cord injury. Brain Res. 927:104-110.
- 493. Vidnyánszky Z, Hámori J, Négyessy L, Rüegg D, Knöpfel T, Kuhn R, Görcs TJ (1994) Cellular and subcellular localization of the mGluR5a metabotropic glutamate receptor in rat spinal cord. Neuroreport 6:209-213.
- 494. Vikman KS, Rycroft BK, Christie MJ (2008) Switch to Ca2+-permeable AMPA and reduced NR2B NMDA receptor-mediated neurotransmission at dorsal horn nociceptive synapses during inflammatory pain in the rat. J. Physiol. 586:515-527.
- 495. Vilchis-Villa J, Villamar D, Zapien J, Espinoza L, García J, R S-G (2019) Current Developments in Antioxidant Therapies for Spinal Cord Injury.
- 496. Virgo L, Dekkers J, Mentis GZ, Navarrete R, de Belleroche J (2000) Changes in expression of NMDA receptor subunits in the rat lumbar spinal cord following neonatal nerve injury. Neuropathology and applied neurobiology 26:258-272.
- 497. Wang H, Liu NK, Zhang YP, Deng L, Lu QB, Shields CB, Walker MJ, Li J, Xu XM (2015) Treadmill training induced lumbar motoneuron dendritic plasticity and behavior recovery in adult rats after a thoracic contusive

spinal cord injury. Exp. Neurol. 271:368-378.

- 498. Wang S, Zhang LC, Fu HT, Deng JH, Xu GX, Li T, Ji XR, Tang PF (2021) Epidural electrical stimulation effectively restores locomotion function in rats with complete spinal cord injury. Neural Regen Res 16:573-579.
- 499. Waters RL, Adkins RH, Yakura JS (1991) Definition of complete spinal cord injury. Paraplegia 29:573-581.
- 500. Wenger N et al. (2016) Spatiotemporal neuromodulation therapies engaging muscle synergies improve motor control after spinal cord injury. Nature Med. 22:138-145.
- 501. Wenjin W, Wenchao L, Hao Z, Feng L, Yan W, Wodong S, Xianqun F, Wenlong D (2011) Electrical stimulation promotes BDNF expression in spinal cord neurons through Ca(2+)- and Erk-dependent signaling pathways. Cell Mol Neurobiol 31:459-467.
- 502. Wenthold RJ, Petralia RS, Blahos J, II, Niedzielski AS (1996) Evidence for multiple AMPA receptor complexes in hippocampal CA1/CA2 neurons. J. Neurosci. 16:1982-1989.
- 503. Westlund KN, Bowker RM, Ziegler MG, Coulter JD (1982) Descending noradrenergic projections and their spinal terminations. Progress Brain Res. 57:219-238.
- 504. Westlund KN, Bowker RM, Ziegler MG, Coulter JD (1983) Noradrenergic projections to the spinal cord of the rat. Brain Res. 263:15-31.
- 505. Wieckowska A, Gajewska-Wozniak O, Glowacka A, Ji B, Grycz K, Czarkowska-Bauch J, Skup M (2018) Spinalization and locomotor training differentially affect muscarinic acetylcholine receptor type 2 abutting on alpha-motoneurons innervating the ankle extensor and flexor muscles. J Neurochem 147:361-379.
- 506. Wienecke J, Westerdahl AC, Hultborn H, Kiehn O, Ryge J (2010) Global gene expression analysis of rodent motor neurons following spinal cord injury associates molecular mechanisms with development of postinjury spasticity. J Neurophysiol 103:761-778.
- 507. Wienecke J, Ren LQ, Hultborn H, Chen M, Moller M, Zhang Y, Zhang M (2014) Spinal cord injury enables aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase cells to synthesize monoamines. J. Neurosci. 34:11984-12000.
- 508. Wikström M, Hill R, Hellgren J, Grillner S (1995) The action of 5-HT on calcium-dependent potassium channels and on the spinal locomotor network in lamprey is mediated by 5-HT1A-like receptors. Brain Res. 678:191-199.
- 509. Witts EC, Zagoraiou L, Miles GB (2014) Anatomy and function of cholinergic C bouton inputs to motor neurons. J Anat 224:52-60.
- 510. Wright A, Vissel B (2012) The essential role of AMPA receptor GluR2 subunit RNA editing in the normal and diseased brain. Front Mol Neurosci 5:34.
- 511. Wyllie DJ, Livesey MR, Hardingham GE (2013) Influence of GluN2 subunit identity on NMDA receptor function. Neuropharmacology 74:4-17.
- 512. Xu C, Chang Y, Wu P, Liu K, Dong X, Nie A, Mu C, Liu Z, Dai H, Luo Z (2021) Two-Dimensional-Germanium Phosphide-Reinforced Conductive and Biodegradable Hydrogel Scaffolds Enhance Spinal Cord Injury Repair. Advanced Functional Materials 31.
- 513. Xu F, Plummer MR, Len G-W, Nakazawa T, Yamamoto T, Black IB, Wu K (2006) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor rapidly increases NMDA receptor channel activity through Fyn-mediated phosphorylation. Brain Res. 1121:22-34.
- 514. Yan Q, Elliott J, Snider WD (1992) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor rescues spinal motor neurons from axotomy-induced cell death. Nature 360:753-755.
- 515. Yashiro K, Philpot BD (2008) Regulation of NMDA receptor subunit expression and its implications for LTD, LTP, and metaplasticity. Neuropharmacology 55:1081-1094.
- 516. Yokota K, Kubota K, Kobayakawa K, Saito T, Hara M, Kijima K, Maeda T, Katoh H, Ohkawa Y, Nakashima

Y, Okada S (2019) Pathological changes of distal motor neurons after complete spinal cord injury. Mol Brain 12:4.

- 517. Yoshimura M, Furue H (2006) Mechanisms for the anti-nociceptive actions of the descending noradrenergic and serotonergic systems in the spinal cord. J Pharmacol Sci 101:107-117.
- 518. Young WS, 3rd, Kuhar MJ (1980) Noradrenergic alpha 1 and alpha 2 receptors: light microscopic autoradiographic localization. PNAS 77:1696-1700.
- 519. Yu W, Sohn J-W, Kwon J, Lee S-H, Kim S, Ho W-K (2018) Enhancement of dendritic persistent Na+ currents by mGluR5 leads to an advancement of spike timing with an increase in temporal precision. Mol. Brain 11.
- 520. Zagoraiou L, Akay T, Martin JF, Brownstone RM, Jessell TM, Miles GB (2009) A cluster of cholinergic premotor interneurons modulates mouse locomotor activity. Neuron 64:645-662.
- 521. Zanin JP, Unsain N, Anastasia A (2017) Growth factors and hormones pro-peptides: the unexpected adventures of the BDNF prodomain. J Neurochem 141:330-340.
- 522. Zhang L, Wang G, Ma J, Liu C, Liu X, Zhan Y, Zhang M (2016a) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in the rostral anterior cingulate cortex (rACC) contributes to neuropathic spontaneous pain-related aversion via NR2B receptors. Brain Res Bull 127:56-65.
- 523. Zhang M (2016) Normal Distribution and Plasticity of Serotonin Receptors after Spinal Cord Injury and Their Impacts on Motor Outputs. In: Recovery of Motor Function Following Spinal Cord Injury.
- 524. Zhang Y, Li P, Feng J, Wu M (2016b) Dysfunction of NMDA receptors in Alzheimer's disease. Neurol Sci 37:1039-1047.
- 525. Zhao H, Zhu W, Pan T, Xie W, Zhang A, Ondo WG, Le W (2007) Spinal cord dopamine receptor expression and function in mice with 6-OHDA lesion of the A11 nucleus and dietary iron deprivation. J Neurosci Res 85:1065-1076.
- 526. Zhao S, DeFinis JH, Hou S (2021) Alterations of Dopamine-Related Transcripts in A11 Diencephalospinal Pathways after Spinal Cord Injury. Neural Plast 2021:8838932.
- 527. Zhou W, Xie Z, Li C, Xing Z, Xie S, Li M, Yao J (2021) Driving effect of BDNF in the spinal dorsal horn on neuropathic pain. Neuroscience letters 756.
- 528. Zhu H, Clemens S, Sawchuk M, Hochman S (2007) Expression and distribution of all dopamine receptor subtypes (D(1)-D(5)) in the mouse lumbar spinal cord: a real-time polymerase chain reaction and non-autoradiographic in situ hybridization study. Neuroscience 149:885-897.
- 529. Zhuo M (2017) Ionotropic glutamate receptors contribute to pain transmission and chronic pain. Neuropharmacology 112:228-234.
- 530. Ziemlinska E, Kugler S, Schachner M, Wewior I, Czarkowska-Bauch J, Skup M (2014) Overexpression of BDNF increases excitability of the lumbar spinal network and leads to robust early locomotor recovery in completely spinalized rats. PLoS One 9:e88833.